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The Oregon- Treaty. Treaty Establishing the Boundary in the Territory

on the Northwest Coast of America Lying Westward of the Rocky
Mountains, signed at ashmgton June 15, 1846. Original in
English.
Draft treaty proposed by the Government of Great Britain June. 6,
1846, submitted to the Senate June 10, 1846, Resolution of advice
June 12, 1846. Treaty submitted to the Senate June 16, 1846.
Resolunon of advice and consent June 18 -18486. Ratzﬁed' by the
United States June 19, 1846. Ratified by Great Britain July 14,
1846. Ratifications ezchanged at Londonng/Ll 17, 1846. Proclaimed
August b, 1846.

The United States of America and Her Ma]esty the Queen of the
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, deeming it to be desir-
able for the future welfare of both countries that the state of doubt
and uncertainty which has hitherto prevailed respecting the sover-
eignty and government of the Territory on the northwest coast of

" America lying westward of the Rocky or Stony Mountains, should be
finally terminated by an amicable compromise of the rights mutually
asserted by the two Parties over the said Territory, have respectively
named Plempotentiaries to treat and agree concerning the terms of
such settlement, that is to say: the President of the United States of
America, has, on his part, furnished with Full Powers, James

- Buchanan, Secretary of State of the United States, and Her Majesty

the Queen of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, has,

on her part, appointed the Right Honorable Richard Pakenham a

Member of Her Majesty’s most honorable Privy Council, and Her

Majesty’s Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary to the

United States; who, after having communicated to each other their

respective full Powers, found in good and due form, have agreed upon
and concluded the following articles:

Articre 1.

Fromn the point on the forty-ninth parallel of north latitude where
the boundary laid down in existirig treaties and conventions! between

" 1 See Documents 40 and 56.
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the United States and Great Britain terminates, the line of boundary
between the territories of the United States and those of Her Bri-
tannic Majesty shall be continued westward along the said forty-
ninth parallel of north latitude to the middle of the channel which
separates the continent from Vancouver’s Island ; and thence southerly
through the middle of the said channel, and of Fuca’s Straits to the
Pacific Ocean; provided, however, that the navigation of the whole
of the said channel and Straits south of the forty ninth parallel of
north latitude reinain free and open to both Parties.

Articie II.

From the point at which the forty-ninth parallel of north latitude
shall be found to intersect the great northern branch of the Columbia
River, the navigation of the said branch shall be free and open to the
Hudson’s Bay Company and to all British subjects trading with the
same, to the point where the said branch meets the main stream of
the Columbia, and thence down the said main stream to the Ocean,
with free access into and through the said River or Rivers, it being
understood that all the usual portages along the line thus described
shall in like manner be free and open. In navigating the said River
or Rivers, British' subjects with their goods and produce, shall be
treated on the same footmg as citizens of the United States; it being
however always understood that nothing in this article shall be con-
strued as preventing, or intended to prevent, the Government of the
United States from1 making any regulations respecting the navigation
of the said river or rivers, not inconsistent with the present treaty.

ArTicue III.

In the future appropriation of the territory, south of the forty-
ninth parallel of north latitude, as provided in the first article of this
Treaty, the possessory rights of the Hudson’s. Bay Company and of all
British subjects who may be already in the occupation of land or
other property, lawfully acquired within the said Territory, shall be
respected. . '

ArTicLE IV.

The farms, lands, and other property of every description belonging
to the Puget’s Sound Agricultural Coinpany on the north side of the
Coluinbia River, shall bp confirmed to the said Company. In case
however the situation of those farms and lands should be considered
by the United States to be of public and political importance, and the
United States’ Government should signify a desire to obtain possession
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of the whole, or of any part thereof, the property so required shall be
transferred to the said Government, at a proper valuation, to be
agreed upon between the Parties. : : ’

ArTICLE V.

The present Treaty shall be ratified by the President of the United
States, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate thereof,
and by Her Britannic Majesty; and the ratifications shall be exchanged
at London, at the expiration of six months from the date hereof, or
sooner if possible. '

In witness whereof, the respective Plenipotentiaries have signed the
same, and have affixed thereto the seals of their arms.

Done at Washington the fifteenth day of June, in the year of our
Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty-six. '

[Seal] James BucHANAN
[Seal] RicEARD PAKENHAM.

NOTES

The papers in the treaty file include .the signed original of the
treaty, two attested resolutions of the Senate, of June 12 and 18,
1846, respectively (Executive Journal, VII, 89, 95), the duplicate
United States instrument of ratification of June 19, the British
instrument of ratification of July 14, the certificate of the exchange
of ratifications at London on.July 17, and the original proclamation
of August 5, 1846. The various papers are in customary form; and
froin the text of the treaty included in the British instrument of
ratification it appears that the alternat was duly observed.

Tre FoLL Powers

In the preamble of the treaty there is the usual statement of the
communication of the full gowers ; but there is a difference in the
references to the respective Plenipotentiaries, as it is said that James
Buchanan, Secretary of State, had -been ‘furnished with Full
Powers’’, and that the Right Honorable Richard Pakenham had
been “appointed ”.

In this case the original full powers were not exchanged, for that
given to James Buchanan is in the treaty file. It is in customary
form, reading as follows (recorded in D.S., 3 Credences, 176):

James K. Polk, President of the United States of Americs,
To all whom these presents shall concern, Greeting:

Know Ye, That I have given and granted, and do hereby give and grant, to
James Buchanan, Secretary of State of the United States, full power and author-
ig;l, and also general and s&ecia.l command, to meet and confer with Her Britannic

ajesty’s Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary, he being furnished
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with like full power on the part of his Government; and with him to treat of and
concernir&g the boundary line between the United Btates and the British posses-
sions in North America, from its western termination in the Rocky Mountains to
the Pacific Ocean, and of all matters and subjects connected therewith, which
may be interesting to the two Nations; and to conclude and sign a treaty or
treaties, convention or conventions, touching the premises, for the final ratifica-
tion of the President of the United étates, by and with the advice and consent of
the Senate thereof. '
"In testimony whereof, I bave caused the seal of the United States to
be hereunto affixed. Given under niy hand, at the City of Wa.shington,
[Seal]l this 13** day of June, A.D. 1846, and of the Independence of the
United States the seventieth. : :

By the President:
James BucranAN
: Secretary of State.

James K. Porx

No copy of the full power of the British Plenipgtentiary (the Right
Honorable Richard Pakenham) is available; but instruction No. 6 to
Pakenham from Lord Aberdeen, British Secretary of State for For-
eign Affairs, thus gives its substance (Library of Congress, Pakenham
Papers, facsimiles from the Public Record Office, London, For-
eign Office Records, vol. 115:85; hereinafter cited as ‘“Pakenham-

"Papers”’): :
' FoRrE1GN. OFricE February 27. 1844

Sig, I transmit to you herewith, a Full Power which The Queen, has been
graciously pleased to grant to you under the Great Seal, authorizing and empower-
ing you to negotiate and conclude, with the Minister or Ministers duly vested
with similar Power and Authority on the part of The President of the United
States of America, any Treaty or Agreement for the arrangement of matters
which are now in discussion, or which may hereafter come into discussion, be-
tween Her Majesty and the United States.

I ani, with great Truth and Regard, Sir, your most obedient humble servant

. ABERDEEN
The Right Honourable RicHARD PARKENHAM
&e &c &c

TaE SENATE PROCEDURE

In the case of this treaty President Polk adopted the unusual course
of asking the advice of the Senate prior to the signature of the agree-
ment. On June 10, 1846, he sent to the Senate the following message
(Executive Journal, VII, 84-85): '

I lay before the Senate a proposal in the forni of a convention, presented to the
Secretary of State on the sixth instant, by the envoy extraordinary and miinister
plenipotentiary of Her Britannic Majesty, for the adf'ustment of the Oregon
question, together with a protocol of this proceeding. submit this proposal to
the consideration of the Senate and request their advice as to the action which in
their judgment it may be proper to take in reference to it. .

In the early periods of the Government the opinion and advice of the Senate
were often taken in advance upon important questions of our foreign policy.
General Washington repeatedly consulted the Senate and asked their previous
advice upon pending negotiations with foreign powers; and the Senate in every
instance responded to his call by giving their advice, to which he always conformed
his action. This practice, though rarely resorted to in later times, was in my
judgment enlinently wise, and may on occasions of great importance be properly
revived. The Senate are a branch of the treaty-making power, and by consulting
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. them in advance of his own action, upon important measures of forei%olicy

which may ultimately come béfore them for their consideration, the ident
secures harmony of action between that body and himself. The Senate are, more-
over, a branch of the war-making power, and it may be eminently proper for the

Executive to take the opinion and advice of that body in advance, upon any great

question which may involve in its decision the issue of peace or war. n the
present occasion the magnitude of the subject would induce me under any circum-

. stances to desire the previous advice of the Senate, and that desire is increased by
the recent debates and proceedings in Congress, which render it, in my judgment,
not only respectful to the Senate, but necessary and proper, if not indispensable
to insure harmonious a¢tion between that body and the Executive. In confer-
ring on the Executive the authority to give notice for the abrogation of the con-
vention of 1827, the Senate acted publicly so large a part that a decision on the
proposal now made by the British Government, without a definite knowledge of
the views of that body. in reference to it, might render the question still more
complicated and difficult of adjustment. For these reasons I invite the considera- .
tion of the Senate to the proposal of the British Government for the settlement of
the Oregon question, and ask their advice on the subject. ) :

My opinions and my action on the Oregon question were fully made known to

" Congress in my annual message of the second of December last, and the opinions
therein expressed remain unchanged. - ) ]

Should the Senate, by the constitutional majority required for the ratification
of treaties, advise the acceptance of this proposition or advise it with such modi-
fications as they 1nay upon full deliberation deem proper, I'shall conform my action
to their advice. Should thie Senate, however, decline by such constitutional ma-
-jority to give such advice, or to express an opinion on the subject, I shall consider
it my duty to reject the offer. ] : .

I also communicate herewith an extract from a dispatch of the Secretary of .
State to the minister of the United States at London, under date of the 28th of

April last, directing him, in accordance with the joint resolution of Congress

“‘concerning the Oregon 'i‘en‘itory,” to deliver the notice to the British Govern-

ment for the abrogation of the convention of the 6th of August, 1827, and also a

copy of the notice transmitted to him for that purpose, together with extracts
from a dispatch of that minister to the Secretary of State, bearing date on the
18th day of May last. :

The papers accompanying the message were the British proposal
(in the form of & draft treaty) presented by the British Minister on
June 6, with a protocol (quoted %elow) of the conference of thet date;
extracts from, and the enclosure to, the instruction to Louis McLane,
Minister at London, of April 28, 1846, _re%rding the form of abroga-
tion of the convention of ll\lf'ust 6, 1827 (Document 56); and most of
a despatch of McLane of May 18, 1846 (Senate Confidential Docu-
ment No. 8, 29th’ Congress, 1st session, Regular Confidential Docu-
ments, XX, 379-89; reprinted as part of Senate Document No. 489,
29th Congress, 1st session, serial 478).

Upon receipt of the presidential message'of June 10, the Senate at
once refused either to refer it to the Committee on Foreign Relations,
or to print the papers transmitted, or to postpone consideration for
five days (Executive Journal, VII, 85-86); and on Friday, June.12,
1846, after a proposal to fix & limited term for the right of navigation
of the Columbia River (Article 2) had been negatived, the Senste
adopted the following resolution by a vote of 38 yeas to 12 nays
(ibid., 89; collated with the attested resolution in the file):

] Resolved, (tvéo thirds of the Senators present concurring) That the President of -
the United States be and he is-hereby advised to accept the proposal of the British
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Government accompanying his message to the Senate dated 10t* June, 1848, fora
Convention to settle boundaries &e, between the United States and Great Britain -
west of the Rocky or Stony Mountains.

The full power to Buchanan was issued on June 13; on the following
Monday, June 15, the treaty was signed in the form proposed; the
following statement is from the' entry for that day in the Diary of
James K. Polk, I, 470-71 (hereinafter cited as ‘‘Polk’s Diary"*):

About 3% P.M. to-day the Secretary of State and the Brittish Minister con-
cluded & signed a convention for the settlement of the Oregon question, being
the same submitted by the latter on the 6th Instant, by me submitted to the
Senate for their advice on the 10th, and by that body advised on the 12th Instant.
Mr. Buchanan brought the convention to me, and my Private Secretary started
with it, accompanied with a message from me, to the Senate, but before he reached -
the Capitol the Senate had adjourned for the day.

The treaty was sent to the Senate on June 16 without Any further
%rcIcIompanying papers, with the following message (Executive Journal,
, 90):

In accordance with the resolution of the Senate of the 12th instant, that ‘‘the
President of the United States be, and he is hereby, advised to accept the proposal
of the British Government, accompanying his message to the Senate dated 10th
June, 1846, for a convention to settle boundaries, &c., between the United States
and Great Britain west of the Rocky or Stony Mountains,” a convention was
concluded and signed on the 15th instant by the Secretary of State, on the part
of the United States, and the envoy extraordinary and minister plenipotentiary of
Her Britannic Majesty, on the part of Great Britain.

This convention I now lay before the Senate for their consideration, with a view
to its ratification. .

Again the Senate refused reference to committee; the papers
reviously transmitted were ordered printed; resolutions asking for
urther papers were adopted on June 17 and 18; on the latter day an

amendment to the pending resolution, proposing as a ‘‘ compromise”’
the line of 54°40/ north latitude, receivedp only five votes; the resolution
of advice and consent to the ratification of the treaty was adopted
by a vote of 41 yeas to 14 nays (1bid., 90-95; this was a full Senate
except for Spencer Jarnagin, of Tennessee, who voted among the
minority on June 12;see Polk’s Diary, I, 479).
Thus the papers before the Senate during its proceedings on the
" treaty were nerely those transmitted with the message of June 10,
1846. Not until July 21 were papers transmitted in response to the
requests of June 17 and 18; these included all the relevant instruc-
tions to Louis McLane, Minister at London, but noné of his des-
patches, except extracts from two of them (Executive Journal, VII,
123); the Secretary of State reported at some length and decidedly
against the publication of all the despatches of McLane (Senate
Document No. 489, 29th Congress, 1st session, serial 478, pp. 25-26);
with that report Polk concurred; in the first of the two residential
messages of July 21 it was said that the publication of those des-
patches “would be highly prejudicial to the public interest”’; but it
was added that the President was ‘“‘not only willing but anxious that
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every Senator who may desire it shall have an opportunity of perusin
these dispatches at the Department of State” (Executive Journal,
VII, 123). .

The papers communicated to the Senate on July 21, 1846, were
at once ordered printed in confidence; but the injunction of secrecy
was later (August 6 and 7) removed from the proceedings and the
correspondence transmitted, which were then (August 8) ordered
printed as a public document (ibid., 124, 137, 142, 148). That print
1s Senate Document No. 489, 29th Congress, 1st session, serial 478.

The two votes in the Senate (June 12 and 18, 1846) were to the
same effect, for the proposal of the British Government was as nearl
like the signed treaty as an unsigned draft could well be; the draft
treaty naturally differed, in the preamble and elsewhere, in accord-
ance with the principle of the alternat; but otherwise, with blanks for
the names and styf;s of the plenipotentiaries, for the number of
months to be allowed for the exchange of ratifications, and for the
date, the proposal was identically ! the same in wording as the treaty.

The brevity of the Senate proceedings (June 10-12 and 16-18) is
to be attributed to the elaborate debates on the Oregon question
which had previously been had in that body (as well as in the House
of Representatives) during the same session of Congress; in his mes-
sage of June 10 Polk alluded to those ‘“‘recent debates and proceed-
ings in Congress’’; the chief occasion thereof was the resolution of
authorization to abrogate the convention of August 6, 1827 (Docu-
ment 56); to those congressional groceedings reference is made below.

The treaty was cominunicated to Congress with the presidential
message of August 5, 1846 (Richardson, I%, 457-58), the date of its
proclamation. :

In the strictest sense the instrunient signed on June 15, 1846, is a
treaty; and it is so styled in Articles 2, 8, and 5 of the text, in the
Senate resolution of June 18, and in each instrument of ratification;
but the protocol of June 6 referred to a ‘‘convention” (the draft with
‘that protocol is headed “Draft of Convention’”), which is the term
used 1n the presidential messages to the Senate of June 10 and June
16, in the resolution of the Senate of June 12, and in the presidential
message to Congress of August 5, 1846.

TuE ParERs PriNTED

The relevant papers published at Washington in 1845-46 were (a)
those with the annual message to Congress of Decemnber 2, 1845,
which are in Senate Document No. 1, 29th Congress, 1st session,
serial 470, pages 138—42; they comprise notes and protocols written
at Washington, two in 1842 and the remainder fromm February 24,
1844, to August 30, 1845; (b) those sent to the Senate and the House
of Representatives with the messages of February 7, 1846, which are

1 In the preamble *Territory on’’ was ‘‘ Territory of "’ in the draft as submitted
to the Senate; but in the draft as sent to Pakenham from London the word was
“ori” (P;xkenham Papers, F.O. 115: 91, instruction No. 19, May 18, 1846,
enclosure). .
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in Senate Document No. 117, 29th Congress, 1st session; serial 473
(the same ‘papers are in House Document No. 105 of that session,
_serial 483); these comprise the notes written at Washington from'
December 27, 1845, . to February 4, 1846, and extracts from one
instruction to and one despatch from London, of December 13, 1845,
and January 3, 1846, respectively; (¢) those sent to the Senate from
June 10 to July 21, 1846, which are in Senate Document No. 489,
29th Congress, 1st- session, serial 478; these include twelve instruc--
tions from Buchanan to McLane (one in part) from July 12, 1845, to
June 22, 1846, and extracts from three of McLane’s despatches, as
well as one formal note of Lord Aberdeen; only two of the papers
mentioned (the instruction of April 28, 1846, and the despatch of
.May 18, 1846, each in part) were before the Senate during the con-
sideration of the Oregon Treaty.

Some of the diplomatic exchanges and other material of impor-
tance are printed in' Foreign Relations, 1872, part 2, Papers Relat-
ing to the Treaty of Washington, V (treaty of May 8, 1871; that
“volume is here usually cited as *Washington Papers, V).

. With two exceptions (two short and unimportant British notes, of

August 22, 1844, and January 6, 1846, respectively), the communi-
cations between the two Governinents for the period from Novem-
ber 15, 1842, up to but not including June 6, 1846, are printed in
British and Foreign State Papers, XXXIV, 49-145. That volume
contains also (mostly in part only) various instructions of the Earl
of Aberdeen, British Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, and
despatches from the Right Honorable Richard Pakenham, British
Minister at Washington, and his predecessor, Henry Stephen Fox.

In the Library of Congress are facsimiles from the Public Record
Office, London, of numerous instructions of Aberdeen to Pakenham,
and despatches of the latter from the beginning of his mission; these
are here cited as ‘“Pakenham Papers”. '

All the mstructions of Buchanan to McLane on Oregon (except a
ghott and unimportant mstruction of September 13, 1845), with other
papers, including some of the diplomatic correspondence, are printed
1 Moore, Works of James Buchanan, VI and VII. ,

Tee OrREGoN QUESTION

The first agreement between the United States and Great Britain-
dealing directly with the Oregon country was the convention of Octo-
- ber 20, 1818 (Document 40), Article 3- whereof reads as follows: '

It is agreed, that any Country that may be claimed by either Party on the
North West Coast of America, Westward of the Stony Mountains, shall, together
with it’s Harbours, Bays, and Creeks, and the Navigation of all Rivers within"
the same, be free and open, for the term of ten Years ! from the date of the Sig-
nature of the present Convention, to the Vessels, Citizens, and Subjects of the
Two Powers: it being well understood, that this Agreement is not to be con-
gstrued-to the Préjudice of any Claim, which either of the Two High Contracting

" 1 Extended indefinitely by the convention of August 6, 1827 (Document 56),
which was subject to abrogation on twelve months’ notice by either party.
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Parties may have to any part of the said Country, nor shall it be taken to affect
the Claims of any other Power or State to any part of the said Country; the
only Object of The High Contracting Parties, in that respect, being to prevent
disputes and differences amongst Themselves. .

By Article 2 of the same convention the northern boundary of the

United States had been drawn from the northwesternmost point of
the Lake of the Woods to the 49th parallel of north latitude, and
thence due west along said parallel to the Rocky Mountains, mean-
ing, as was afterwards assuined, to the summit of the Rocky Moun-
tains. . . -
" In 1818 there were both Russian and Spanish claims in the Oregon
country; but the treaty with Spain of February 22, 1819 (Document
41), gave to the United States all the rights of Spain north of the
42d parallel; and the claims of Russia south of 54°40’ north latitude
were relinquished by the conventions made, respectively, with the
United States on April 17, 1824 (Document 46), and with Great
Britain on February 28, 1825 (French text and English translation
in British and Foreign State Papers, XTI, 38—43).

The Oregon country, the sovereignty over which was left to be
discussed between the United States and Great Britaln, was thus
the region from the Pacific eastward to the Rocky Mountains between
latitudes 42° and 54°40’ north, comprising an area of some 500,000
square miles, which now includes the States of Washington, Oregon,
and Idaho, portions of Montana and Wyoming (about 286,500
square miles of United States territory), and a large part of British
Columbis.! : ' ,

On various occasions, as, for example, in the London protocols of
December 16 and 19, 1826 (American State Papers, Foreign Rela-
tions, VI, 661-71), grounds of the respective claims of the two Gov-
ernments were sel, forth at length ; and the arguments were elaborated
in the later exchanges (most of them cited below) to a degree which
wellnigh precludes summary. The facts as to early discoveries, ex-
plorations, and otherwise were in dispute and were, indeed, imper-

1 A map entitled “The Oregon Country’’ faces p. 12; in order that the diversity
of geographic character of the country traversed by the 49th-parallel boundary
west of the summit of the Rocky Mountains may be appreciated, as it cannot
be on a “flat map’’, the historical data are there shown upon a physiographic
diagram which has been prepared and drawn by Mrs. Sophia A. Saucerman,
Assistant Geographer of .the Department of State. The representation of
physiographic features in the United States and a small portion of southern
Canada is based (with the author’s permission) upon Dr. A. K. Lobeck’s Physio-
graphic Diagram of the United States, scale 1:3,000,000. The representation
of physiographic features in Canada is much more generalized, the attempt
being made to indicate chiefly the physiographic regions or provinces. The
Canadian portion is based principally upon the following publications: (1)
Guidebooks Nos. 8, 9, and 10 (covering excursions in western Canada), issued
by the Canadian éeological Survey, Ottawa, 1913; (2) The Physical Map of
C}:’mada, scale 1: 8,801,000, issued in 1928 by the Canadian Department of .the
Interior; and (3) a map entitled “British Columbia”, scale 1:1,000,000, pub-
lished in 1933 by the Department of Lands of British Columbia. Acknowledg-
ment is also made of information and a sketch map furnished by Professor
Edwin T. Hodge, of the University of Oregon. :
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fectly known; and there were divergent conclusions even from such
facts as were unquestioned. :

It may perhaps be said that the chief bases of the United States
claim to the Oregon country were (a) the supposed possibility that
the Louisiana cession of 1803 included territory west of the Rocky
Mountains; (b) the Spanish title to the Oregon country, which passed’
to the United States under the treaty with Spain of February 22,
1819 (Document 41); (c) the discovery and exploration of the Colum-
bia River in 1792 by Captain Robert Gray; (d) the explorations of
the Lewis and Clark expedition of 1804-6; (¢) the fur-trading settle-
‘ment established at Astoria in 1811 by John Jacob Astor, coupled
with the restoration thereof by the British Government after the
War of 1812, pursuant to the Treaty of Ghent (Docuinent 33); and
(f) the principles of continuity and contiguity, particularly in respect
of the region south of the 49th parallel.

At no time did the British Government claim exclusive sovereignty
over the whole Oregon country; its contention was that both Great
Britain and the United States had rights there fromn which might
follow division of the territory between the two powers. The British
argument was grounded on (a) the Nootka controversy and the
Nootka Sound Convention between Great Britain and Spain of
October 28, 1790, which was considered as being in full force (though
deemed by this Government to have been terminated by the war
between Great Britain and Spain begu.n in 1796); (b) the explorations
of Captain James Cook in 1778, during his third voya}gle; (¢) the
explorations of Captain George Vancouver in 1792; (d) the explora- -
tions of Alexander Mackenzie (later Sir Alexander Mackenzie) in
1792-93; and (e) settlement, begun with the trading post established
in 1806 by the North-West Comnpany on Fraser Lake, situated in 54°
north latitude and thought to have been ‘‘the first settlement made
b, civi%ized men west of the Rocky Mountains’ (Washington Papers,

) 241). .

The controversial literature of the Oregon question in its latest
years extended beyond governmental communications or publica-
tions; there were painphlets and books written on each side of the
"Atlantic; the most complete presentation of the American case was in
the work of Robert Greenhow (‘“Translator and Librarian to the
Department of State”), entitled ‘‘The History of Oregon and Cak-
fornia”’, which appeareci in 1845; by the act of February 20, 1845 (5
Statutes at Large, 722-23), 1,500 copies thereof were directed to be
purchased and distributed by the Department of State. Buchanan
wrote on June 24, 1848, that ‘it was from this history that my
information as to the facts in support of our claim was principally
derived” (D.S., 36 Domestic Letters, 447—48; Moore, Works of
James Buchanan, VIII, 106; Greenhow’s 1840 Memoir on the North-
west Coast of North America was printed as Senate Document No.
174, 26th Congress, 1st session, ser1al 357). ,

Of the Enghsh works of the time, the most authoritative was The
Oregon Question Examined, by Sir Travers ‘Twiss; on March 3, 1846,
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two copies of this work were sent from London to Pakenham with a
suggestion for republication in America (Pakenham Papers, F.O.
115:91. :

Recent researches have made available inuch that was unknown to
the writers of ninety years ago regarding the Spamsh explorations on
the northwest coast of America. Two works of Henry R. Wagner
should be consulted, Spanish Voyages to the Northwest Coast of
America in the Sixteenth Century (including those down to 1602) and
Spanish Explorations in the Strait of Juan de Fuca (1790-92). 1In his
foreword to the volume last cited, the learned author writes (p. iv):

I have no intention of belittling the important work which Captain Vancouver
did in this quarter but it seems time to present the other side of the picture.
Vancouver was not the first to explore these channels, to anchor in these ports
and to view the majestic 1nountains, even although many of these still bear the
names he gave them. My aim is to do justice to the Spaniards who preceded
him and who have left us accounts of their experiences just as vivid and enter-
taining as his.

A thorough summary of British and American exploration, dis-
covery, and settlement is in Samuel Flagg Bemis, A Diplomatic
History of the United States, chapter 16, Oregon’’; and see Schafer,
“The Acquisition of Oregon Territory, part 1, Discovery and Explora-
tion”, in University of Oregon Buﬁztm, VI, No. 3, December 1908.
American (land) explorations in the west. are charted in Paullin,
Atlas of the Historical Geogralihy of the United States, plate 39B,
with text at pages 19-21; see also Explorations of the Pacific Coast
Region of North America, appendix I of the-Jomt Report of the Inter-
national Boundary Commission submitted May 10, 1921, pp. 61-76.

TaeE Nootga Sounp CONTROVERSY

In Manning, ‘“The Nootka Sound Controverys‘y” (Annual Report
of the American Historical Association for the Year 1904, 279-478),
is a history of the events lea,di.ng up to that dispute, of the negotia-
tions between Great Britain and Spain, and of the settlement reached.
Fromn the introductory chapter of that work (pp. 283-84) is ex-
cerpted the following summary of the Nootka mcident of 1789:

Nootka Sound! is a small inlet [entrance 49°33’ north] on the western shore
of Vancouver Island. It was christened and made known to the world by
Captain Cook in 1778. A few years afterwards a fiourishing fur trade sprang up
between the Northwest Coast and China. Nootka became the center of this trade,
though it remained for several years without any settlement except an Indian
vi]lage. On account of its sudden and growing importance, the Russians, English,
and Spaniards all laid plans for occupying the port. It hapgened that all planiied
to carry out the project in the year 1789, a year that meant so much for the sub-
sequent history of the world. Though the Nootka incident can make no claim to
rank in importance with the great events of that year, yet it was destined to have
an influence on the Inovements then started and to be influenced in turn by them.

The Russian plans were not acted upon, but the plans of the other two were.
An English expedition from India and a Spanish from Mexico each sailed in the

1 Captain Cook first called the waters ‘‘ King Gedrges Sound”, but later adopted
the native name (ibid., 306). - R i ) 3
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_ spring of 1789 to establish a colony at Nootka. The promoters of neither knew
anything of the other. The Spanish commander arrived first and took possession.
Nearly two months later the Englishman came. A quarrel ensued. The Spaniard
seized the Englishman, imprisoned him, his officers and crew, and sent him to
Mexico as a prize. A consort vessel arrived a few days later and met the same
fate. - Two other English vessels had been seized earlier. One of them had been
released on bond and the other had been confiscated without adjudication. .

The Viceroy of Mexico, instead of actingron his own responsibility, reported the
matter to the Government at Madrid. The Spanish Court compiained to the
British that subjects of the latter had violated the territorial sovereignty of the
former, and demanded that the offenders be punished to prevent such enterprises
in thefuture. The British Cabinet rejected the Spanish claim to exclusive sover-
eignty over the territory in question, and suspended all diplomatic relations until -
Spain should have offered a satisfactory reparation for the insult which His
Britannic Majesty felt that his flag had suffered. Each Court refused to grant the
demand of the other and stood firmly on the ground originally taken. To support
their respective claims, both Governments made the most extehsive armaments.
Each nation also called uponits allieg for assurances of support and entered negoti-
ations for forming new alliances. For a time it seemed that all Europe would be
drawn into war over what, on the face of it, appeared to be an insignificant quarrel
between two obscure sea captains. .

On October 28, 1790, the convention between Great Britain and
Spain which is generally known as the Nootka Sound Convention
was signed at San Lorenzo el Real (French text, with English transla-.
tion, but without the secret article, in British and Foreign State
Papers, I, pt. 1, 663-67; English translation, including the secret
article, in Manning, op. cit., 454-56).

During the later years of the Oregon question the relation thereto
of the Nootka Sound controversy was extensively debated; much
argument was devoted to the Nootka Sound Convention of October 28,
. 1790, its interpretation and legal effect; and there were two opinions
as to whether that convention was termimated by the war between
Great Britain and Spain which began in 1796; but neither in the litera-
ture of the period nor in the diplomatic exchanges was mention made of
either of the two later conventions between Great Britain and Spain
which dealt with the Nootka Sound affair. Those two conventions
were signed, respectively, at Whitehall on February 12, 1793, and at
Madrif on January 11, 1794 (English translations from the Spanish
are in Manning, op. cit., 467-68, 469-70).

By Article 1 of the Nootka Sound. Convention of October 28, 1790,
provision was made for the restoration to British subjects of the
“buildings and tracts of land”’ of which they had been “dispossessed ”’
at Nootka in 1789; Article 2 related to mdemnity; the Commissioners
appointed to execute Article 1 were Captain George Vancouver for
Great Britain and Don Juan Francisco de Bodega y Quadra for Spain;
they met at Nootka late in the summer of 1792 but failed to agree
(ibud., 464); the convention of February 12, 1793, settled the matter
of indemnity; the convention of January 11, 1794 (signed in Enghsh
and Spanish), provided for the due execution of Article 1 of the 1790
convention and contained also other important clauses, as follows
(text here from enclosure to despatch No. 718, of May 22, 1934, from
London, D.S., file 026 Treaties/1265; the English version of this
convention has not, it seems, been heretofore printed):
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Their Britannick and Catholick Majesties being desirous to remove and obviate
all Doubt and Difficulty relative to the Execution of the First Article of the
Convention concluded between Their said Majesties on the Twenty Eighth of
October One Thousand Seven Hundred and inet% have resolved and agreed
that new Instructions shall be sent to the Officers whom They have respectively
commissioned to carry into due Effect the said Article, which Instructions shall
be of the following Tenor. )

“That in the shortest Time that may be possible after the Arrival of the
“said Officérs at Nootka they shall meet together at or near the Place on
“which stood the Buildings which were formerly occupied by the Subjects
“of His Britannick Majesty, at which Time and Place they shall mutually
“exchange the following Declaration and Counter Declaration.”

“Declaration.”

“I N.N. in the Name and by Order of His Catholick Majesty do by These
‘““Presents restore to N.N. the Buildings and Districts of Land situated on
‘““the North West Coast of the Continent of North America, or on the
‘‘Islands adjacent to that Continent, of which the Subjects of His Britannick
‘““Majesty were dispossessed about the Month of April! One Thousand
““Seven Hundred and Eighty Nine by a Spanish Officer. In Witness whereof
‘I have signed this Declaration, and have héreunto affixed the Seal of my
‘“Arms. Done at Nootka the- day of . One Thousand Seven
‘““Hundred and Ninety S ‘ ‘

“Counter Declaration.”

“I N.N. in the Name and by Order of His Britannick Majesty do by These
‘““Presents Declare that the Buildings and Districts of Land situated on the
“North West Coast of the Continent ‘of North America, or on the Islands
““adjacent to that Continent, of which the Subjects of His Brittannick
‘“Majesty were dispossessed about the Month of April One Thousand Seven
‘‘Hundred and Eighty Nine by a Spanish Officer, have been restored to me
‘“by N.N., which Restitution I declare to be full and satisfactory. In witness
“whereof I have signed this Counter Declaration, and have hereunto affixed
‘“‘the Seal of my Arms. Done at Nootka the- Day of One
“Thousand Seven Hundred and Ninety R

“That the British Officer shall then cause the British Flag to be hoisted
“on the land thus restored in Token of Possession. And that after these
‘“Formalities the Officers of the Two Crowns shall respectively withdraw
“their People from the said Port of Nootka.”

Their said Majesties have farther agreed that it shall be free for the Subjects
of both Nations to frequent occasionally the aforesaid Port and to construct there
temporary Buildings for their Accommodation during their said occasional
Residence: But that Neither the One nor the Other of the Two Parties shall make
-any permanent, Establishment in the said Port, or claim there any Right of
Sovereignty or territorial Dominion to the Exclusion of the Other. And Their
said Majesties will assist Each Other mutually to maintain to Their Subjects free
Access to the said Port of Nootka against any other Nation which should at-
tempt to establish there any Sovereignty or Dominion. - ]

In Witness whereof We the undersigned Ambassador Extraordinary and
Plenipotentiary of His Britannick Majesty, and First Secretary of State and of
the Despacho of His Catholick Majesty, in the Name and by the express Order of
our respective Sovereigns have signed the present Agreement and have hereunto
affixed the Seals of our Arms. )

Done at Madrid the Eleventh Day of January One Thousand Seven Hundred

and Ninety Four. .
S1. HELENS. ' [Seal]
EvL DuqQUuE pE LA ALcupia. [Seal]

1 The ‘‘Spanish Officer”, Estevan José Martinez, did not arrive at Nootka
until May 5, 1789 (Manning, op. cit., 312, 432). .
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The acts prescribed by the convention of January 11, 1794, were
duly performed at Nootka on March 28, 1795, by Commissioners of
the two Governments, Thomas Pearce, First Lieutenant in His
Majesty’s Marine Forces, for Great Britain, and Brigadier General
José Manuel de Alava, for Spain (see Pearce to the Duke of Portland,
April 25, 17§)5, in the London Gazette, No. 13813, p. 943, September
12-15, 1795). -

1t appears that in 1846 neither the indemmity convention of Febru-
ary 12, 1793 (which was not very material to claims of sovereignty),
nor the convention of January 11, 1794, for the mutual Withﬁwal
from Nootka, etc., was known to the Government of the United States
(see the elaborate discussion of the Nootka Sound controversy in the
instruction of October 9, 1843, in D.S., 15 Instructions, Great Britain,
144-72; rcferences are there made to ‘‘the most important documents
relatimg to the subject which have yet been published”’, and various
articles of the 1790 Nootka Convention are quoted; but there is no
mention of the conventions of 1793 and 1794). On November 30,
1843, Edward Everett, Minister at London, sought the aid of Wash-
ington Irving, then Minister at Madrid, 1n respect of the Oregon
question. Everett hoped (vainly, as it proved) to obtam further
Nootka papers. He wrote that “All that was ever pubhshed of the
Nootka negotiations will be found in the Annual Register for 1790”
(D.S., 51 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 69, December 2, 1843,
enclosure); later, with his despatch of July 17, 1844 (D.S., 53 Des-
patches, Great Britain, No. 162; see also 52 ibid., No. 152, June 29,
1844), Everett transmitted a cop{ of the Narrative of the Negotia-
tions Occasioned by the Dispute between England and Spain in the
Year 1790 (a rare volume, probably of 1791, by Sir James Bland
Burges; see Manning, op. cit., 474).

That Secretary of State James Buchanan, when he was engaged in
the Oregon negotiations in 1845, was ignorant of the later Nootka
Conventions (of 1793 and 1794) is indeed evident from what he wrote
on the subject to the British Plenmipotentiary (Senate Document No.
1, 29th Congress, 1st session, seria{)470, p- 164): :

That convention [of October 28, 1790] provides, by its first and second articles,
for the restoration of the lands and buildings of .which the subjects of Great
Britain bad been dispossessed by the Spaniards, and the paéyment of an indemnity
for the injuries sustained. This indemnity was paid by Spain; but no sufficient
evidence has been adduced, that either Nootka Sound, or any other spot upon the
coast, was ever actually surrendered by that power to Great Britain. All we
know with certainty is, that Spain continued in possession of Nootka Sound
until 1795, when she voluntarily abarndoned the place. )

"The foregoing was written on July 12, 1845; this was added on
August 30, 1845 (ibid., 188):

As to possession, if Meares was ever actually -restored to his possessions at
Nootka Sound, whatever these may have been, the undersigned has never seen
an¥1 evidence of the fact. 1t is not to be found_ in the djourna,l of Vancouver,
although this officer was sent from Erngland for the avowed purpose of witnessing
such a restoration. The undersigned knows not whether any new understanding
took place between the British and Spamish governments on this subject; but
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one fact is placed beyond all doubt—that the Spaniards continued in the undis-
turbed possession of Nootka Sound until the year 1795, when they voluntarily
abandoned the place. Great Britain has never, at any time since, occupied this
or any other position on Vancouver’s island.

The texts (in Spanish) of the Nootka Conventions of February 12,
1793, and January 11, 1794, are printed in Calvo, Recueil complet
des traités de 1’Amérique latine, ITI, 364-68, published in 1862; it
has been thought that this was the earliest pubhecation of them (White,
“Boundary Disputes and Treaties”, in Canada and Its Provinces,
VIII, 848); but they appeared at Madrid in 1843 in Cantillo, Tratados,
convenios y declaraciones de paz y de comercio, 646, 653-54; and at
page 633 of that volume is a statement regarding the execution of the
convention of 1794. It seems strange that Washington Irving at
Madrid missed the work last mentioned when he was called on by
Edward Everett for information regarding the Nootka controversy
(see the letters of Irving of December 23, 1843, and January 15, 1844,
enclosed with Everett’s despatch No. 82, of February 2, 1844, in
D.S., 52 Despatches, Great Britain); for, while that work is not
strictly an official publication, it was edited by a former official of the
Spanish Foreign Office and was dedicated to the Queen of Spain.

Various authors, by 1846, had given incomplete or inaccurgte
accounts of the proceedings at -Nootka in March 1795 (e.g., Twiss,
The Oregon Question Examinegl, 12123 ; and see the works there cited;
one of them, Koch, Histoire abrégée des traités de paix, was quoted
in the Senate debates by Senator John Adams Dix, of, New York;
see Congressional Globe, XV, appendix, 314, February 18, 1846);

"but none of those writers made any mention of the convention of
January 11, 1794; the second edition of the work of Robert Greenhow,
‘History of Oregon and Cahfornia, {on which, as has been seen, Bu-
chanan relied), appeared in 1845; there is cited (p.257) supposed au-
thority for the mistaken belief that ‘‘the Spanish flag flying at Nootka
was never struck, and that the territory has been virtuafl?relinquished
by Great Britain’’, and it is given as the probability ‘‘that the
Spaniardg merely abandoned the place’’; and Buchanan beheved in
the summer of 1845 that in 1795 Spain had ‘voluntarily abandoned”’
Nootka, ()see the quotations above from the notes of July 12 and August
30, 1845). .

There would necessarily have been a marked difference in the argu-
ment-of the Oregon question in 1845 and 1846 on the one side and
on the other if this Government had become informed, say, in 1844
(from the treaty compilation published at Madrid in 1843 and cited

" above) of the text of the Nootka Convention of January 11, 1794.

Tae Earvier Discussions

Certain negotiations, including those é)rior and subsequent to 1818,
are to be mentioned; they are recounted, with numerous citations, in
Moore, International Arbitrations, I, 198-209.

125186°—37—4
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The treaty of 1783 (Document 11) had drawn an impossible bound-
ary from the most northwestern point of the Lake of the Woods by
~providing that the line should run thence due west to the Mississippi,
the source of which is somne 150 miles almost due south of the point
mentioned ; and the joint survey of the region contemplated by Article
4 of the Jay Treaty (Document 16) was not had. By Article 5 of the
Hawkesbury-King Convention signed at London on May 12, 1803
(American State Papers, Foreign%elations, II, 584-85), 1t was pro-
vided that the boundary in that quarter should be the shortest line
from the northwesternmost point of the Lake of the' Woods to the
nearest source of the Mississippi; but, owing to the cession of Louisi~
ana, the Senate resolution of advice and consent excepted Article 5
f(Executive Journal, I, 463-64), and the convention did not go into-
orce. .o : o

In 1807, in negotiations following the signature at London of the
treaty of becem%)er 31, 1806 (British and Foreign State Papers, I,
pt. 2, 1190-1203), an article was drafted (and was found acceptable)
by which the boundary would run from the most northwestern point of
the Lake of the Woods to and along the 49th parallel of north Eztitude
‘“asg far as their said respective territories extend in that quarter”,
with a proviso excepting the northwest coast of America and any
territories claimed by either party westward of the Rocky Mountains;
Madison wrote that it was ‘‘much to be wished and pressed . . .
that the proviso . . . should be omitted’’ (American State Papers,
Foreign Relations, III, 162, 165, 185); nothing came of those negotia~
tions, as President Jefferson refused to submit the treaty of December
31, 18086, to the Senate; but the desire of the Jefferson administration
to omit the proviso mentioned was used in argument by the ‘‘forty-
niners’’ of 1846 (see the remarks of Senator Thomas H. Benton 1n

“Congressional Globe, XV, 590, April 2, 1846). ' oo
. Further discussions took place at Ghent in 1814, and, so far as
concerned the boundary, the substance of the article drafted in 1807
was again put forward by the American Plenipotentiaries (November
10, 1814); but because of an additional clause regarding the navigation
of the Mississippi proposed by the British Plenipotentiaries (Novem-
" ber 26, 1814), assent to which was declined, the Treaty of Ghent
.(Document 33) contained no article on the subject (American State
Papers, Foreign Relations, ITI, 738, 743—45; IV, 377).

- During the negotiations which resulted in the convention of October
20, 1818 (Document 40), the American Plempotentiaries (Albert
Gallatm and Richard Rush) proposed to exteng the line along the
49th parallel west to the Pacific Ocean. The British Plempotentiaries
(Frederick John Robinson and Henry Goulburn) ‘‘did not make any
formal proposition for a& boundary’’, but an article proposed by them
included language of algreement y the two parties ‘‘not to exercise
as against each other! any other sovereign or territorial authorit
within the above-mnentioned country lying between the forty-ﬁftK

1 This word ‘‘other”, although omitted in the print cited, is in the original-
e{gclzlsosure with the déspatch of the American Plenipotentiaries of October 20, -
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and forty-ninth parallels of latitude’’ (¢bid., IV, 381, 391; cf. the word-
ing of the Nootka Convention of January 11, 1794, quoted above).

As a result of the Russian ukase of 1821 (as to which, see the notes
to Document 46), discussions were resumed: in 1823 at London; the
respective Plenipotentiaries were Richard Rush, the American
Minister, and, for Great Britain, the Right Honorable William Hus-
kisson and the Right Honorable Stratford Canning; the British
Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs was then George Canning; the
final American proposal (as modified on June 29, 1824) was that
Article 3 of the convention of October 20, 1818, should be continued
for ten years and that during that term ‘‘no settlement shall be made
on the Northwest Coast of America, or on any of the islands thereunto
adjoining, by citizens of the United States, north of the forty-ninth
degree of north latitude, or by British subjects either south of the said
forty-ninth degree or north of the fifty-fifth degree of north latitude”
(ebed., V, 582, 563); the final British proposal (formally presented on
July 13, 1824) was (with some clauses for rights of passage, naviga-
tion, and trade during ten years, and for protection of existing
settlements during the same period) ‘‘that the boundary line between
the territories claimed by his Britannic Majesty and those claimed
by the United States, to the west, in both cases, of the Rocky moun-
tains, shall be drawn due west along the 49th parallel of north latitude,
to the point where that parallel strikes the great northeasternmost .
branch of the Oregon or Columbia river, marked in the maps as
Mec@Gillivray’s river, thence down along the middle of the Oregon or
Columbia, to its junction with the Pacific Ocean; the navigation of
the whole channef being perpetually free to the subjects and citizens
of both parties” (ibid., 582, 563, 564; as to the rejection of the respec-
tive proposals, see ibid., 557, 563; the mstructions to Rush of July
22, 1823, are in ¢bid., 791-93; the arguments are not protocoled, but
the report of Rush of August 12, 1824, in ¢bid., 533 et seq., has an
account of them at pp. 553—57; Rush had learned of the convention
with Russia of Apl‘i.F 17, 1824, Document 46).

The “great northeasternmost branch’’ of the Columbia River was
then called McGillivray or McGillivray’s River, and later ““the great
northwesternmost branch” and also the ‘‘great northern branch?”,
as in Article 2 of the Oregon Treaty; that “branch” is now deemed
to be part of the main stream of the Columbia River, which crosses
the international boundary at approximately 117°38’ west longitude
(see the map facing page 12 and Paullin, Atlas of the Historical Geog-
raphy of the United States, plate 93C and £ 61). :

y Articles 1 and 2 of the convention of August 6, 1827 (Document
56), the “joint occupation” (as it had come to be called) of the Oregon
country, provided by the convention of October 20, 1818 (Document
40), was indefinitely continued, subject to the right of either party
to give one year’s notice of abrogation of the convention; but in the
negotiations which began at London in 1826, and from which that
convention resulted, there had been further unsuccessful efforts to
reach a definitive settlement of the QOregon question. In accordance
with his instructions, Albert Gallatin, Minister at Liondon, made the
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proposal (November 15, 1826) of the line of 49° north latitude, to
the Pacific as a permanent boundary, coupled with a grant in favor
of British subjects of a perpetual right of navigation of the Columbia
River from the bound to the ocean (for the imstructions, see
American State Papers‘:-r%oreign Relations, VI, 645, and, for the
proposal, ibid., 652; it included some temporary provisions; and the
Involved and conditional wording of the navigation clauses reflects
the then lack of complete geographical knowled[i:a of the region); one
of the British Plenipotentiaries observed that the cutting off of the
southern portion of Vancouver -Island ‘“‘was quite inadmissible’’;
Gallatin sug%fsted that there might be compensating deviations from
the line; he had in mind the exchange of the southern end of Van-.
couver Island for the whole or Eart of the upper waters of the Columbia
River, north of the proposed boundary (ibud., 654, 656). '

The proposal of the British Plempotentiaries (W illiam Huskisson
and Henry Unwin Addington) is recorded in the protocol of December
1, 1826 (ibid., 660); the offer was that of 1824, plus, as a detached terri-
tory, the whole of the Olympic Peninsula north of a straight line from
the southern extremity of Gray’s Harbor to the southern extremity of
Hood’s Inlet or Hood Canal (plate 93C in Paullin, op. ¢if., shows the
line of the offer); it was also suggested verbally that 1t might further,
“perhaps, be agreed that the northern shore [of the Columbia River],
for some distance fromn the mouth up the river, should remain unoccu-
pied by both parties” (American State Papers, Foreign Relations, VI,
656; for the arguinents, see ‘Gallatin’s despatches of November 25-
and December 2, 1826, and the sixth and seventh protocols, of Decem-
ber 16 and 19, in ibid., 652-56, 661-71).

The respective offers of 1826 were of influence in the final settlement
twenty years later. The territorial difference between the two pro-.
posals, while only a fraction of the vast area of the whole Oregon
country, was stilF of the utmost importance to the United States, of
great value and very extensive; it comprised more than half the pres-
ent State of Washington, together with that portion of Vancouver
Island south of 49° north latitude. "

Following the negotiations of 1826 and 1827, other questions,
particularly that of the northeastern boundary, were more important
In Anglo-American relations than that of the Odi%%on country; the
problemn of “joint occupation’ presented little difficulty as long as
the number of settlers was very small (Webster wrote on November
25, 1842, that there were then not inore tban seven hundred white
persons) in the whole Oregon country; Curtis, Life of Webster, II,
173-75).

The negotiations of 1842 which resulted in the Webster-Ashburton
Treaty (see the notes to Document 99) dealt formslly with every
major question then pending between the United States and Great
Britain except that of Oregon. The Oregon question was then the
subject of conversations between Secretary of State Daniel Webster
and Lord Ashburton, the British Plenipotentiary; and it was men-
tioned in the presidential message of August 11, 1842, with which the
Webster-Ashburton Treaty was submitted to the Senate (quoted in
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vol. 4, pp. 393-98); but its adjustment was left to the future. The
instructions of Ashburton did not permit him to go very far; they
contemplated, in the first instance, a bounda.ry-fo]fowing the course
of the Columbia from its mouth to its confluence with the Snake
River and thence due east to the Rocky Mountains; beyond that
Ashburton was authorized to concede only as much as had been
offered in 1824; even the British proposal of 1826 would have been.’
beyond his authority (Library of Congress, Ashburton Papers, fac-
similes from the Public Record Office, London, Foreign Office Records,
vol. 5:378, instruction No. 2, February 8, 1842; hereinafter cited as
““Ashburton Papers’’; the instruction referred to is printed in Wash-
ington Papers, V, 218-19); perhaps the fact that the proposal of 1826
had been made was overlooked at London; certainly its terms were
a surprise to Lord Aberdeen in the autumn of 1843, when one of the
British Plenipotentiaries of 1826 did not recollect that offer and when
Edward Everett, Minister at London, found it necessary to confirm
the fact by reference to the protocol of December 1, 1826 (D.S., 51
Despatches, Great Britain, No. 69, December 2, 1843, and enclosure
B, Everett to Aberdeen, November 30, 1843). Ashburton thought
- at one time that Webster would agree to the Columbia River boundary
(Ashburton Papers, F.O. 5:379, despatch No. 2, April 25, 1842;
there is no formal record of discussions of the Oregon -question be-
tween Webster and Ashburton either by note or by protocol); but
the return of the Wilkes expedition, with the report of Wilkes to the
Secretary of the Navy ‘“upon the Territory of Oregon”, was both
opportune and of influence (see bid., F.O. 5:379, despatches Nos.
9 and 10, June 14 and 29, 1842; the Wilkes report was sent to the
Senate on July 1, 1842, but was not then printed; see Richardson,
1V, 160, and Executive Journal, VI, 98-99; not until sixty-nine years
later was that report, with a covering letter dated New York, June
1842, but without the maps which were with it, printed; see Congres-
sional Record, XLVII, pt. 3, 2977-83, July 15, 1911; also printed i
Oregon Historical Quarterly, XII, 269-99; for the views of Wilkes
regarding the harbor at the mouth of the Columbia River, see Senate
Document No. 475, 29th Congress, 1st session, serial 478; the
. account of Wilkes of his visit to the northwest coast is in Narrative
of the United States Exploring Expedition, IV, chs. 9-14). s

NEGOTIATIONS DURING THE TYLER ADMINISTRATION

On October 18, 1842, five days after the exchange of ratifications
of the Webster-Ashburton Treaty, the British Government took the
first steps toward the opening of negotiations at London on the sub-
ject of the boundary west of the Rocky Mountains (Senate Document

o. 1, 29th Congress, 1st session, serial 470, pp. 139—40; see also
British and Foreign State Papers, XXXIV, 49-50). - President Tyler
desired to send Daniel Webster to London on a special mission for
that purpose, but an appropriation was refused in committee (Mem-
oirs of John Quincy Adams, XI, 329-30, February 28, 1843; and as
to the suggested tripartite treaty, involving a cession from Mexico of
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California down to 36° north latitude, and the line of the Columbia
River for the Oregon boundary, see Tyler, Letters and Times of the

" Tylers, II, 260-61, and Memoirs of John Quincy Adams, XI, 347;
see also Duniway, in American Secretaries of State and Their biplo-
‘macy, V, §7-61, and Schafer, ‘“The British Attitude toward the
Oregon Question, 1815-1846"’, in American Historical Review, XVI,
203-94); perhaps Webster would have succeeded Edward Everett as
Mimster at London if Everett had accepted the mission to China (see
Curtis, Life of Webster, IT, 178-80); but Everett declined to go to
China, and that mission was undertaken by Caleb Cushing (see the
treaty with China of July 3, 1844, Document 109, and the notes there-
to); on May 8, 1843, Webster resigned as Secretary of State, and not
until more than two months thereafter did Abel P. Upshur take over
that post (July 24, 1843, after service of a month ad interim, while
Secretary of the Navy); thus before this Government was prepared
to proceed, nearly a year had elapsed.

Under date of October 9, 1843, lengthy instructions for negotiation
were sent by Secretary of State Upshur to Edward Everett, Minister
at London (D.S., 15 Instructions, Great Britain, 144-72); a full
power was also transmitted (D.S., 3 Credences, 54); the opening pages -
of the instruction were devoted to a synopsis of the documents and
arguments of 1823-24 and 1826; these were followed by this para-

graﬁh, which, insofar as it states the British position, should be read
with the forinal record thereof made on December 16, 1826 (American
State Papers, Foreign Relations, VI, 662-66): :

Such is the present position.of this question. 1t has been fully discussed upon-
.all the topies which belong to it, and upon all the facts which were then known,
with no other result than to confirm the parties in their respective pretensions.
There is no reason to doubt that both parties are, and have always been, sincerely
desirous to settle the matier upon just principles; but it has been found impossible
to bring them to any agreement upon the facts which enter into it as a question
of right. Each é)arty has contended for an exclusive right, so far as discover
could give it, and has insisted that the other had no right at all: the claim of eac})l’
resulting from discovery, rests upon certain historical facts which are utterly
denied by the other. There is evidence upon this point not possessed by former
negotiators; but the difference of opinion between the two countries is so great,
and has been so decisively expressed, that there seems to be some reason to appre-
hend that no future negotiation on the ground of mere discovery will be attended
with better results than those which have heretofore failed. evertheless, this
Government, not doubting the justice of our claim, is not without hope that it
will be acknowledged by England; and, to that end, is disposed to renew the dis-
cussion of the question as one of mere right. The exclusive right of the United
States to the whole territory between the 42¢ degree of latitude and the parallel
of 54 degrees 40 minutes is believed to be now susceptible of very satisfactory proof.

The instruction then includes a statement of the case for the United
States on the nierits; on discovery and its results under the law of
nations, the former rights of Spain, the Nootka negotiations and the
Nootka Sound Convention of October 28, 1790, the voyages of various
navigators, the Lewis and Clark expedition, and the settlements at
Astoria and -elsewhere, something like eight thousand words were
written, followed by these concludgmg paragraphs: -
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But we claim this territory upon other grounds. It lies contiguous to our
settled country, and is & mere extension of our acknowledged boundaries. The
natural spread of our population must cover it, without any direct effort, on our
part, to settle or colonize it. It is important to our peace and security, that it
should belong to us. It cannot be reasonably required of us to acquiesce in the
settlement of a foreign Nation, which may become a hostile one, on an important
part of our western border. In proportion as our population extends west-
ward—and its extension is in the due course of nature and of absolute necessity—
access to the Pacific. will be absolutely indispensable to our prosperity. Our
commerce in the Pacific Ocean is already of great extent and value, requiring
the presence of armed vessels to protect it; and there is no port belonging to us
to which our vessels, whether of commerce or of war, can resort, south of the-
Straits of Fuga. Hence that portion of the territory at least is indispensable to
us. To England it is of little value. The fur trade, for the sake of which alone
her settlements have been made, has ceased to be very profitable, in consequence
of the destruction of the animals yielding that article; and no part of the land
which she claims is of sufficient value to her for agricultural purposes to justify
& serious contest for the possession of it. She can have no considerable settle-
ment there, except as a colony; and the necessary poverty of such a colony,
together with its great distance from the mother country, must render it a con-
stant source of expense, to say nothing of its tendency to bring her into collision
with other Powers. Even supposing, therefore, that the claims.of the two coun- °
tries to the territory, on the ground of discovery or settlement, are equally good,
there is much stronger reason why it should belong to the United States than to
England. Every useful purpose for which she can desire it, would be fully
answered by the accommodations and privileges which a friendly country in
possession of it would readily extend to her. - .

Such are our rights and our claims. How far the new proofs which it is now
in our power to offer, may induce Great Britain to acknowledge them, I cannot
undertake to say. If there should be, as heretofore, an insuperable difficulty in
settling the controversy on the ground of mere right, the sincere desire which the
President feels to preserve the existing hdarmony between the two countries will-
induce him to consent to terms of equitable compromise. The United States
have offered to accept the 49t» degree of north latitude as the boundary from the
Rocky Mountains to the Pacific Ocean. This hag been rejected by Great Britain,
and she has offered in lieu of it an extension of the 49t* degree of north latitude
till it strikes the most northeastern branch of the Columbia, and thence along
the middie of the channel of the Columbia to its mouth. This has béen rejected
by the Umited States. Great Britain has also offered the following boundary.
Adhering to the Columbia river as the basis, she proposed to concede to the
United States ‘““the possession of Port Discovery, a most valuable harbor on the
southern coast of De Fuca’s Inlet; and to annex thereto all that tract of country
comprised within a line to be drawn from Cape Flattery along the southern shore
of De Fuca’s Inlet, to Point Wilson, at the northwestern extremity of Admiralty
Inlet; from thence, along the western shore of that inlet, across the entrance of
Hood’s Inlet, to the pointof land forming the northeastern extremity of the said
inlet; from thence, along the eastern shore of that inlet to the southern extremity
of the same; from thence, direct to the southern point of Gray’s Harbor; from
thence, along the shore of the Pacific, to Cape Flattery, as before mentioned.”
This offer - was promptly and very'pro&erly rejected by the United States. Ex-
clusive of other objections to it, it left Great Britain in possession of the northern
cape of the Columbia, which completely commands its entrance. To thisthe United
States are not prepared to consent under any circumstances. The offer of the
49 parallel of latitude, although it has once been rejected, may be again tendered,
together with the right of navigating the Columbia, upon equitable terms. Be-
.yond this, the President is'not now prepared to go. Nevertheless, you may
propose or receive, subject to the approval of this Government, any other terms
of compromise which in the progress of your discussions, may appear to promise
a satisfactory adjustment of this important question.

You will receive, herewith, the necessary powers to negotiate upon the subject. .
If, however, the British Government prefers that the negotiation shall he con-
cIi);lé:te(;i -iél Washington, that arrangement will be perfectly agreeable to the

sident. .
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It will be seen that the British proposal of 1826 was definitely de-
clared to be unacceptable; Everett was authorized to again offer the
line of 49° north, with he right of navigating the Columbia, upon
equitable terms”’; and the door was left open to “any other terms of
compromise which . . . may appear to promise & satisfactory
adjustment’’. :

the meantime, however, the decision had been reached at Lon-
don to treat on the Oregon question at Washington; the reasons are
thus given by Everett in his confidential despatch of November 2,
1843 (D.S., 51 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 61):

By the steamer of the 18th October I had the honor to receive your despatch
Nr¢ 82, enclosing a Full Power from the President to treat with this Government
for the adjustment of the Oregon boundary, and containing your instructions on
that subject. I lost no time in applying for an interview with Lord Aberdeen
and saw him the first day of his return to town. On apprizing him of the dis-
position of the President to open a negotiation on this subljlect at London, Lord
Aberdeen informed me that such an arrangement would have been altogether
agreeable to him if somewhat earlier made, and reminded me that he had very
often, in the course of the last winter, expressed the wish that the President would
authorize me to treat on the subject. e had, however, lately come to a con-
clusion and taken a step, that made it necessary to treat upon the subject at
Washington; this was the recall of Mr Fox and the appointment of a successor.
Among the grounds for adopting this measure, was the belief that there would be
decided advantage in-émtting the management of this subject into new hands, &
consequently that had been and would be assigned as a leading reason for the
contemplated change.. This course he said had not been resolved upon, till they
had entirely given up the expectation that I should be authorized to treat on this
subject, not only in consequence of my not receiving powers; but Mr Fox having
latterlszritten them, that the President had decided that the negotiation must
be at Washington. )

It was as I informed you at the time, the purpose of Lord Aberdeen a few weeks
ago, that Mr Fox should make an overture for the settlement of the question on
the basis of Lord Ashburton’s instructions; which ¥ have been informed were to
%oceed upon the forty ninth parallel of latitude westward, till it strikes the North

esternmost branch of the Columbia river; and then follow that river to the
ocean; and Mr Fox was accordini}fy go.authorized and directed. In reply to the
letters containing this authority, Mr Fox wrote back that he was not in possession
of Lord Ashburton’s instructions; and the determination above alluded to was
then taken. Lord Aberdeen told me I must consider this communication as
strictly confidential, for Mr Fox was not yet acquainted with his intended recal.
I told Lord Aberdeen, that I must give you the information, to account for my
not proceeding under the Full Power, e desired that I would request l\i'ou to
-consider the information as confidential, till you should receive it from Mr Fox
himself. I afterwards intimated to Lord Aberdeen that it was highly desirable
that public intelligence should go to America by the steamer of the 4th, that he
groposed to open a new negotiation at Washington on the subject of the Oregon

oundary, as the information by that opportunity would be the last which would
reach you, before the meeting of Congress and the delivery of the President’s
message. ’

None the less, Everett continued the * very frequent conversations”
he had had with Aberdeen on the Oregon question; Everett wished to
influence favorably the tenor of the instructions which were to be
given;inier alia he urged ‘‘ the extreme reasonableness of the proposal
of 49° north as the boundari; and he suggested that a modification
of that line so as to leave the whole of Vancouver Island to Great
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Britain would perhaps be conceded (ibid., No. 69, December 2, 1843,
confidential). Aberdeen thus stated his views on the various argu-
ments presented (ibid.):

that these were grounds which in the main result had been long ago taken by the
United States and rejected by England;—that the question was quite different
from what it would have been if now presented for the first time;—and that it was
impossible for the present ministry to accept what had been rejected in 1824 and
1826; that they did not suppose that we any more than themselves could now
agree to terms which we had declined then; and that consequently there must be
concession on both sides;—that they were willing to act on this principle and that
we must do the same.

Conversations between Everett and Aberdeen along the same lines
did not cease (D.S., 52 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 82, February
2, 1844; No. 106, April 1, 1844; 54 1bid., No. 269, February 28, 1845);
and while Aberdeen’s first instructions, of December 28, 1843, per-
mitted Pakenham to go beyond the British offer of 1826 only in
respect of free ports south of 49° (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 115:83,
instruction No. 10; see Washington Papers, V, 220, for a summary
of that mstruction), Aberdeen wrote to Pakenham on March 4, 1844,
“to draw from the American negotiator a proposal” of the line of 49°
to the sea (i.e., not across Vancouver Island), with free ports to Great
Britain south of the line and common navigation of the Columbia
(quoted by Schafer in ‘“The British Attitude toward the Oregon
(;%uestion, 1815-1846", in American Historical Review, XVI, 273-99;
also quoted by Pakenhain in a letter to Aberdeen of October 28, 1845,
citedqbelow) ; this, it may be observed, is (aside froin the words about
free ports) not far from Articles 1 and 2 of the Oregon Treaty; more
in detail, the same bases were put forward in a letter of Aberdeen to
Peel of éeptember 25, 1844, froan which one paragraph is excerpted
(from Clark, * Aberdeen and Peel on Oregon, 1844”, in Oregon
I-lllllﬁtorical Quarterly, XXXIV, 23640, where the letter appears in
full):

I believe that if the line of the 49th degree were extended only to the waters
edge, and should leave us possession of all of Vancouver’s Island, with the northern
side of the entrance to Puget’s Sound; and if all the harbors within the Sound,
and to the Columbia, inclusive, were made free to both countries; and further,
if the river Columbia from the point at which it became navigable to its mouth,
weretalso made free to both, this would be in reality a most advantageous settle-
ment. . :

Aberdeen wrote in the same letter that he was “‘convinced that this
is the utmost which can be hoped for from negotiation” (ibid.); but
Peel was not then willing to go so far (letter of Peel to Aberdeen,
September 28, 1844, in 4bid.; and see Merk, ‘“The QOregon Pioneers
and the Boundary”, in American Historical Review, XXIX, 681-99);
none the less, such an adjustment continued to be considered by
Aberdeen (see his letters to Pakenham of April 18, 1845, and to Peel
of October 17, 1845, cited and quoted in part below).

The decision to negotiate at Washington was one of the eircum-
stances which causef delay; the British Plenipotentiary (Richard
Pakenham) did not reach Washington until February 19, 1844; his
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credence, dated December 14, 1843, and the letter of recall of his pred-
ecessor, Henry Stephen Fox, dated November 15, 1843, were both
.presented_on  February 21, 1844 (Pakenham Papers, F.0. 5:404,
despatch No. 4, February 27, 1844; D.S., Ceremonia’ .etters, Great
Britam, 1815-65); Pakenham’s first note was written on February 24;
the tragic death of Abel P. Upshur, Secretary of State, took place on
February 28; not until August 26, 1844, were the terms of the British
progosal for a settlement communicated to Secretary of State John
C. Calhoun; that ‘progosa}, which was at once declined, renewed that
made by the British Plenipotentiary in 1826, with the added feature -
of an undertaking ‘‘to make free to the United States, any Port, or
Ports, which the United States Government might desire, either on
the Mainland, or on Van-Couver’s Island, South of Latitude 49°”
(D.S., 22 Notes from the British Legation); in respect of free ports
Pakenhan1 had authority to go further than he did; but he ‘““saw at
once that M' Calhoun attached so little importance to the con-
cessions of this kind, that the further concession which I.was also
contmgently authorized t¢ make respecting free Ports would be of
no use’’ (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5:426, despatch No. 53, May 13,
1845). _ . . _ .

The arguments on the one side and the other, relating chiefly to the
I'e%IOI_l south of the 49th parallel, were devel<()1ped during conferences
held in September 1844; the way was opened for a counterproposal
from the United States; and m the meantime, on January 21, 1845,
an offer of arbitration (in very general ternis), made by the British
Government on the previous January 15, was declimed. No further
steps were taken prior to the going mto office of the Polk administra-
tion on March 4, 1845 (the protocols, arguments, and correspondence
of the negotiation at Washington in 184445 during the Tyler admin-
istration are printed in Senate Docuinent No. 1, 29th Congress, st
session, serial 470, pp. 140-62). o

Beyond the formal record of the Calhoun-Pakenham negotiations
there is this account of their conversations off the record (Washington
Papers, V, 222-23): ‘

In various informal conversations between Mr. Pakenham and Mr. Célhoun,
when Mr. Calhoun insisted on the parallel of 49° as the very lowest terms which
the United States would accept, Mr. Pakenham told him that, if he wished Her
Majesty’s Government even to take into consideration a proposal founded on
that basis, it must be accompanied by some indications of a desire on the part
of the United States Government to make some corresponding sacrifice to accom-
modate the interest and convenience of Great Britain; that Her Majesty’s Gov-
ernment had already gone very far in the way of ¢oncession, while the United
States Government had as yet shown no disposition to recede from their original
proposal. To which Mr. Calhoun reglied, on one occasion, that for his part he
should have no objection to give up absolutely the free navigation of the Colum-
bia, which had before been offered only conditionally; on another occasion, he
said that if Great Britain would consent to the parallel of 49° on the Continent,
perhaps the United States might be willing to leave to Great Britain the entire
possession of Vancouver's Island, Fuca’s Inlet, and the passage northwards from
it to the Pacific remaining an open sea to both countries; but he never said that
he would be ready to yield both these points. In fact, fxe said that he was not
authorized to make any proposal of the kind, nor should he until he had ascer-
tained that such an arrangement would find favor with the Senate.



Great Britain : 1846 27

The foregoing statement was taken (shghtly paraphrased) from the
private and confidential despatch of Pakenham of September 28, 1844
(Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5:408). In the same despatch Pakenham
reported his well-grounded fear ‘that there is no chance, whatever,
of inducing Him, or any other American Negotiator to accept the line
of the Columbia as a frontier”.

Under the circumstances no consummation of the negotiations
between Calhoun and Pakenham was possible; the Tyler administra-~
tion was in its last few months of office; a presidential campaign was
approaching; and Calhoun was not anxious to proceed. Pakenham
thus stated his impressions (ibid.):

I believe that Mr Calhoun is in earnest in wishing to settle the Oregon Ques-
tion, quietly and peaceably, but being a vain and ambitious man, He wishes to
settle 1t in a manner that shall gain Him credit in the eyes of His Countrymen—
and He has Confessed to me, more than once, that He felt so mortified by the
rejection of His Texas Treaty, that He was determined never to affix His signa-

gure :g another Treaty, without a positive certainty of its being accepted by the
enate. -

In the absénce of any counterproposal from Calhoun and without
further instructions than those of Decemnber 28, 1843 (cited above),
Pakenham could do no inore than was dome. (There were later
instructions, but they did not alter or go beyond those cited; Paken-
hain Papers, F.O. 115:85, Nos. 45 and 47, November 1 and 18, 1844.)
By those instructions he was limited (territorially) to the British
offer of 1826 plus the making of “all the Ports within de Fuca’s
Inlet, and South of the 49* parallel of latitude, free Ports’’; and by
August 29, 1844, Pakenham had let Aberdeen know that he agreed’
WitiuCalhoun’s view that no boundary south of that parallel would
obtain the assent of the Senate, even if Calhoun could bring himself
to accede to it -(¢bid., F.O. 5:407, despatch No: 99). There were
only two other courses within Pakenham’s authority; the first of these
was to propose arbitration, as he did, though feeling pretty well
assured 1 advance that it would not be acceptable to either Calhoun
or the Senate (ibid., ¥.0. 5:409, despatch No. 140, December 29,
1844, and F.0. 5:424, No. 10, January 29, 1845). The other was to
propose an extension of the ““joint occupation’’ for a further term of
ten years; and this was cledrly impossible, if for no other reason,
because of the sentiment in Congress, as Pakenham reported (ibid.,
F.0. 5:409, despatch No. 134, Decemnber 12, 1844). :

Evidence of the views of the House of Representatives was later
disclosed by the passage by that body on Februarfr 3, 1845, by a
vote of 140 to 59, of a bill ““to orgamze a territorial government in
the Oregon Territory, and for other purposes”. By the terms of that
long project, the territory to be orgamzed was the entire region in
dispute up to 54°40’ north latitude; and by section 43, the final
section, the President was required ‘‘to cause due notice to be given
to the British government of the desire and intention of the govern-
ment of the Umted States to annul and abrogate’’-the convention of
August 6, 1827 (Document 56; see Congressional Globe, XIV, 236,
February 3, 1845, and appendix, 44)..
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The bill failed, as no action was taken on it in the Senate (ibid.,
387-88, March 3, 1845); but Calhoun was chagrined at the action of
the House, according to Pakenhain’s report of an interview at the
former’s residence on the day of the passage of the bill by that body
(Pakenhain Papers, F.O. 5:424, despatch No. 11, February 4, 1845):

He seems to be a good deal mortified and disappointed by what has occurred
in the House of Representatives, but He flatters Himself that the progress of the
mischief may yet be arrested by a Message which He proposes to recommend to
the President to send to Congress explaining the causes which led to the post-
ponement of the Negotiation until a late period of last year, and expressing the
expectation that the efforts of the two Governments to accomplish an amicable
settlement of the question may yet be successful.!

The Oregon question was not new in Congress; it had been dis-
cussed there froin time to time since 1819 (see ““The Federal Relations
of Oregon’’, by Lester Burrell Shippee, in Oregon Historical Quar-
terly, XIX, 111-33, 283-333; see also Carey, History of Oregon,
308-12, 482-92; references for the period 1828—46 are in Hasse,
Index to United States Documents Relating to Foreign Affairs, II,
1178-96); but congressional and public interest had naturally grown
along with the increasing American emigration to the QOregon country. -
(In “Influence of American Settlement upon the Oregon Boundary
Treaty of 1846, by Leslie M. Scott; in Oregon Historical Quarterly,
XXIX, 1-19, the numbers of immigrants from the United States
are thus given: 137 in 1842; 875 in 1843; 1,475 in 1844; 3,000 in 1845;
see also Merk, “The Oregon Pioneers and the Boundary”, in
American Historical Review, XXIX, 681-99). ‘

. The Oregon question naturally bulked much larger in American
eyes than in British. On the map ‘‘contiguity’’ was just as relevant
north of the 49th parallel as it was to the south; but both for that time
and for. the years to come, England appeared much more remote
from the northwest coast of America than did the country whence
led the Oregon Trail. From the history of the question there were
inevitably points of honor or pride to consider; but the material
interests of the one side and the other in the Oregon country were
not, la.rge; to Ainerican sentiment, however, it was the future that
counted, as these were interests of pioneers, aiding expansion of
the Republic to the Pacific; and the only British settlements west of
the Rocky Mountains were the establishments of the Hudson’s Bay
Compeany, enjoying & grant of trade (exclusive as to British subjects)
in the region and exercising there extensive powers of government.
(For the grant of May 30, 1838, and the charter of the comnpany of
" May 2, 1670, see Great Britain, House of Commons, Accounts and
Papers, XXVIII, papers relative to the Hudson’s Bay Company
ordered printed August 8, 1842; by 1845 the Hudson’s Bay Company
had ‘‘established their principal settlement on Vancouver’s Island’’;
see the letter of Lord Aberdeen to Sir Robert Peel of October 17,
1845, cited and quoted in part below; the interests of the company

3611 Fé)zr the message of President Tyler of February 19, 1845, see Richardson, IV,
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and its ‘“‘shift of base’” are both carefully examined by Merk in ‘The
Oregon Pioneers and the Boundary’’, American Historical Review,

X, 681-99; for detailed statements of the properties of the
Hudson’s Bay Company and of the Puget’s Sound Agricultural
Company on .the mainland south of the 49th parallel, see their
"memorials, of April 8 and 10, 1865, respectively, presented to the
Commissioners under the treaty of July 1, 1863, in the papers of the
¢British and American Joint Commission for the Final Settlement of
the Claims of the Hudson’s Bay and Puget’s Sound Agricultural
Companies”.) Lord Aberdeen could write of the Oregon question
that ““the interests involved are of no great moment” (letter to Peel
of October 17, 1845, above mentioned); but any such opinion was ini-
possible at Washington.

Tae ProrosaL oF PresipeENT . PoLk

The Oregon question was becoming more acute; the Democratic
Convention in May 1844 had resolved ‘“That our title to the whole
of the territory of Oregon is clear and unquestionable; that no portion
of the same ought to be ceded to England or any other power’’ (Niles’
Weekly Register, LXVI, 227, June 8, 1844); accordingly, “fifty-four
forty or fight’’ was a slogan during the presidential campaign of that
year; and when President Polk in his inaugural address of March 4,
1845, quoted the words ‘“clear and unquestionable’” (Richardson, -
IV, 381), popular feeling was aroused in both countries; the possi-
bility of war was openly discussed; and it was not forgotten that in
the previous year James Buchanan, then Senator from Pennsylvania,
and from March 6, 1845, Secretary of State, had said (on March 12,
1844; Congressional Gloi)e, X111, sppendix, 345):

Thus the territory in dispute embraces that vast region extending along the
Pacific ocean, from the forty-second degree of north latitude to fifty-four degrees
and forty minutes north, and running east along these.respective parallels of
latitude to the summit of the Rocky mountains. Now, sir, to the whole of this
ttlarri_torzzto every foot of it—1I believe most firmly that we have a clear and con-
clusive title.

The. inaugural address of Polk was deemed by Aberdeen to have
“impressed a very serious character on our actual relations with the
United States’’; that portion of former mstructions to Pakenham
which authorized an extension for a fixed term of years of the con-
vention of August 6, 1827, was canceled ; and the danger that the ter-
mination of the convention of 1827 (by notice from the United
States) would be followed by “a local collision’”” which might ‘‘not
improbably lead to war itself’’, was in mind (Aberdeen to Pakenham,
April 6, 1845; Pakenham Papers, F.O. 115 : 88, instruction No. 21;

ashington Papers, V, 223-24, but dated April 3, 1845). The lan-
guage used by Sir Robert Peel in the Commons and by the Earl
of Aberdeen in the Lords on aﬁgrﬂ 4 was g §1§priate to a situation
deemed to be grave (see Hansard, 3d series, IX, 120-24, 193-99);
and Aberdeen thus wrote to the Queen on March 27 (Selections from.
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. the Correspondence of 'Georigj, Earl of Aberdeen, 1845, 102-3; a
copy of this volume is in the 'brary._of Congress):

The language of the new President is menacing, but he will have been made
fully aware of the determination of Your Majesty’s Government to uphold at
all hazards the rights and honour of this country.

Pakenham, however, soon learned that the negotiation was not to
be suspended. His first two conversations with James Buchanan,
Secretary of State, are thus reported (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5 : 425,
despatch No. 40, March 29, 1845): .

Since the Installation of the New Government, 1 have had two conversations
-with Mr Buchanan, Mr Calhoun’s successor in the office of Secretary of State.

The first was on the occasion of a visit of ceremony which I paid Him on
receiving official notice of His appointment, on which occasion He was profuse
in professions of His desire to contribute by every means in His power to the
continuation of a good understanding with England. ¢ Whatever opinions I
“may have expressed’’ He said ‘‘in the Senate or elsewhere of an unfriendly
‘‘character towards. England, you will find that while I remain in ‘this office,
‘“neither Her Majesty’s Government, nor Yourself, shall have the least cause
“to complain of me.”

I am very unwilling, My Lord, to say anything that might raise a doubt in
the mind of Her Majesty’s Government as to the sincerity of such a declaration,
made, as it was, with every appearance of earnestness and good will, but I must
observe, that if Mr Buchanan really acts up to His professions in this respect
-His conduct will exhibit a very remarkable contrast to that observed by Him of
late years in every thing relating to intercourse with England.

At our second Interview the subject of Oregon was introduced, when I took

_oceasion to inform Him of the Instructions which I had lately received from
Your Lordship (those contained in Your Lordship’s dispateh No. 8 of 3. Instant)
again to press on the Government of the United States, the expediency of resorting
‘to a settlement by arbitration, as the only practicable mode of finally adjusting
our differences on this important question. ’ )

Mr Buchanan observed that He had not yet had an opportunity of ascertaining
what might be the views of the President on this particular point connected
with the Oregon Question—but He said He would not fail to take advantage of
the earliest moment to direct the President’s attention to it.

For His own part although He did not seem to be much taken with the idea
of an arbitration He did-not appear prepared altogether to reject it,—what He
said was, that He did not at all despair of effecting a settlement of the question
by Negotiation, ‘‘by adopting” to use His own words ‘‘the principle of giving
and taking’’.

Perhaps his intention may be to propose the parallel of 49. to the Ses, as a
Boundary, leaving to Great Britain the entire possession of Van Couver’s Island,
with an agreement for the free Navigation of the Columbia River.

If such an arrangement would suit the views of Her Majesty’s Government
for the sake of getting rid of the dispute, I am quite sure, My Lord, that the only
way to obtain it will be to wait till it is proposed by the United States’ Govern-
ment, for if that proposal or any other, involving Concession on the part of
Great Britain were to originate with us, I have not the least doubt that it would
be rejected, in the hope of obtaining ultimately still greater advantages.

Aberdeen welcomed the news that the negotiations were to go on;
but in the answering mstruction he followed lines préviously laid
down and was vague as to the attitude to be taken toward such an’
American propossl as Pakenham had suggested as possible (zbid., |
F.0. 115 : 88, instruction No. 22, April 18, 1845): -
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It now appears that Mr Buchanan whoni we had always considered as one of
the most decided opponents of any compromise respecting the Oregon Territory
has expressed himself to you as prepared to adopt *‘the principle of giving and
taking’. It is not improbable therefore that he may submit to you some pro-
posal of compromise on the part of his Government. We entirely concur in
your opinion that it may be wise to withhold any further Proposition on our
part until we shall have received Mr Buchanan’s Proposal, which will probably
be too unfavourable to be accepted by us. You might, then, as a counter-
groposal, inform Mr Buchanan that, in addition to the Terms alread% offered

y us, we are prepared to allow all the Ports within the Disputed Territory
South of 49° North Latitude, whether on the main land or on Vancouver’s
Island, to be made perpetually free Ports.

Should no proposal be put forward by Mr -Buchanan, you will use your own
discretion as to originating the offer respecting the free Ports. In order to
prove to the United States’ Government, and to place on record the extent to
which Her Majesty’s Government are disposed to carry their desire to arrive at
an amicable adjustment, they would wish that, if it can be conveniently intro-
duced, that proposition should be submitted to Mr Buchanan. Of this, however, -
they leave you to be the Judge.

Beyond this degree of compromise, Her Majesty’s Government could not
consent to go. Should you therefore have an opportunity of making such a
Proposal, and should it be rejected, you will have no alternative but to recur to
the demand for an Arbitration.

But with the foregoing instruction went a private letter froin
Aberdeen of the same date, referring thus to the proposal envisaged
by Pakenham (Selections from the Correspondence of George, Earl of
Aberdeen, 1845, 141):

I am glad to receive your report of Mr. Buchanan’s language, and hope that
the spirit of his conduct will be found in unison with it. If Mr. Buchanan
should propose an extension of the 49th parallel to the sea, as the line of boundary,
leaving us in possession of the whole of Vancouver’s Island, and the free entrance
into the Straits of Juan de Fuca; although I would put forward in answer our
proposal described in my despatch this day, I should not like to regard his pro-
posal as perfectly inadmissible. It is possible that by soine modifications it
might be accepted, although I do not think it at all likely, and of course you will
give no encouragement to the notion, but recur to arbitration in the event of our
terms being rejected. At the same time, you might send Mr. Buchanan’s pro-
posal, if made, for the consideration of Her Majesty’s Government. :

I think it should be clearly understood that the navigation of the Columbia
should be common to both parties, and the Ports within the Straits of Juan de
Fuca, and south of latitude 49° should be free Ports, by whomsoever they might
be occupied.

Itis to be noted that the terins outlined in the foregoing letter hardly
vary from those of the letter of Aberdeen to Pakenham of March 4,
1844, cited above. ‘ : 4

In conversations of May 12 and May 28 Pakenham was informed by
Buchanan that a reference of the Oregon question to arbitration was
not favored by the President and that an American proposition for
settleinent would be made but would not be presentexf until the sue-
- cessor to Edward Everett at London was ready to proceed to his post
(Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5 : 426, despatches Nos. 53 and 60, May 13
and 29, 1845). Louis McLane, who was commissioned as Minister
at London on June 16, 1845, sailed on the packet of July 16 and -
reached London on July 31 (Historical Society of Pennsylvania,
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Buchanan Papers, copy of a letter of McLane to Polk of August 4,
1845, quoted in part below).

The American proposal was made in a note dated July 12, 1845,
delivered by the Secretary of State to the British Minister on July 16
(D.S., 7 Notes to the British Legation, 76-89; Senate Document No.
1, 20th Congress, 1st session, serial 470, pp. 163-69); the delay of
four days (from Saturday to Wednesday) in the delivery of the note,
whether so calculated or not, made it impossible for Pakenham to
send a copy to Aberdeen by the packet of July 16, on which McLane
sailed ; the latter, as will be seen, had a copy with him; it was Paken-
ham’s despatch of July 29 (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5:427, No.
87) which enclosed to Aberdeen copies both of the American proposal
and of Pakenham’s rejection thereof; Pakenham knew by July 13 that
he was to receive the proposal ‘‘in the course of next week ’’; he took for
granted that McLane was fully informed of its terms; and he con-
sidered that Buchanan ‘“may have thought it pohitick to keep back His
promised communication until after M* M®Lanes departure, in order
that that Gentleman may have an opportunity of conversing with
Your Lordship respecting it, before it 1s formally submitted for Your
Lordship’s Consideration” (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5:427, despatch
No. 79, July 13, 1845).

In his note Buchanan stated that he ‘“now proceeds to resume the
negotiation on the Oregon question at the point where it was left by
his predecessor’’; the question of title, particularly to “the territory
north of the valley cg" the Columbia”, was argued; the effect of
the Nootka Sound Convention of Octoher 28, 1790, was discussed,
and it was said that that convention was temporary in its nature and
was terminated by the war between Great Britain and Spain which
began in 1796. The proposal of the United States was thus set forth:

In view. of these facts, the President has determined to pursue the present
negotiation to its conclusion, upon the principle of compromise in which it com-
menced, and to make one more effort to adjust this long-pending controversy. In
this determination he trusts that the British Government will recognise his sincere
and anxious desire to cultivate the most friendly relations between the two coun-
tries, and to manifest to the world that he is actuated by a spirit of moderation.
He has, therefore, instructed the Undersigned again to propose to the Government
of Great Britain that the Oregon territory shall be divided between the two
countries by the forty-ninth parallel of north latitude from the Rocky Mountains
to the Pacific Ocean, offering, at the same time, to make free to Great Britain
any port or ports on Vancouver’s-Island south of this parallel which the British
Government may desire. He trusts that Great Britain may receive this proposi-
tion in the friendly spirit by which it was dictated, and that it may prove the
stable foundation of lasting peace and harmony between the two countries. The
line proposed will carry out the principle of continuity equally for both parties, by
extending the limits both of ancient Louisiaua and Canada to the Pacific along
the same parallel of latitude which divides them east of the Rocky Mountains;
and it will secure to each a sufficient number of commodious harbors on the
northwest coast of America.

Thus the American proposal went beyond that of 1826 in its offer
of free ports on Vancouver Island; but, on the other hand, in its
omission of any reference at all to rights of navigation of the Columbia
River, it was more restricted.
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On the same date as that of the American proposal (July 12, 1845)
instructions were written by Secretary of State Buchanan to Louis
McLane, who had been appointed to succeed Edward Everett as
Minister at London; the negotiations of 1818, 1824, and 1826 were
reviewed ; reference was made to the instructions of Secretary of State
Livingston to Martin Van Buren, Minister at London, of August 1,
1831; a cogy of the note to Pakenham of July 12, 1845, was enclosed ;
the attitude of Polk against the concession of any privilege of free
navigation of the Columbia River was strongly stated ; it was evidently
thought that the American proposal woulg {e discussed at London;
and the final paragraphs were these (ID.S., 15 Instructions, Great
Britain, 271-81; Senate Document No. 489, 29th Congress, 1st session,
serial 478, pp. 27-32):

Had.this been a new question, you are fully aware that the President never
would have presented such a.proposition; but it must not be forgotten that the
American Government never dies, although the agents who administer it are

. perpetually changing. Its course of policy towards foreign nations should not
change with every changing administration, but ought to be uniform and con-
sistent, unless for reasons of imperative necessity. .

From what has been said, you will perceive how wholly impossible it is for the
President to accept any terms of coinpromise which would bring the British south
of the parallel of 49°; and this you may intimate to the British Ministers in con-
versation, should you deem it wise under all the circumstances. The only excep-
tion to this rule which could possibly be made might be the concession, for an
adequate equivalent, of the small cap of Vancouver’s Island, south of this latitude,
which would be of no importance to the United States, whilst it is of considerable
value to Great Britain. ) .

You will enforce our proposition upon the British Ministry with all the enlight-
ened ability of which you are so eminently the master. Should it be rejected,
the President will be relieved from the embarragsment in which he has been
involved by the acts, offers, and declarations of his predecessors. Afterwards,
if the difficulty can only be resolved by the sword, we may then appeal with ¢on-
fidence to the world for the equity and justice of our cause, and may anticipate
the smiles of Heaven upon the right.

Comparing the terms of the American offer of July 12, 1845, with
the clauses of the Oregon Treaty as signed, it will be seen that the
differences of moment are two only (for Articles 3 and 4 of the treaty,
dealing with the possessory r.ghts of British subjects and of the
Hudson’s Bay Company, and with the property of its subsidiary, the
Puget’s Sound Agricultural Company, could gardly be regarded as
contentious; see the motion of Senator Edward A. Hannegan, of
Indiana, in Executive Journal, VII, 94-95); the treaty goes beyond
the offer in making provision (albeit somewhat limited in scope) for
the navigation of the Columbia River (Article 2); and by the treaty
the ‘““small cap of Vancouver’s Islana”, which had been said to be
“of no importance to the United States’’, is north of the line of
boundary. .

The proposal of this Government of July 12, 1845, was rejected by
the British Minister, without reference to his Government, by his
note of July 29 (D.é., 23 Notes from the British Legation; Senate
‘Document No. 1, 29th Congress, 1st session, serial 470, pp. 170-77).

125186°—87——5 :
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That note (presented on July 30; see Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5 : 429,
despatch No. 115, October 29, 1845, enclosure) added ‘“a few observa-
tions in reply’’ to the arguments of Buchanan; the Nootka Sound
Convention of 1790 was said to be ‘“in full and complete force up to
the present mnoment’’; the merits of the respective claims, insofar as
they rested on ‘‘discovery, exploration, and settlement”, were com-
pared; the ‘‘strongest possible claim to the exclusive [British] posses-
sion” of Vancouver Island was maintained; it was thought that the
facts were not ‘‘of that complete and exclusive character which would
justify a claim [by the United States]} to the whole valley of the Colum-
ia’’; and there followed these paragraphs: :

After this exposition of the viéws entertained by the British Government
respecting the relative value and importance of the British and American Claims,
The American Plenipotentiary will not be surprised to hear that the Undersigned
does not feel at liberty to accept the proposal offerred by the American Plenipoten-
tiary for the settlement of the Question.

This proposal in fact offers less than that tendered by the American Plenipoten-
tiaries in the Negotiation of 1826, and declined by the British Government.

On that occasion it was proposed that the Navigation of the Columbia should
be made free to both Parties.

On this nothing is said in the proposal to which the Undersigned has now the
honor to reply, while with respect to the proposed freedom of the Ports on Van-
couver’s Island, south of latitude 49° the facts which have been appealed to in this
paper, as giving to Great Britain the strongest claim to the possession of the
whole Island would seem to deprive such a prcX)osal of any value.

The Undersigned therefore trusts that the American Plenipotentiary will be
prepared to offer some further proposal for the settlement of the Oregon Question,
more Consistent with fairness and equity and with the reasonable expectations
of the British Government, as defined in the statement marked D [printed in
Senate Document No. 1, 29th Congress, 1st session, serial 470, f))p. 153-58], which
the Undersigned had the honor to present to the American Plenipotentiary at
the [e]arly part of the present Negotiation.

Pakenham subsequently argued to Buchanan, without success,
that ‘“he had not rejected our proposition, but had merely refused to
accept it” (D.S., 15 Instructions, Great Britain, 266, November 5,
1845); but the unhappy final paragraph quoted was regarded as a
rejection of the American offer, both at London and at Washington
(indeed, Pakenham himself wrote in his despatch of July 29, 1845,
above cited, that he had ‘“felt obliged at once to reject’ the proposal
without referring it to. London for consideration); and its wording
was thought by Polk to be, ‘“to say the least of it, scarcely courteous
or respectful’”’ (Polk’s Diary, I,.2). '

WIiTHDRAWAL OF THE AMERICAN PROPOSAL

The American answer of August 30, 1845, to the British note of the
previous July 29 was one which Pakenham naturally communicated
to Aberdeen with ‘“great concern” (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5:428,
despatch No. 95, September 13, 1845); it embodied a reasoned argu-
ment for the American title to the Oregon country, the most impres-
sive presentation of the case that had been written; it then adverted
to ‘‘the reasons which actuated the President to offer a proposition
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so liberal to Great Britain”’, and thus concluded (D.S., 7 Notes to the
British Legation, 89-121; Senate Document No. 1, 29th Congress, 1st
session, serial 470, pp. 177-92): '

And how has this proposition been received by the British Plenipotentiary? It
has been rejected without even a reference to his own Government. Nay, more,
the British Plenipotentiary, to use his own language, ‘‘trusts that the American
Plenipotentiary will be prepared to offer some farther proposal for the gettlement
of the Oregon question, more consistent with fairness and equity, and with the
reasonable expectations of the British Government.”

Under such circumstances, the Undersigned is instructed by the President to
say, that he owes it to his own country, and a just appreciation of her title to the
Oregon territory, to withdraw the proposition to the British Government which
had been made under his direction; and it is hereby accordingly withdrawn.

In taking this necessary step, the President still cherishes the hope that this

long-pending controversy may yet be finally adjusted in such a manner as not
to disturb the peace or interrupt the harmony now so happily subsisting between
the two nations.

The note of August 30, 1845, withdrawing the American offer of
the previous July 12, was written and delivered by the express direc-
tion of President Polk; Jamés Buchanan, Secretary of State, was not
in accord with the pohcy; ‘“‘he did not think it was the part of wise
statesmanship to deliver such a paper in the existing state of our
relations with Mexico”; Buchanan urged delay, at least ‘“until late
in September”’; but Polk had determined on his course and was not
to be moved; and he thought that it would be for the British Govern-
ment to decide on the next step: ‘‘Let our proposition be absolutely
withdrawn & then let the Brittish Minister take his own course. If
he chooses to close the negotiation he can do so. If he choodses to
make a proposition hie can as well do it without our invitation as
with it. Let him take the one course or the other, the U. States will
stand in the right in the eyes of the whole civilized world, and if war
was the consequence England would be in the wrong.” Polk saw
““no necessary connection between the two questions” of Oregon and
Mexico; ““we should do our duty towards both Mexico and Great
Brittain and firmly maintain our rights, & leave the rest to God and
the country.” The answer of Buchanan to this was that ‘‘he thought
God would not have much to do in justifying us in a war for the
country North of 49°” (see Polk’s Diary, I, 1-12, passim, August
26-30, 1845). It was the ‘‘important conversation’’ which “took

lace In Cabinet” on August 26, 1845, which moved Polk to keep his
iary (ibid., IT, 100-1).

Before the decision on the character of the American note of
August 30, 1845, had been taken, Polk had received (on August 19)
his first news from Louis McLane at London, accurately estimating
the attitude of the British Government. In that letter of August 4
(Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Buchanan Papers) McLane
~ wrote as follows: :

Meantime I have approached such sources as have been accessible to me; and
I have also conversed with Mt Bates from whom the information in Mt Sturgis’s
letter to Mr Bancroft proceeded. His means of information not less than his
good sense & devntion to our Country entitles his communications to great
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‘respect. He was mainly instrumental in procuring the article from Mrs Senior
with which you are already acquainted & of submitting it previously to its pub-
lication to Lord Aberdeen, who, it is pretty certain, gave it his approbation.!
The result of all I have learned is that this Government is earnestly desirous of
adjusting the Oregou question, & willing to do so upon liberal terms. Their chief
difficulty arises from the opposition & influence of the Hudson’s Bay Company.
he Government will be disposed, I infer, under these circumstances, to adopt
the 49tk parallel to the straits of Fuca, and thence by a line giving the whole of
Vancouver’s island to the British side; but will insist, at the same time, upon a
continuance for a longer period of existing privileges to the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany. The duration of this period, it is supposed, will form the most difficult
point of the compromise.

STANDSTILL OF THE NEGOTIATIONS

The rejection, followed by the withdrawal, of the American pro-
posal of July 12 brought the negotiations to a stand, a result which
was quite contrary to the wishes of the British Government; the
course of Pakenham was not approved by his superiors; the ‘“regret”
‘of Her Majesty’s Government that the American proposal had been
rejected by the note of July 29 and had not been referred to London
was stated in two instructions (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 115:89,
Nos. 64 and 72, October 3 and November 28, 1845; Pakenham’s
official apologia 1s in bid., F.O. 51429, despatch No. 114, of October
29; there are also private letters which are in Selections from the
Correspondence of George, Earl of Aberdeen, 1845: Aberdeen to
Pakenham, October 3, 1845, pp. 326-28; Pakenham to Aberdeen,
October 28, 1845, pp. 482-84; Aberdeen to Pakenham, December 3,
1845, pp. 507-9; the subject was discussed in writing with Sir Robert
Peel; see tbid., 328-29,. Peel to Aberdeen, October 2, 1845, thinking
the tone of Pakenham’s note ‘“needlessly harsh and peremptory’’;
Aberdeen to Peel, October 3, 1845, pp. 329-31; Peel to Aberdeen,
October 3, 1845, p. 331; Aberdeen to Peel, November 21, 1845, p.
485; Peel to Aberdeen, November 22, 1845, pp. 485-86).

The expressed views of Lord Aberdeen were thus described by
Louis McLane, Minister at London, in his despatch of October 3,
1845 (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 9):

I received on the 29 ultimo, your despatch, Number 9, dated the 13t¢
Septemver, transmitting a copy of your last note (30** August 1845) to Mr
Packenham relative to the Oregon question.

On the day following, I was invited by Lord Aberdeen, in the note hereto
appended, to an interview at his house in Argyll street, which I granted accord-
ingly. The object of the interview, as I had anticipated related exclusively vo
the posture in which the negotiations between the two governments had been
placed by your note of the 30t August to Mr Packenham, ard the withdrawal
of the proposition, which the President had previously directed. .

1 Joshua Bates, of London, an American born and reared in New England, was
a member of the firm of Barings. William Sturgis, of Boston, had there delivered
a lecture on the Oregon question on January 22, 1845, which was subsequently
published in a pamphlet; he was related to George Bancroft, then Secretary of
the Navy. The article by Nassau W. Senior, notable British economist and
friend of Bates, was in the London Examiner jor April 26, 1845. See Moore,
International Arbitrations, I, 224-25; Washington Papers, V, 34-38; and Merk,
‘‘British Government Propaganda and the Oregon Treaty’”, in American His-
torical Review, XL, 38-62.



~ Great Britain : 1846 37

Lord Aberdeen not only lamented, but censured the rejection of our proposi-
tion by Mr Packenham without referring it to his Government; and frankly
confessed the embarrassing é)osition in which the withdrawal of the proposition
by the President had placed this Government. He also stated that if it were
the desire or intention of the President, to terminate the negotiation at its pres-
ent stage, without further effort towards an amicable adjustment, Mr Packen-
ham’s treatment of our proposition, had afforded him a good opportunity of
doing so, and that, in the withdrawing our proposition, he had acquired in this
resgect, a decided advantage. . .

e stated that if Mr Packenham had communicated the American proposi-
tion to the government here, as he was expected to have done, he, Lord Aberdeen,
would have taken it up.as the basis of his action, and entertained little doubt
that he would have been enabled to propose modifications which might ultimately
have resulted in an adjustment mutually satisfactory to both vernments;
and he observed that if it had not been withdrawn, after Mr Packenham’s note,
be would have disavowed his rejection, and proceeded to treat it as an open
proposition. He further said that he would be disposed even now; to do in sub-
stance the same thing, and submit & new proposal, if he could be certain that
1 withdrawing the proposition the President did not intend to terminate the
negotiation, and to use Mr Packenham’s mistake for that purpose. His great
desire obviously was to escape from the difficulty, which in his view, the Pres-
ident’s withdrawal of our proposition bad interposed to a continuance of the
negotiation, by a new proposal from this Government; and although, he did
not state particularly what course it would be his duty to take, if this difficulty
could not be surmounted, he intimated that, a ldst resort towards an amicable
adjustment might probably be a proposition for arbitration. He did not con-
ceal that his application to me was to ascertain officially the President’s real
intentgé)éls, and the motives by which, in withdrawing the proposition, he was
actuated. :

- Aithough I had no right absolutely to conclude that the President had changed
the views which at the time of my departure from the United States, he enter-
tained as to the terms upon which he might ultimately assent to adjust this con-
troversy; and although in your last note to Mr Packenham you repeated the
President’s hope that it might yet be finally adjusted in a manner not to disturb
the peace, or interrupt the harmony subsisting between the two nations—
which would almost necessarily imply further negotiation—, and in your private
note [not, it seems, now available] to me expressed the opinion that a conciliatory
course on the part of both Governments would be necessary for the preservation
of peace; nevertheless, without a clearer insight into the actual state of affairs
at home, and a better knowledge of the infiuence of public sentiment in the
United States upon the President’s mind, than your private letter afforded me;
and in the absence not only of any positive instruction, but of an intimation of
the course which in the present unexpected emergency I should be expected to
pursue, I did not feel authorized to take any step, or sa¥’ anything here, which
could possibly interfere with or weaken any advantage the President had intended,
or might desire to avail himself of, from the posture in which he had been placed.
_I thought it best to leave him entirely uncommitted to any course that might
not be fairly deducible from your note to Mr Packenham, and at the same time,
without inviting or suggesting to this Government to offer a new proposal,
afford it no opportunity from my silence, or from anything I might say of throw-
ing upon the President the responsibility of terminating the negotiation, if he
should not desire to assume it. S

I accordingly stated that I was compelled to regard the rejection of our overture
by Mr Packenham, without reference he.e, and the course which the negotiation
in consequence had taken at Washington, as dispensing, at least for the present,
with any agency I might have been expected to take in it; that my recent des-
patches had acquainted me with the actual state of things, without contemnplating,
that in the present guncture, my interference conld be needed or useful; and
that anything I could say under these circumstances would not only be informal
and unauthorized, but in a great degree conjectural.

I did not fail, however, to take the oceasion to press upon Lord Aberdeen, the
great difficulties with which, in the present state of public sentiment in the
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United States, the President could concede, even, that which he had done in the

roposition he had authorized. 1 adverted at some length, and with what force
fcould employ to the indignant feeling, produced with intelligent and patriotic
men of all parties in the United States, by the interference of the Governments
of Great Britain and France in opposition to our negotiations with Texas; and
to the unsparing, and intemperate, and very reprehensible abuse incessantly
poured out, against the Government, and Ipeople of the United States, by the
whole English press, without exception. I.assured him, that he could not be
too foreibly impressed, with the effects which this treatment had already pro-
duced in the mind of every man among us, who had any attachment to his country,
and to its institutions, and of the utter impossibility that these effects could be
disregarded by any administration in its negotiations with this Government.
When, therefore, under such eircuinstances, a concession offered by the President
was rejected, and in a manner so abrupt and unceremonious, without even an
attempt to modify its terms, it was difficult to imagine any other course that
he could have taken, consistent with his own dignity, and the rights of his coun-
try. I proceeded to state, at the same time, that I had no reason to conclude,
or to beleive, that in taking this necessary step, the President supposed that
the withdrawal of his offer would preclude this Government from naking & new
proposal, if it should think proper to do so.

At the instance of Lord Aberdeen, in the interview of Wednesday [October 1,
1845]), it was understood, that we should reflect upon the subject until the day -
following, and our conversation was accordingly resumed yesterday at the
Foreign office. Subsequent reflection had not varied the views, I had pre-
viously felt it my duty to present, and I had, therefore, only to restate them.

The subject in the interval had evidently been one of consultation with Sir
Robert Peel; and Lord Aberdeen stated that for the present, he should in his
public despatech to Mr Packenham, disapprove of the course he had adopted in
regard to the proposition offered in your first note, and leave him in informal or
private conversations with you, to ascertain, if practicable, the best mode, in
which, if at all, the negotiation may be resumed, or, with what expectation of
an amicable arrangement, some new proposal may be originated.

I deem it my duty to state, that from my intercourse with Lord Aberdeen, as
well before, as since the date of your despatch Number 9, I have been led to
suppose that this Government is sincerely disposed to pursue a conciliatory
course, and is anxious to adjust the Oregon question upon terms mutually reason-
able and satisfactory to both parties. The solicitude felt at the present posture
of the negotiation would seem to make this clear. The frankness, and sincerity
for which I have always found Lord Aberdeen distinguished forbid me to doubt
his strong and uniform professious; and, in our interview yesterday, he assured
me that in all his feelings Sir Robert Peel fully participated.

It was quite obvious to ine, that Lord Aberdeen had become convinced in his
own mind, though in what way, I do not pretend to conjecture, that the terms
which it was his intention ultimately to propose, or assent to, would be accepted
by the President, and that on this account, he particularly regretted the inter-
ruption in the negotiation without affording an opportunity for that purpose.

Although it was impossible for me, in the present posture of the affair, and in
my peculiar situation to attempt to draw from him a distinct avowal of the terms
he intended to propose, and what he hoped would be acceptable, I beleive they
are such, ag I stated, in my first letter to the President [of August 4, 1845, cited
and quoted in part above], after my arrival in London; and I still beleive, that if
such should be satisfactory at home, they might be obtained, without great diffi-
culty, in the progress of the negotiation, if the President should think proper to
continue it. That the proposition recently rejected, by Mr Packenham, would be
ultimately accepted without modification, I have not the least ground to beleive
or conjecture.

When the foregoing report of McLane of his conversations with
Aberdeen was rea§ in’-(%abinet (October 21, 1845), Polk remaimed ‘“well
satisfied with the ground we occupied on the subject’”; but he made
.one highly important statement to the effect that if any new *‘propo-
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sition” were made by the British Government, “he would either
reject it, or submit it to the Senate for their advice before he acted
on [it], according to its character’’; the procedure of the following
June was thus early announced; but when Buchanan, sensing at once
a possible way out, inquired if he might inform the British Minister
of the decision to submit to the Senate ‘‘a proposition of a character
to justify it”’, Polk refused permission; am{) the British Government
“would not, he was sure, make any new proposition which we could
accept”’ (Polk’s Diary, I, 62-64).

The conflict of opinion between the President and the Secretary of
State continued; Polk, in a conversation with Senator Thomas H. Ben-
ton, of Missouri (who believed in the British title to the mainland north
of 49°), said that he “was now disposed to assert our extreme right to
the whole country’’; the view of Polk, on the basis of ‘‘the proposi-
tion having been rejected by the Brittish Minister”’, was wholly un-
changed by the statements made by Aberdeen to McLane; Buchanan
fayored a conciliatory course; he ‘repeated what he had often before
said, that he was willing to settle the question [at] 49° degrees of North
Latitude yielding the Cap of Vancouver’s Island to Great Brittain
but not the free navigation of the Columbia River’’ (¢bid., 69-72,75-76,
October. 24 and 28, 1845).

TeeE Nore WrraprawN AND THE NoreE Nor DELIVERED

Aberdeen sought for a way to resume the negotiations; in his in-
struction of October 3, 1845 (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 115 : 89, No.
64), he wrote to the effect that a renewal of the offer to refer the Oregon
question to the arbitration ‘‘of some independent and friendly State”
seewned perhaps the only course open; but the possibility of obtaining
the WitIIl)draWal of the two notes (Pakenham’s of July 29 and Bu-.

.chanan’s of August 30, thus leaving the American proposal of July 12
as the latest cominunication between the Governments) was dis-
cussed by Aberdeen both orally and in writing with Sir Robert Peel
(Selections fromn the Correspondence of George, Earl of Aberdeen,
1845, 328-31); the latter had some doubts, but approved the private
letter to Pakenham which Aberdeen wrote in the following terms on
the %ate of the instruction last mentioned (ibid., 326-28, October 3,
1845): :

From the present state of the Oregon negotiation, I fear that we are almost
under the necessity of regarding it as entirely closed; indeed it is clear that unless
some vigorous effort be made to revive it, this must inevitably be the case.

I have officially expressed to you to-day my regret that you did not accept Mr.
Buchanan’s proposal for the purpose of reference to your own Government.
You might have added that, although you had no authority to agree to such a
proposal, and could not anticipate its success here, nevertheless the matter was
too important finally to decide without giving us an opportunity of considering it,
more especially as modifications mnight possibly be suggested which would render
the proposal more acceptable. This would have done no harm, and would have
left the matter in our own hands to deal with as should be found most expedient.

If Mr. Buchanan had replied to your note by simply refusing to make any fur-
ther concession, we might have taken possession of his offer, and have replied by
making some counter-proposition of our own. This would have been the natural
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and regular course; but as Mr. Buchanan has now withdrawn his former proposal
_altogether, in consequence of its summary rejection by you, we are left without
any certain basis upon which to proceed.

You appear to think that the United States Government expect much from
Mr. M'Lane in the management of this negotiation; but Mr. M’'Lane assures me
that he is entirely without instructions. He is most anxious to contribute to
the friendly settlement of the question, and, indeed, only came here in the hope
of doing so. He therefore deeply regrets the present posture of the affair; and
he tells me that the President and Mr. Buchanan are equally distressed at the
character which it has now assumed. Should this really be the case, there
is a possibility of the mischief being repaired, and the whole subject replaced in
its former position. But this will require much delicacy and discretion in the
management, and must not be attempted without reasonable hope of success.

After a good deal of reflection, it appears to me that the best and only chance
of removing our present difficulty will be for you to go at once to Mr. Buchanan,
and to tell him fairly that your own Government have regretted the course
which you had adopted in rejecting his proposal, without transmitting it home for
their consideration. You may add that you are ready to withdraw your former
note of rejection, and to address another to him in place of it, of the nature which
I have already pointed out. In this case he will of course withdraw his reply,
and the negotiation will then resume its natural progress, as if nothing of the
kind had occurred.

It will be essential, however, not to let them suppose that Mr. Buchanan’s
proposal will be accepted by us; on the contrary, they should understand that it
will not; but it forms a basis which admits of such modifications as may possibly

Jead to a settlement, should both parties be really desirous to arrive at it. At
all events, should we at last fail, we shall then recur to our offer of arbitration
with a better effect.

The value of the suggestion which I have now made must very much depend
upon the real feelings of the President and Mr. Buchanan. - At present they
occupy a position which perhaps they may be unwilling to abandon; for un-
doubtedly they will stand well towards the Congress and the country. But if
Mr. M'Lane be correct in his description of their regret at the course which the
matter has now taken, it is very possible that they may be willing to adopt a
proceeding by which everythinlg would be effectually rectified.

Under these circumstances 1 cannot give you any positive instructions, but
must leave the matter to your own discretion. You must act according to your
knowledge of the parties, and the real state of the case. Mr. M’'Lane seemed to
think that something of this kind might afford a solution of the difficulty; but I
did rot tell him that I should suggest this course to you, because I wished to
leave you free, either to adopt it or not, as on full consideration you might think
best. But I have no doubt that he will write in such terms to his Government
as may predispose them to receive favourably a proposition of this nature.

P.8.—Should my suggestion happily prove successful, you will of course
cancel my despatch No. [64].

Pursuant to the discretionary powers thus granted, Pakenham
acted; his report, with the copy of his withdrawn note of October 25,
follows (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5 : 429, despatch No. 115, October
29, 1845):

In consequence of what is stated in Your Lordships Dispatch Ne¢ 64 of 3¢
October, I though'it my duty to make an effort, in as far as such an effort could
be made without compromising the dignity of Her Majesty’s Government to
induce the American Secretary of State to retract His withdrawal of the proposal
contained in His paper of 127 July last and thus to allow the Negotiation for a
settlement of the Oregon Negotiation to go on to a natural conclusion.

What has passed on this occasion will, I think, satisfy Your Lordship that the
present Government of the United States approached the Negotiation with go
intention of settling the matter on fair terms,—by which I mean that thdir
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deliberate plan was either to dictate their own terms, or to come to no arrangément
at all; and thus that all regret at what lias happened will be removed from the
mind of Her Majesty’s Government. .

In my-first conversation with Mr Buchanan, immediately after the arrival of
the last Packet, He expressed the most conciliatory intentions on the point
immediately under consideration, saying that although His Government might
not like to go so far as to retract the withdrawal of His original proposal, they
would at all events authorize me to say that anything that Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment might think proper to propose with a view to an arrangement wouldreceive
the most respectful consideration—this He told me was His own opinion, but
that He -could say nothing conclusive on the subject—until He should have
consulted the President—and He requested me to see Him a%ain in a day or two.

At our next interview He repeated pretty nearly the same language, as He had
at first made use of, and when I asked Him if He had any objection to say some-
thing in writing to the same effect—He replied that if I liked to make a written
overture for the reopening of the Negotiation, He would submit my communica-
tion to the President, confidentially, and show me, also confidentially, the Draft
of the answer which the President might think proper to return, it being distinctly

- and expressly understood between us that according to what I might think of the
proposed answer I might withdraw my letter, or leaving it on record, accept the
answer returned to it.

The following day, I again called on Mr Buchanan—He told me that the Presi-
dent had not yet made up His mind liow to proceed, but that on the morrow, that
was to day, He would be prepared to show me the Draft of the intended Answer,
conformably to what had been agreed between us. )

To day I accordingly went to Him, when to my surprise, He told me that the
President had determined that I might either withdraw my letter, or abide by the
Answer, whatever it might be, that Mr Buchanan was to return to me.

It was obvious to me from this that the terms of the intended answer would be
such as only to make matters worse than they are at present, and I therefore
without hesitation withdrew my letter,—Mr Buchanan distinctly pledging
Himself that it should be considered strictly as ‘‘non avenu’”—and that no record
whatever of it had been preserved.

I beg leave to submit a copy of the letter in question, in which I trust Your
Lordship will find nothing to object to.

It ig true that it says plainly enough that Her Majesty’s Government were not
preparcd to accept the terms proposed by Mr Buchanan, as a settlement of the
question; Upon this point I imagine that Her Majesty’s Government did not
wish to affect any reserve or concealment, but I gave Him to understand that if
His proposal was allowed to subsist, it might lead to further Negotiation, and
thereby facilitate the accomplishment of the objeet which both Governments
have so much at heart. -

Thus then the matter stands at present, and if such a state of things can
scarcely fail to cause embarrassment and anxiety to Her Majesty’s Government,
I think there is ample consolation in the reflection that a Negotiation which began
by an avowal that the President ‘‘ would not have consented to yield any portion
““of the Oregon Territory, had He not felt embarrassed, if not committed by the
“acts of His Predecessors’’, afforded no reasonable prospect of an arrangement
such as Great Britain could agree to,—and therefore that the sooner the true
state of the case was made evident, the better.

It now only remains for me to keep in reserve for any emergency that may
arise, the offer which I am authorized again to make of referring the question at
issue to arbitration of some independent and friendly State.

[Enclosure—British note of October 25, 1845, wit_hdmwnl

I transmitted in due season to HMs Govt. the paper which I had the honor to
receive from you on 16t* July containing a proposal for the settlement of the
Oregon Question. )

I also transmitted a copy of the paper which I had the honor to present to you
on the 30tt of the same month in answer to your statement & proposal.
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Owing to circumstances which will doubtless have been made known to you
by the Minister of the United States in London, these papers had not been many
days in the hands of HM’s Govt. 80 as scarcely to allow time for that attentive
examination of them which the importance of the subject required, when they
were followed by your communication dated 80** Augt, in which you withdraw
the proposal contained in the previous communication on the ground that it had
been rejected by me without even a reference to my own Govt. This step on the
part of the Govt. of the United States is much regretted by HM’s Govt. because
although they were not prepared to accede to the terms set forth in your proposal
as a settlement of the question under Consideration—that proposal might have
led to further negotiation, thereby facilitating the accomplishment of what
both Govts have so much at heart, namely the satisfactory adjustment of the
only question likely in any way to cause difficulty or embarrassnient in the rela-
tions between the two Countries. .

HM'’s. Govt. will be glad to Lear again from the Govt. of the United States
on this subject.

And here it may not be out of place that I should request you for the sake of a
more perfect understanding between us, to read again with attention that part of
my statement in which I expressed to you my inability to accept your proposal—
‘you will find Sir, that I did not say that I rejected the proposal; what I said was |
that I did not feel at liberty to accept it, & I think that in an examination of the
question as it now stands the difference between the two expressions is of Essen-
tial importance.

Buchanan wrote unofficially to McLane on October 28, 1845, telling
of the incident and enclosing copies of the note withdrawn and the
undehvered answer (Moore, %Vorks of James Buchanan, VI, 285-86;
the enclosures are not there printed); and the account of Pakenham,
is further supplemented by the letter of Polk to McLane of October
29, headed ‘‘Private & unofficial”’, from which the following %assa (o]
are excerpted (Library of Congress, Letter Book of James K. Po%k,
184546, 57-65):

Mr Pakenham as I learn from Mr Buchanan has called several times at the
Department of State,—and has manifested great uneasiness on the subject—as
well as expressed an anxiety to renew the negotiation. Mr Buchanan has
informed him—more than once that if the Brittish Government had any pro%osi-
tion. to submit, it would be respectfully considered by this Government. ith
this he does not seem to have been satisfied, and on Monday~—the 27t* Instant,—
delivered to Mr Buchanan a formal note dated on the 25** and in the close of
their conversation—remarked that it might be regarded as official or not as—
might be afterwards determined on. I gave to this note much consideration,—

_and an answer was prepared,—but not be delivered unless Mr Pakenham first

. elected to-have his note regarded as official and placed on the files of the Depart-
ment. * Mr Buchanan informs me that the note has just been withdrawn by Mr
Pakenham—who preferred to consider it as unofficial. Of course he has not seen
the-answer which had been prepared,—or been informed of its contents further
than he might infer them,~—from a remark of Mr Buchanan—which he informs
me he made to him, to.the effect,—that in the present state of the negotiation we
could not be expected to abandon the position we had taken. It was this remark
I incline to think which induced him to withdraw his note, and to consider it
unofficial. Mr Buchanan will forward to you for your private information a copy
of his note,—and of the answer which had been pregared,——but which was not
delivered. From the answer you will be able to understand fully—the ground
which this Government will continue to occupy.

The more I have reflected on the subject, the more doubt I have had, whether
the administration could have been sustained by the constitutional majority of
the Senate—or by the Country,—if our prot%gsition—as made in Mr Buehanan’s
note of the 12¢¢ of July—had been accefiied. It is at all events certain that
Great Brittain will make no other proposition more favourable to the U. States
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than that which was so promptly rejected by Mr Pakenham, and in the existing
state of things it is equally certain that we could not accept one less favourable
if indeed we should now agree to the original proposition. r Pakenham's object
seems to be, to receive something from the Government—here, which will relieve
her Majesty’'s Government—from the embarrassment,—produced by the rejection
of our proposition,—and its subsequent withdrawal by us In This he will not
be gratified. There is nothing to prevent him from making any proposition—
he may think proper to make, and when made, he has been informally informed
that it would receive respectful consideration. He can have no assurance in
advance what answer we would make to any proposition he may think proper
to make. I am satisfied with our present position, which will be unchanged
until the meeting of Congress unless—Mr Pakenham, shall address some other
communication to this Government. If he does this, he must act voluntarily as
he has a perfect right to do, and without waiting for an invitation from the -
U. States,—or receiving any assurances of what the answer would be. I can
form no opinion whether the negotiation will be closed where it now stands or
whether—the discussion will be continued. That will depend altogether on
the Brittish Government. In either event, with ‘my present views I shall prob-
ably consider it to be my duty to lay the whdle subject before Congress in my
annual message. I shall-of course recommend nothing which would violate the
Convention of the 6t* of August [1827] but may give my views stronglly as I
entertain them of our rights in the Oregon territory. .

The reinark of Buchanan which induced the British Minister to
withdraw his note was one which Polk regretted; and the American
answer of October 28 (which was not delivered and the contents of
which Buchanan was not permitted to discuss) was worded ‘pre-
cisely”” as Polk had directed (Polk’s Diary, I, 78-82, October 29,
1845). A copy of that answer is available (Library of Congress, 73
Polk Papers, 1845—46, 6978-79); after a review of the facts, it contains
this response:

Thus the question now stands and he [the President] cannot consent to change
- his position & to recall what has been already done. .

r Pakenham in his note of the 25th instant states that her Majestys Govern-
ment will be glad to hear again from the Government of the United States on
this subject. - :

In reply to this suggestion the undersigned can only refer Mr Pakenham to
what has already been stated by him in his notes of the 12th July and 30th
August last. .

Under these circumstances the undersigned is instructed by the President to
inform Mr Pakenham that he cannot renew the former offer, nor submit any new
proposition, and that it will remain for the British Plenipotentiary to decide
what other or further steps if any he may think proper to take in the negotiation.

The paper, cited above, from which the foregoing paragraphs are
excerpted, is a copy of the note in the handwriting ofg é)olonel J. Knox
Walker, private secretary to President Polk. It bears the following
certification signed by Walker under date of October 31, 1845:

A true cg/})y of the origiﬁal.draft taken by me from the original in the hand-
writing of Mr Buchanan except that part beginning ‘‘In reply to &c¢ down to “in
the negotiation” which is in the handwriting of the Prest.

All efforts of Pakenham during this period to bring about a resuinp-
tion of the negotiation were accordingly fruitless; they were reported
by Buchanan to McLane in London (D.S., 15 Instructions, Great:
Britain, 266-68, November 5, 1845); Aberdeen discussed them with
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MecLane, showing him two despatches from Pakenham, one of which
contaimed ‘‘a statement of his [Pakenham’s] subsequent attempts to
induce you [Buchanan] to allow the President’s proposition to stand
as the basis of further negotiation, or to have some assurance of the
answer which a new proposition from the British Governmeut would
receive. Mr. Packenham’s statement of the facts on these points
corresponds substantially with the account you have given me of the
- same circumstances’” (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 24,
December 1, 1845).

Tree Mzussage 7o ConcrEss OF DECEMBER 2, 1845

The regular session of Congress (December 1, 1845) was approach-
ing; both the diplomatic situation and the legal position of the Oregon
country required that the Oregon question be submitted to Congress;
the convention with Great Britain of August 6, 1827 (Document 56),
was in force; for its abrogation, twelve months’ notice by one party
or the other was necessary; and neither Polk nor his advisers doubted
that, for the giving of such notice by the United States, legislative
authority was essential; moreover, the protection of the laws of the
United States had not been extended to citizens resident in the Oregon
country; and the number of American settlers there was increasing.
The influence of the American settlements is discussed by Merk in
“The Oregon Pioneers and the Boundary’” (American Historical
Review, X, 681-99); that author points out, inter alia, that by
1845 there were no more than eight American families north of the
Columbia; but the American settlers in the whole region numbered
6,000 or more (White, ‘‘Boundary Disputes and Treaties”, in Canada
and Its Provinces, VIII, 867-68). The story of the provisional gov-
ernment in the Oregon country is told by Bancroft (History of Ore-
‘gon, I, chs. 12-22, passim; see also Carey, History of Oregon, chs.
28 and 29, 367—-408). N ‘
" The presidential message to Congress was discussed in Cabinet
while it was being written, during the latter part of November;
regarding the tone of the message, so far as it dealt with the Oregon

uestion, Polk and Buchanan were naturally not in accord; the latter
seemingly to no avail) ‘“proposed  modifications . . . making the
paper less firm and bold”; Buchanan appeared to be ‘“greatly con-'
cerned lest the controversy about Oregon might lead to War”
(Polk’s Diary, I, 99-100, 101-2, November 20 and 25, 1845). Polk,
as the event showed, was quite mistaken as to congressional senti-
ment on the Oregon question, particularly in the Senate; Buchanan
was better informed (see ¢bid., 107, November 29); Polk went so far
as to hold the opinion that acceptance of the American proposal of
July 12, 1845, ““would have gone far to overthrow the administration”
(ibvd. ; see also his expressions to the same effect in his letter to McLane
of October 29, 1845, quoted above); subsequent debates and votes in
the Senate made clear the error of that view.

That portion of the annual message to Congressof December 2,1845,
which was devoted to the Oregon question reviewed the negotiations
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from 1818 up to the close of the Tyler administration (March 4, 1845)
and thus continued (Richardson, IV, 392-98):

When I came into office I found this to be the state of the negotiation. Though
entertaining the settled conviction that the British pretensions of title could not
be maintained to any portion of the Oregon Territory upon any principle of public
law recognized by nations, yet in deference to what had been done by my prede-~
cessors, and especially in consideration that propositions of compromise had been
thrice made by two preceding Administrations to adjust the question on the paral-
lel of 49°, and in two of thein yielding to Great Britain the free navigation of the
Columbia, and that the pending negotiation had been commenced on the basis
of compromise, I deemed it to be my duty not abruptly to break it off. In con-
gideration, too, that under the conventions of 1818 and 1827 the citizens and sub-
jects of the two powers held a joint occupaney of the country, I was induced to
make another effort to settle this long-pending controversy in the spirit of moder-
ation which had given birth to the renewed discussion. A proposition was accord-
ingly made, which was rejected by the British plenipotentiary, who, without sub-
mitting any other proposition, suffered the negotiation on his part to drop, ex-
pressing his trust that the United States would offer what he saw fit to call ““some
further proposal for the settlement of the Oregon question more consistent with
fairness and equity and with the reasonable expectations of the British Govern-
ment.” The proposition thus offered [on July 12, 1845] and rejected [on July 29]
repeated the offer of the parallel of 49° of north latitude, which had been made by
two preceding Administrations, but without proposing the surrender to Great
Britain, as they had done, the free navigation of the Columbia River. The right
of any foreign power to the free navigation of any of our rivers through the heart
of our country was one which I was unwilling to concede. It also embraced a
provision to make free to Great Britain any port oworts on the cap of Quadra
and Vancouvers Island ! south of this parallel. Had this been a new question,
coming under discussion for the first time, this proposition would not have been
made. The extraordinary and wholly madmissible demands of the British
Government and the rejection of the proposition made in deference alone to what
had been done by my predecessors and the implied obligation which their acts
seemed to impose afford satisfactory evidence that no eompromise which the
United States ought to accept can be effected. With this conviction the propo-
gition of compromise which had been made and rejected was by my direction
subsequently withdrawn {on August 30] and our title to the whole Oregon Terri-
tory asserted, and, it is believed, maintained by irrefragable facts and arguments.

he civilized world will see in these proceedings a spirit of liberal concession
on the part of the United States, and this Government will be relieved fromn all
responsibility which may follow the failure to settle the controversy.

Kl.l attempts at compromise having failed, it becones the duty of Congress to
congider what measures it may be proper to adopt for the security and protection
of our citizens now inhabiting or who may hereafter inhabit Oregon, and for the
maintenance of our just title to that Territory. In adopting measures for this
purpose care should be taken that nothing be done to violate the stipulations of
the convention of 1827 [Document 66], which is still in force. he faith of
treaties, in their letter and spirit, has ever been, and, I trust, will ever be, scrupu-
lously observed by the United States. Under that convention a year’s notice is
required to be given by either party to the other before the joint occupamcy shall
terminate and before either can rightfully assert or exercise exclusive jurisdiction
over any portion of the territory. This notice it would, in my judgment, be
proper to give, and 1 recommend that provision be made by law for giving it
;.cct;rdingly, and terminating in this manner the convention of the 6th of August,

827.

1 Now Vancouver Island; named *Quadra and Vancouver” by Captain George
Vancouver, who in 1792 first discovered that it was separated fromn the mainland;
the name ‘‘Quadra’ has of late been bestowed on a small island east of Vancouver
[sland and separated therefrom by Discovery Passage, in latitude 60° (see Wagner,
Spanish Explorations in the Strait of Juan de Fuca, 54-65). .
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It will become proper for Congress to determine what legislation they can in
the meantime adopt without violating this convention. Beyond all question
the protection of our laws and our jurisdiction, civil and criminal, ought to be
immediately extended over our citizens in Oregon. They have had just cause to:
complain of our neglect in this particular, and have in consequence been com-
pelled for their own security and protection to establish a provisional government
for themselves. Strong in their allegiance and ardent in their attachment to the
United States, they have been thus cast upon their own resources. They are
anxious that our laws should be extended over them, and I recommend that this
be done by Congress with as little delay as possible in the full extent to which
the British Parliament have proceeded in regard to British subjects in that
Territory by their act of July 2, 1821 [1 and 2 George IV, ch. 66], ¢‘for regulating
the fur trade and establishing a criminal and civil jurisdiction within certain parts
of North America.” By this act Great Britain extended her laws and jurisdic-
tion, civil and criminal, over her subjects engaged in the fur trade in that Terri-
tory. By it the courts of the Province of Upper Canada were empowered to take
cognizance of causes civil and criminal. Justices of the peace and other judicial
officers were authorized to be appointed in Oregon with power to execute all
process issuing from the courts of that Province, and to ‘‘sit and hold courts of
record for the trial of criminal offenses and misdemeanors’ not made the subject
of capital punishment, and also of civil cases where the cause of action shall not
“‘exceed in value the amount or sum of £200.”

Subsequent to the date of this act of Parliament a grant [of May 30, 1838,
cited above] was made from the ¢ British Crown” to the Hudsons Bay Company
of the exclusive trade with the Indian tribes in the Oregon Territory, subject to a
reservation that it shall not operate to the exclusion ‘“of the subjects of any foreign
states who, under or by force of any convention for the time being between us and
such foreign states, respectively, may be entitled to and shall be engaged in the
said trade.” It is much to be regretted that while under this act British subjects
have enjoyed the protection of British laws and British judicial tribunals through-
out the wgole of Oregon, American citizens in the same Territory have enjoyed no
such protection from their Government. At the same time, the result illustrates
the character of our people and their institutions. In spite of this neglect they
have multiplied, and their number is rapidly increasing in that Territory. They
have made no appeal to arms, but have peacefully fortified themselves in their
new homes by the adoption of republican institutions for themselves, furnishing
another example of the truth that self-government is inherent in the American
breast and must prevail. It is due to them that they should be embraced and
protected by our laws. It is deemed important that our laws regulating trade
and intercourse with the Indian tribes east of the Rocky Mountains should be
extended to such tribes as dwell beyond them. The increasing emigration to
Oregon and the care and protection which is due from the Government to its
citizens in that distant region make it our duty, as it is our interest, to cultivate
amicable relations with the Indian tribes of that Territory. For this purpose 1
recommend that provision be made for establishing an Indian agency and such
subagencies as may be deemed necessary beyond the Rocky Mountains,

For the protection of emigrants whilst on their way to Oregon against the
attacks of the Indian tribes occupying the country through which they pass; I
recommend that a suitable number of stockades and block-houss forts be erected
along the usual route between our frontier settlements on the Missouri and the
Rocky Mountains, and that an adequate force of mounted riflemen be raised to
guard and protect them on their journey. The immediate adoption of these
recommendations by Congress will not violate the provisions of the existing
treaty. It will be doing nothing more for American citizens than British laws
have long since done for British subjects in the same territory. :

It requires several months to perform the voyage by sea from the Atlantic
States to Oregon, and although we have a large number of whale ships in the
Pacific, but few of them afford an opportunity of interchanging intelligence with-
out great delay between our settlements in that distant region and the United
States. An overland mail is believed to be entirely practicable, and the impor-
tance of establishing such a mail at least once a month is submitted to the favor-
able consideration of Congress. .



Great Bmtam : 1846 47

It is submitted to the wisdom of Congress to determine whether at their present
session, and until after the expiration of the year’s notice, any other measures
may be adopted consistently with the convention of 1827 for the security of our
rights and the government and protection of our citizens in Oregon. That it will
ultimately be wise and proper to make liberal grants of land to the patriotic
pioneers who amidst privations and dangers lead the way through savage tribes
inhabiting the vast wilderness intervening between our frontier settlements and
Oregon, and who cultivate and are ever ready to defend the soil, I am fully satis-
fied. To doubt whether they will obtain such grants as soon as the convention
between the United States and Great Britain shall have ceased to exist would be.
to doubt the justice of Congress; but, pending the year’s notice, it is worthy of
consideration whether a stipulation to this effect may be made consistently with
the spirit of that convention.

The recommendations which I have made as to the best manner of securing our
rights in Oregon are submitted to Congress with great deference. Should they
in their wisdom devise any other mode better calculated to accomplish the saine
object, it shall meet with my hearty concurrence. _ :

At the end of the year’s notice, should Congress think it groper to make pro-
vision for giving that notice, we shall have reached a period when the national
rights in Oregon must either be abandoned or firmly maintained. That they can
not be abandoned without a sacrifice of both national honor and interest is too
clear to adnit of doubt. .

Oregon is a part of the North American continent, to which, it is confidently

_affirmed, the title of the United States is the best now in existence. For the
grounds on which that title rests I refer you to the correspondence of the late and
present Secretary of State with the British plenipotentiary during the negotiation.
The British oproposition of compromise, which would make the Columbia the line
south of 49°, with a trifling addition of detached territory to the United States
north of that river, and would leave on the British side two-thirds of the whole
Oregon Territory, including the free navigation of the Columnbia and all the
valuable harbors on the Pacific, can never for a moment be entertained by the
United States without an abandonment of their just and clear territorial rights,
their own self-respect, and the national honor. For the information of Congress,
1 communicate herewith the correspondence which took place -between the two
Governments during the late negotiation.

The voluminous papers which accompanied the message (which
dealt at length with other questions, including relations with Mexico)
are printed with it in Senate Document No. 1, 29th Congress, Ist
session, serial 470;the Oregon papers are at pagea 138-92 thereof; they
comprise two notes of November 1842 and the exchanges at Washing-
ton fromn February 24, 1844, to August 30, 1845; no instructions to
McLane at London or despatches from him are included ; the American
note of August 30, 1845 (withdrawing the offer of the previous July
12), is the latest in date of the pa;isrs printed and was at the time the
latest written communication which bhad passed between the two
Governments on the Oregon question; but during the three inonths
which had elapsed since the date of that note, the British Govern-
ment had made known, both to McLane at London and to Buchanan
at Washington, its desire to renew the negotiation on the basis of the
American offer of July 12, 1845; there was not a hint of this fact,
however, either in the papers which accompanied the message or in the
message itself; indeed, the 1nessage spoke of the British ‘‘deniands”
and the rejection of the American offer as affording “‘satisfactory
evidence that no coinpromise which the United States ought to accept
g:lln g?, effected”’, and of ““‘all attempts at compromise’” as ‘“‘having

ed”. . ‘
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Tur BriTisE ATTITUDE

Lord Aberdeen wrote thus to Sir Robert Peel on October 17, 1845
(Selections from the Correspondence of George, Earl of Aberdeen,
1845, 385-87): '

I am perfectly convinced that the question might be easily and satisfactorily
settled with Mr. M’Lane in the course of half an hour. But then this has refer-
ence only to the merits of the question itself, and not to the circumstances by
which it has been attended, and which have created the whole difficulty of the

- gettlement. The interests involved are of no great moment, and it is this which
renders the subject so well fitted for arbitration; but I fear that we must consider
it improbable that it should ever be settled in any other manner. ’

If it should ever be possible to effect a settlement between ourselves upon
terms, I think the following might perhaps be accepted, and I should be very
unwilling to concede more. I would carry the 49th parallel of latitude, as the
boundary, to the sea, and give to the United States the line of coast to the south
of this degree. - This would leave us in possession of the whole of Vancouver’'s
Island and the northern shore of the entrance into the Straits of St. John de Fuca.

The navigatior of the Columbia, to its most remote accessible point, should be
common to both parties at all times; and alt the ports between the Columbia
and the 49th parallel, whether on the mainland or in the island, should be de-
clared free ports. )

I believe that this would give us everything really worth contending for, and
it would seem to coincide with the notions of the Hudson’s Bay Company, who.
have lately established their principal settlement on Vancouver’s Island.

The bases thus suggested are very similar, it will be seen, to those
put forward in the letter of Aberdeen to Peel of September 25, 1844
(cited and (}uoted in part above)."

Ancther letter of Aherdeen to Pakenham, of December 3, 1845,
includes this paragraph (ibid., 507-9):

Notwithstanding the unpromising appearance of the present state of the nego-
tiation, I feel satisfied that we are now nearer a settlement than ever. If we
press arbitration, they must either accept it, or give us facilities for reopening the
direct negotiation. If they do neither, they will be so manifestly in the wrong
that I greatly doubt their receiving the necessary support, even from the most
hostile portion of the American public. I expect a strong declaration from the
President in his annual message, and even a recommendation to terminate the
Treaty. I shall not at all regret this; for as the crisis becomes more imminent,
the chance of settlement improves. I imagine the President and his Government
arc more afraid of the Senate than they are of us, and that much management is
required to accomplish what they really desire. Mr. Polk may well doubt his
power of obtaining the sanction of two-thirds of the Senate to any Convention
which he could conclude with us. But many things may shortly occur to improve
the prospect of affairs very considerably. he access of Indian corn to our mar-
kets would go far to pacify the warriors of the Western States.

The final sentence of the paragraph just quoted refers to the
repeal of the Corn Laws. On this subject, see Merk, “The British
Corn Crisis of 184546 and the Oregon Treaty”, in Agricultural
History, VIII, 95-123; and Martin, “Cotton and Wheat in Anglo-
American Trade and Politics, 1846-1852”, in Journal of Southern
History, I, 293-319. Various “non-American’’ (including economic)
factors in their relation to the Qregon negotiation are discussed in
Sioussat, ‘‘James Buchanan”, in American Secretaries of State an
Their Diplomacy, V, 25861, 399—400. :
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The attitude of the British Government at the time of the presi-
dential message to Congress is thus described by McLane in his ac-
count (December 1, 1845) of a conversation “recently” had with
Aberdeen (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 24):

The principal object of Lord Aberdeen, in seeking the interview, appeared to
me to be, to point out the embarrassment in which he thought the President’s
withdrawal of his proposition had placed this Government. It was quite evi-
dent, indeed he expressly said, that he was not prepared to accept the President’s
propusition, but desired only to make it the basis of further negotiation, and
modified propositions from his Government, which he would have done notwith-
standing the rejection of it by Mr Packenham, if it had not been withdrawn by
the direction of the President. He complained of the withdrawal of the proposi-
tion as unusual if not unprecedented in Diplomacy, and seemed to consider it
impossible in the present posture of the affair, to submit any proposition for a
partition of the territory in dispute, unless he could have some assurance of the
treatment which any proposition he might submit for that purpose would receive.

Under these circumstances, he could only regard the negotiation as having
been terminated by the President; and the door to further attempts at com-
promise being thus closed, this Government had no alternative, in its desire to
preserve the peaceful relations of the two countries, than to propose arbitration,
and abide the consequences. Indeed I undersiood him to say very distinctly
that this course would be pursued. It may be considered certain therefore that
if he have not been already, Mr Packenham will by the present steamer be
instructed to propose an arbitration: and that according to the answer that
proposition may receive, the ultimate course upon the part of this Government
will be defined. -

I think it not improbable that if the offer be declined upon the ground upon
which it is understood it was refused by Mr Calhoun, towit, that a more satis-
factory adjustment might be obtained through the medium of negotiation, this
Government would then submit a new proposition, and so resume the negotiation;-
but that if it be refused on such terms as to warrant them in assuming that our
Government has determined to insist upon the extreme claim, and to decline
both negotiation and arbitration, this Government will treat the offer to arbitrate
as its ultimatum, and abide the result. Of course these opinions are founded
upon the observations of the Earl of Aberdeen i the conversation to which I
have already alluded.

Although I am quite sure that the Earl of Aberdeen has no idea at present of
accepting the compromise contained in the President’s proposition, it would not
surprise me if an arrangement upon that basis should prove acceptable to large
and important classes in this country, indeed complained of principally by the
Hudson’s Bay Company, and those in its interest. That the Ministry would
find it difficult, and hazardous to prefer war to such a settlement may well be
imagined, although you may assume it to be certain that when war becomes
inevitable it will receive the undivided support of the British people.

I believe the Government and People here are quite prepared for the re-
assertion in the message of the President’s opinions expressed in his inaugural
address, and, perhaps, for a recommendation by him to terminate the joint
occupation in the manner provided by the existing Treaty. And I also think
that unless the recommendation in the message should be such as to discourage
further negotiation, and to manifest a determination to insist upon our whole
right, they would not lead to any inmediate measures upon the part of this
Government, or materially add to the embarrassment in which the relations
between the two countries appear to be at present involved.

Thus while the British Government did not expect that an offer of
‘arbitration of the Oregon question would be accepted, it was thought
that perhaps the wording of the refusal of such an offer might open
the door to a resumption of negotiations for compromise. '

125186°—87—8
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TrE OFFER OF ARBITRATION

The offer of arbitration was duly made. The exchanges are
printed in Senate Document No. 117, 29th Congress, 1st session,
serial 473; also in House Document No. 105 of that session, serial
483; the notes of Pakenham are in D.S., 23 Notes from the British
Legation, and those of Buchanan, in D.S., 7 Notes to the British
Legation, 128-34. , o

ight 1s thrown upon the attitude of both Governments at this
time by the full memorandum (in the handwriting of Buchanan) of
the conversation which was had by the two Plenipotentiaries upon
the presentation of the British offer of arbitration. Particularly is
to be noted the renewed request that the negotiations might be
resumed on the basis of the American offer of the previous Jguly 12
(the text of the memorandum here is from Moore, Works of James
Buchanan, VI, 350-53): '

On Saturday afternoon, 27th of December, 1845, Mr. Pakenham called at the
Department of State. After some brief preliminary conversation on other top-
ics, he informed me that he had received instructions from his government rela-
tive to the Oregon question; without at the time informing me what they were.
He then proceeded to express his desire that I should recall the withdrawal of
our offer to settle the Oregon question by the 49th parallel of latitude, and suffer
the negotiation to proceed on that basis, expressing the belief that it might
then resultin a satisfactory manner. Iinformed him that he had made one propo-
sition to Mr. Calhoun, which had been rejected; that I had made a proposition
which had been rejected by him and then withdrawn; that the whole negotiation
had been submitted to Congress with the President’s message: and after all
this, it was too late to expect that the President would now retrace his steps.
That what had been done must be considered as done. .

He then said that if he were now to make a new proposition, he had no means
of knoging whether it would be accepted: if he made a proposition it might be
rejected.

I replied that the whole field was open to him, as it had been in the begin-
ning; that it was as free to him as it had been to him at first, or was to me after-
warcfs, to make any proposition he thou%ht proper; that all I could say was that
any proposition he might make would e.respectfully considered by the Presi-
dent; but I said no more. '

. He then observed that as I was not willing to go further (as I understood
him), he would, under his instructions, present me the offer of the British gov-
ernment to arbitrate the question. He said it was drawn up chiefly in the very
language of Lord Aberdeen.

1 then received the communication from him and read it over carefully. As
soon as I had completed its perusal, he urged its acceptance strongly; expressed
his great desire for the preservation of peace between the two countries, and said
that it was impossible that war should grow out of such a question between two
1glx'eat nations. He said he was not worth much in the world; but would give

alf what he was worth to see the question honorably and amicably adjusted
between the two nations. :

I stated the strong desire, both on the part of the Presidept and myself, that
the question might be amicably and honorably adjusted. That we had every
disposition that this result might be attained. 1 observed, however, that if ever
this was accomplished, I thought it must be by negotiation, and not by arbitra-
tion; and especially such an arbitration as he proposed. That both the Presi-
dent and myself were firmly convinced of the validity of our title up to 54°40/;
and yet his proposition to arbitrate assumed the right to a portion of the terri-
tory on the part of Great Britain,-and left it to the arbitrator alone to decide in
what manner the territory should be divided between the parties. That this
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alone, I thought, would be a sufficient reason for the rejection of his proposition,
even if others did not exist, of which he must be aware from our previous con-
versations on the subject; but I would consult the President, and give him an
answer with as little delay as possible. He intimated rather than expressed a
wish. that his answer might be communicated to him in time for the packet
(Monday). I told him that a proper respect for the British government required
that the answer should be well considered; that the cabinet would not meet
again before Tuesday, and I could not encourage him to expect the answer before
Saturday next. He said he had no doubt my answer would be well considered.
He hoped that in it T would not assert a claim to the whole territory, and Satur-
day next would be in time.

Hethen branched off, and said that the proposition was to refer the question to
a state as well as a sovereign; he said that this had been done on purpose to get
clear of the objection to crowned heads. I asked him to whom he thought it
might be referred if not to a sovereign. He suggested the Republic of Switzer-
land, or the government of Hamburg or Bremen. I told him that whilst my own
inclinations were strongly against arbitration; if I were compelled to select an
arbitrator, it would be the Pope. That both nations were heretics, and the Pope
would be impartial. This he appeared at first to take seriously,—he said the
Pope was a temporal sovereign; but I thought he was disinclined to select him
ag an arbitrator. He perceived, however, that I was not in earnest, and sug-
%ested that the reference might be made to commissioners from both countries.

told him I thought it was vain to think of arbitration; because, even if the
President were agreed to it, which I felt pretty certain ie was not, no such treaty
could pass the Senate. That the pursult of arbitration would only involve the
question in new difficulties. He then suggested the mediation of a third power
in the adjustment of the question. I told him that was an idea which he had
never suggested before, and on which I could say nothing. He observed that
this, together with his suggestion of commissioners, ¢came from himself and had
not. been embraced in his instructions. He said that a mediator who would
interfere might share the fate of the man who interfered between two other men
who were fighting, when both fell upon him and gave him a sound drubbing.

He remarked that the affair might remain just where it was, and the British
ggvernment would not disturb it. He did not entertain serious apprehensions
of war.

He then told me that he had met Judge [Stephen Arnold] Douglas at Mr. Cox’s
party the other evening, and had a good deal of conversation with him about his
bill [}‘,‘to protect the rights of American settlers in the Territory of Oregon, until
the termination of the joint occupancy of the same’’ (see Congressional Globe,
XV, 85, December 19, 1845)]. :

He objected to a promise of a grant of lands to actual settlers in Oregon, and to
the erection of forts by the Government within it, as violations of the treaty. I
told him I had formed no decided opinion as to the promise of grants of land; but
as to the forts, it was very clear, in my opinion, that we had a right to erect them.
We did not purpose to erect fortifications capable of enduring a siege in civilized
warfare; but merely stockade forts to protect our emigrants from the savages.
That the Hudson’s Bay Company had erected many such forts, and we surely
had the right under the treaty to do what they hiad done. He observed that the
settlers might do this tliemselves as the Company liad done. 1.replied that they
were too poor; that this Company had the entire government in its hands; and
surely we might do what they had done. I observed that this was cver the way
with Great Britain, she was always fettered by monopolies; and if it were not for
the Company they would at once give us our rights to the whole country up to
54°40’. He said that the Hudson’s Bay Company had rights in Oregon which
must be protected; but I understood him to admit that they did interpose an
obstacle in the way of the settlement of the question. He said the British
%overnment would be glad to get clear of the question on almost any terms; that

hey did not care if the arbitrator should award the whole territory to us. They"
would yield it without a murmur. I said I had no doubt of this. They never

layed the part of the fox; but always of the lion. They would preserve their
aith inviolate. He said they wished for peace; Lut intimated that this was not
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our wish. I asked him why we should desire war. Would not their superiority
at sea give them command of the coasts of Oregon. Yes, he said, that was true,
but the war would not be confined to that region. That he would willingly make
a bargain to fight it out with us there, if we would agree to that.

The note of Pakenham of December 27, 1845, offering arbitration,
which was presented to Buchanan during the conversation recorded
in the foregoing memorandum, was not only couched in very friendly
terms, but used language which hinted at the hope of a reopened door
to negotiation; but the answer-of Buchanan, under date of January 3,
1846, referred to the assertion in Buchanan’s note of the precel;ﬁng
August 30 (cited and quoted in part-above) of the title of the United
States to the whole of the Oregon country and rejected the proposal
of arbitration without opening the way to further negotiation. The
texts of the two notes follow:

/ [Mr. Pakenham to Mr. Buchanan]

WABSHINGTON 27 December 1845,

An attentive consideration of the dpresent State of Affairs with reference to
the Oregon Question has determined the British Government to instruct the
Undersigned, Her Britannick Majesty’s Envoy Extraordinary and Minister
Plenipotentiary again to represent in pressing terms to the Government of the
United States, the expediency of referring the whole Question of an equitable
division of that Territery, to the arbitration of some Friendly Sovereign or State.

Her Majesty’s Government dee%y regret the failure of all their efforts to
effect a friendly settlement of the Conflicting claims by direct Negotiation be-
tween the two Governments. .

They are still persuaded that %reat advantages would have resulted to both
Parties from such & mode of settlement, had it been practicable, but there are
difficulties now in the way in that course of proceeding which it might be tedious
to remove, while the importance of an early settlement seems to become at each
moiment more urgent. :

Under these circumstances Her Majesty’s Government think that a resort to
arbitration is the most prudent and perhaps the only feesible step which could be
taken, and the best calculated to allay the existing effervescence of popular
feeling, which might otherwise greatly embarrass the efforts of both govern-
ments to preserve a friendly understanding between the two Countries.

The Government of the United States will see in the proposal which the
Undersigned is thus instructed to make, & proof of the confldence of the British
Government in the Justice of their own claim. They will also see in it & proof
of the readiness of the British Government to incur the risk of a great sacrifice
for the preservation of peace and of their friendly Relations with the United
Sqltla.ltgs.d It is made in & spirit of moderation and firmness of which the world
will Judge. .

The British Government Confidently hope that the Government of the United
States will not reject a proposal made with such & friendly intention, and for &
purpose so holy.

here is nothing in it they are convinced not perfectly compatible with the
strictest regard for the honor and just interests of both Parties, particularly when
it is considered of what small value to either is the portion of Territory which,
in reality, forms the subject of Controversy, compared with the importance of
preserving a state of peace and goodwill between two such nations.

The Undersigned takes advantage of this opportunity to renew to the Hon.
James Buchanar the assurance of His high consideration.

. : R PirENHAM
The Honble JaAmMEs BUCHANAN
d&c &c &c
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[Mr. Buchanan to Mr. Pakenham])

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,

Washington, 33 Janv , 18486.

- Right Honbl® RIcHARD PAKENHAM, )
. &, &2, &

The Undersigned, Secretary of State of the United States, has the honor to
acknowledge the receipt of the note of Mr. Pakenham, Her Britannic Majesty’s
Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary, dated the 27t* ultimo, by
which, under instructions from his Government, he proposes to the Government
of the United States ‘‘the expediency of referring the whole question of an equi-
table division of that (the Oregon) territory to the arbitration of sonie friendly
Sovereign or State.”

The Undersigned has submitted this note to the President, who, after having
bestowed upon it that respectful consideration so eminently due to any proposi-
tion einanating from the British Government, has instructed him to give to it the
following answer:

The British Government do not propose to refer to arbitration the question
of the title to the Oregon territory, claimed by the two Powers, respectively.
1t is a proposition to refer to a friendly Sovereign or State, merely the partition
or ‘“equitable division” of that territory between the parties. It assuines the
fact that the title of Great Britain to a portion of the territory is valid, and thus
takes for granted the very question in dispute. Under this proposition, the very
terms of the submission would contain an express acknowledgment of the right .
of Great Britain to a portion of the territory, and would necessarily preclude the
United States from claiming the whole before the arbitrator. This, too, in the
face of the note of the Undersigned to Mr. Pakenham of the 30t* August last,
by which the President had asserted, in the most solemn form, the title of the
United States to the whole territory. Even if there were not other conclusive
reasons for declining the proposition, this alone would be deemed sufficient by
the President. .

The President heartily concurs with the British Government in their regret
that all atteinpts to settle the Oregon question by negotiation have hitherto failed.
He cannot, however, concur with that Government in the opinion that a resort
to arbitration, and especially to an arbitration on the terms proposed, would be
followed by happier consequences. On the contrary, he believes that any attempt
to refer this question to a third Power, would only involve it in new difficulties.

In declining this B_ro osition, the President refers to the sentinient expressed
in the note of the Uni ersigned of the 30t* August last, to which allusion has
already been made, that he “‘cherishes the hope that this long-pending controversy
may yet be finally adjusted in such & manner as not to disturb the peace, or inter-
rupt the harmony now so happily subsisting between the two nations.” :

he Undersigned avails himself of this occasion to renew to Mr Pakenham
assurances of his distinguished consideration.
James BUCHANAN,

After writing on January 6 that he would send the note of January
3 to his Government, Pakenhain put forward on January 16 his
suggestion of a reference to ‘“‘some friendly Sovereign or State”
(or perhaps to a mixed commission or a board of civilians and jurists)
of “the question of Title in either of the two Powers to the whole
Territory; subject of course to the condition that if neither should
be found 1n the opinion of the Arbitrator, to possess a complete Title
to the whole Territory, there snould, in that case, be assigned to each
that portion of Territory which would in the opinion of the arbi-
trating Power, be called for by a just appreciation of the respective
claims of each’’; but this proposal was also rejected by a note of
February 4; and Polk required the oinission from that note of certain



54 Document 122

rather conciliatory paragraphs of Buchanan’s draft (Polk’s Diary, I,
208-9, February 4, 1846).

In the meantime McLane had been informed by an mstruction of
December 13, 1845 (D.S., 15 Instructions, Great Britain, 283-85;
Senate Document No. 489, 29th Congress, 1st session, serial 478, p.
36), of the decision of Polk to submit to the Senate any new proposal
of settlement which he thought of a character “such as to justify”
it; that portion of the mstruction was worded by Polk, contrary to
the views of Buchanan, whose draft was specific both as to boundary
and as to the Columbia River (Polk’s Diary, I, 122-23, December 13,
1845), and who also wished to communicate to the British Govern-
ment the decision mentioned (see ibid., 119-20).

In the same mstruction McLane was directed to discuss with
Aberdeen the reported ‘‘warlike preparations” of Great Britain;
and that portion of the instruction, with an extract from the despatch
of McLane of January 3, 1846, containing only so much of his report
of his conversation with Aberdeen of the previous December 30 as
dealt with that subject, is printed in Senate Document No. 117, 29th
Congress, 1st session, serial 473, pp. 24, and in House Document
No. 105, same session, serial 483, pp. 2—4. From the despatch of
MecLane mentioned, the following, which is not printed in the Senate -
and House documents cited, is excerpted (D.S.,” 56 Despatches,
Great Britain, No. 30):

Lord Aberdeen took the occasion at this interview to advert to the Message
of the President and to the present posture of our relations. He repeated the
sincere disposition of this Government, which I do not doubt is entertained, to
maintain peace by means of an equitable compromise of the claims of the two
Governments; and, although after the date of your two last despatches, I was
in no situation to say what might have been calculated to draw from him with
greater explicitness what he thought the compromise ought to be, I still think
that some arrangement by which the rights of the Hudson’s Bay Company might
be continued for a series of years, as stated in my private letter to the President
of the 4t¢ of August last. [cited and quoted in part above}, would probably give
sufficient novelty to the negotiation to enable this Government more readily to
avoid what they deem the point of honor, and abate something of their former
demands. This however, depends too much upon conjecture, to authorize me
‘to hazard the opinion with greater certainty.

Lord Aberdeen also stated that Mr Packenham had been specially instructed
in the present state of the affair, to submit an offer of arbitration; and said that
whether this Government would make any further effort at negotiation, in case
this offer should be refused, would depend upon the manner and terms in which
it should be declined; and he reaffirmed generally, the views upon this head,
which I communicated in my Despatch Number 24, dated the 1t of December.
He added that if the offer of arbitration should be rejected in terms calculated
to forbid a renewal of the negotiation (and I here felt it my duty uniformly to
discourage any expectation that an offer of arbitration could be accepted) it
would be difficult to prevent a very general impression with the Government
gndtl{’eople of this country that the United States were determined to produce

ostilities.

He did not appear to think that the Message had increased the difficulties of
the case; indee(? Ii had ventured to prepare him for quite as strong a paper; and
he admitted that the recommendations of the President were not inconsistent
with a continuance of pacific relations. He is also prepared, I am quite sure,
for the carrying out by Congress of the recommendations of the Message, and
will not consider that as adding to the present embarrassments. He seemed
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rather disposed to regard such measures, not only as consistent with our rights
under the Treaty, but as reducing the subject to a more definite form, and ex-
pressed a confident hope that during the year which would be allowed for the
termination of the joint occupancy, some means would be found, if both nations
were sincerely desirous of peace, of avoiding ultimate difficulty.

TerMs Discussep AT Bore Carirars

Discussion of the terms of a possible British proposal, which, if
made, would be deemed proper to submit to the Senate, continued
between Polk and Buchanan (Polk’s Diary, I, 135, December 23,
1845), and, even more important, Eerhaps, was had with Senators,
mcluding William Allen,! of Ohio, Chairman of the Senate Committee
on Foreign Relations (ibid., 13941, December 24); the fpolicy, as
agreed on in Cabinet, was to refer to the Senate an offer of ‘‘the 49°
or a proposition equivalent to it’’ (ibid., 147, December 27); John C.
Calhoun, Senator from South Carolina, former Secretary of State
and & leading figure in the Democratic Party, favored compromisxei
and supported the British title to the valley of the Fraser River (ibid.,
161-62, January 10, 1846); %(I)ssi_bﬂities of a crisis in relations with
Mexico led to orders to the Navy (ibid., 171, January 17); and the
news of the fall of the ministry of Sir Robert Peel® received on
Janusry 19 (ibid., 180-81), not unnaturally gave rise to doubts
whether a favorable opportunity for conventional settlement of the
Oregon question had not passed. - _

Polk appears to have believed at this time that no agreement to
divide the Oregon country was likely; he imagined a new and different
basis of settlement, which was put forward in Cabinet on January 24,
1846, and elaborated in a-letter to McLane four days later, who was
authorized mm his discretion to ‘“‘sound” Lord Aberdeen as to its
practicability (Library of Congress, Letter Book of James K. Polk,
1845-46, 286-99); McLane wrote “unofficially” to Buchanan on
March 17, 1846 (Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Buchanan
Papers), that “it would be altogether inexpedient to advert to any
idea of connecting our commercial regulations with the Oregon ques-
tion”’; the record of the statement of Polk to the Cabinet is as follows
(Polk’s Diary, I, 191-92):

I brought the present state of the Oregon question again before the Cabinet.
I suggested for consideration, the possibility of some new basis of adjustment.
I stated that there was no probability that any division of the territory could
be agreed upon, or would be acceded to by the people of the U.S., & that we had re-
{\edcted the offer of arbitration which had been recently made by the British

inister. I then suggested as a ppssible basis of adjustment a Treaty of com-
merce by which each country should stipulate to relax their restrictive systems;

1 Allen was opposed to any compromise and resigned from the Committee on
Foreign Relations on June 15, 1846, in protest; see Polk’s Diary, I, 471-72, and
Congressional Globe, XV, 972.

3 For the views of Calhoun, see his speech of March 16, 1846, in Congressional
Globe, XV, 502-6, and more fully in Works of John C. Calhoun, IV, 258-90.

8 Sir Robert Peel resigned on December 9, 1845; but as Lord John Russell did
not then succeed in forming a government, Peel and his Cabinet resumed office

and remained in power for some six months longer.
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by which Brittish duties on American Breadstuffs, rice, cotton, tobacco, & other
articles exported to Great Brittain should be reduced to a moderate révenue
- standard; and that like reductions should be made by the U.S. on Brittish manu-

‘factures imported into the U.S. I stated the reduction of our tariff would be a
great object with Great Brittain, and that to attain it that Government might
be willing to surrender her claim to the whole Oregon territory, on receiving a
round sum to enable her to indemnify her Hudson’s Bay Company for the valu-
able improvements which they had made in Oregon. Istated that I did not know
this was feasible, but it would relieve Great Brittain of the point of Honor in
the controversy, and that gossibl she might acceed to it, because she esteemed
her commerce with the U.S. as of infinitely more value than she did the Oregon
territory. Of course if such an adjustment could be made, it must first receive
ratification of the Senate, and then the approval of Congress, who must pass a
law revising our tariff of duties accordingly, and making the necessary appropria-~
tions to carry it into effect. I stated that I haa [not} matured or fully considered
the subject, but merely suggested it for deliberation between this time and the
rext meeting of the Cabinet.

The views of Buchanan now, in somne degree, prevailed; the instruc-
tion to McLane of Janu 29, 1846 (D.S., 15 Instructions, Great
Britain, 296-99; Sen&teagocument No. 489, 29th Congress, 1st
gsession, serial 478, pp. 37-39), intimated a desire for a fresh proposal
from the British Government, stated that the President would sub-
mit such a proposal to the Senate if he decided it to ““be of a charac-
ter to justify’’ that course, and authorized McLane, at his discre-
tion, to inform Aberdeen in the sense of the instruction; all this did
not amount either to a renewal of the negotiations or to a transfer
of them, if renewed, to London; but it was ample authority for
conversations tending to arrange for and even to formulate subsequent
negotiations; the only stateinent in Polk’s Diary (I, 197, January 27,
1846) regarding that important instruction is this: ‘“Our relations
with Mexico & Great Brittain were subjects of conversation. Mr.
‘Buchanan read a despatch which he had prepared to Mr. Slidell
in Mexico. The character of a despatch to Mr. Mcl.ane at London
was agreed on.” _ '

After a review of the reasons for the rejection of any proposal for
arbitration of the Oregon question, that instruction concluded with
these paragraphs:

Upon the whole, the pursuit of arbitration by the British Government can
produce no other effect than to involve thie question in new difficulties, and,
Ferhaps, by the delay, render an amicable adjustment of it impossible. The
act is not to be disguised that the feeling of the country is becoming daily more
unanimous and intense in favor of asserting our right to the whole territory;
and -the debates in Congress and their delay to act in accordance with the
recommendations of the President, only serve to increase the popular excitement.
Resolutions of State Conventions and State Legislatures are now in succession
being adopted in favor of adhering to the line of 54°40’. If the British Govern-
ment intend to make a proposition to this Government, they have not an hour
to lose, if they desire a peaceful termination of the controversy.

Notwithstanding all you may have seen in the public papers, the notice [joint
resolution authorizing abrogation of the convention of 1827], unless I am greatly
mistaken, will pass Congress, in some form or other, by large majorities of both
Houses, as well as the other measures recommended by the President.

There is one fact which, in your discrétion, might cautiously and informally
be made known to the British Government. The President will never abandon
the position he has taken in his message. Clearly convinced of the right of the
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United States to the whole territory in dispute, and relieved by the refusal of
the British Government to accept his offer of compromise, from the embarrass-
ment in which the acts of his predecessors had placed him, he would not now
authorize the conclusion of a treaty on that basis. But the Senate, his consti-
tutional advisers, are now in session. The question of peace or war may be
involved in the issue. They are a branch of the war-making, as well as of the
treaty-making power. In deference to the Senate, under these circumstances,
he would, in the first instance, feel it to be his duty to submit such a proposition
for their previous advice. It is manifest, therefore, that the British Govern-
ment should at once present their ultimatum. If Mr. Pakenham should offer
less, in the hope that, having thus recommenced the negotiation, he might, in
its progress, induce me to say what the President would consent to accept, he
must be disappointed. The President will accept nothing less than the whole
territory, unless the Senate should otherwise determine. The only question
which he will decide is, whether the new proposition, should any such be made,
be of a character to justify its submission to the Senate for their previoud advice.
I repeat that, under all the circumstances by which you may be surrounded,
it is left to your sound discretion whether any such communication or intimation
shall be made to Lord Aberdeen. . ’

On the same date as that of the instruction last quoted (January
29, 1846), a significant conversation took place between McLane and
Aberdeen; the interview was asked by the latter; the particular cir-
cumstance which afforded a reason for the invitation was the receipt
in London of the text of Buchanan’s note to Pakenham of January 3,
1846, declining the first proposal of the latter for arbitration; the
Queen’s speech had been delivered to Parliament a week earlier
(January 22), and the debate in the Commons had indicated that ‘‘ the
rejection of the proposition [of July 12, 1845] by Mr Pakenham, with-
out sending it to his Government, at least as the basis of negotiation
is strongly disapproved by both parties’ (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great
Britain, No. 34, February 3, 1846; see Hansard, 3d series, LXXXTIII,
152-54, January 23, 1846); in the despatch cited McLane gives an
account of his conversation with Aberdeen, including its very frank
disclosure of the extent of the British naval preparations; and he then,
in language guarded but exphcit, states the outline of “‘an adjust-
ment’” which he had ‘“a strong conviction” was ‘“entirely practi-
cable’’; that he was stating reasoned and well-grounded conclusions
regarding the view of the British Government is obvious; relevant
paragraphs of the despatch follow:

In consequence of the invitation contained in the accompanying note of the
28tk January, I had an interview with the Earl of Aberdeen the day following.
His object was to acquaint me, that by the Packet ship which left New York on
the 8t* of January, he had received a Despatch from Mr Packenham, transmit-
ting the answer, which by the direction of the President, the Secretary of State
had given to the proposal for submission to arbitration of theOregon question;
and to explain the impression which that answer, and the recent proceedings, and
debates in the House of Representatives had produced upon his mind.

He stated that the answer of the Secrctary had added to the embarrassments
previously existing; and, although I am yet convinced that he could have enter-
tained little, if any hope that the proposal would have been accepted, he com-
plained of the terms and manner in which it had been declined. Heinsisted that,-
by the terms of Mr Packenham’s proposition, a reference to arbitration would
necessarily have involved a consideration of the title, and said, that the principal
ground on which it had been rejected was of too technical a character, and not
just to the spirit of peace, and the anxious desire to make an occasion for re-open-



58 Document 122

ing the negotiation, in which he had directed it to be made. He apprehended
that, from the nature of the answer, and the character of the recent debate in the
House of Representatives, it would be difficult to prevent the conclusion that the
President had determined to discourage any new proposition on the basis of com-
promise, and to concede nothin% of the extreme demand; and he appeared not a
little embarrassed to know what course it would be proper for this Government,
in the present posture of the affair to pursue. He remarked further that, although
he would not abandon the desire or the hope that an amicable adjustment might
yet be effected, and peace preserved, he should nevertheless feel it his duty to
withdraw the opposition he had hitherto uniformly made to the adoption of
measures, founded upon the contingency of war with the United States, and to
. offer no obstacle in future to preparations which might be deemed necessary, not
only for the defence and protection of the Canadas, but for offensive operations.
In the course of the conversation, I understood that these would consist, inde-
pendent of military armaments, of the immediate equipment of thirty sail of the
line, besides steamers and other vessels of war; and this information Lord Aber-
deen appeared to think, he was called upon to communicate, in consequence of
assurances he had given me in a former interview, and contained in my Despatch
of the 3r¢ of January.

Although I was not insensible of the delicacy of my position, in the present
state of our relations, I felt it a duty to express my dissent from the view enter- -
tained by Lord Aberdeen of your answer to Mr Packenham. The only question
proposed by Mr Packenham to be referred was an equitable division of the Oregon
territory, and if in making a division, the arbitrator was not prohibited from
considering the ‘title’ he would be under no obligation to do so; and that although
he should be entirely satisfied that the title of the United States to the whole
was indisputable, he would be compelled, nevertheless, to divide the territory
between the two nations. I also reminded him of the assurance I had more than
once given him that in my opinion the President could not consent to an erbitra-
tion; and that if under any circumstances that mode of settlement could be
admissible, it could only be the question of title exclusively, and not of division.

Nor could I admit thet in the other paragraphs in your letter, there was any-
thing to discourage a renewal of the negotiation, or the making of a new proposal
by this Government. It appeared to me, on the contrary, that the insertion of
them, would have been unnecessary, unless as a proof of the President’s disposi-
tion, while he was constrained to decline the offer of arbitration, not to close the
door to a proposition of a different character, if this Government should think
proper to make it. :

Although it was quite obvious to me, in the course of the conversation, that if
the proposal to refer had been deelined upon terms which, in the opinion of Lord
Aberdeen, had not ‘discouraged .a further attempt to renew the negotiation, he
would, as I have heretofore antici]}:ated, have promptly submitted another prop-
osition, it was equally apparent that, in the present posture of the affair, he is
not prepared to do so, at leest immediately. Indeed, he did not conceal his
impression that, he regarded his path s beset with difficulties, of too grave a
character to be suddenly surmounted, 2nd it is quite certain, I think, that nothing
qurther will be attempted, until after the arrival of the Boston steamer of the 1%t

nstant. ‘ .

Notwithstanding these difficulties, I still entertain the opinion that it would

. be in my power, without any improper commitment of the President to lead to
a renewal of the negotiation by this Government, and to the submission, unless
another mode would be more desirable, through its Minister at Washington, of

" a proposition adopting that directed by the President, on the 12t% of July last,
with some modifications not inconsistent, according to the sense I entertain of it,
with our national honor. Of this I should feel quite certain, if I could ofﬁciall§
know that the proposition would probably be acceptable at Washington; and I
should attempt 1t informally, and upon my individual resgonsibi}ity, with scarcely
less 1conﬁdence of success, if, while acting in that way, I could encourage a like
result. . : .

It is due, however, to my own position, and to those with whom I am brought
into intercourse upon this subject to state, that the opinions I have thus expressed,
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are not founded upon any direct communication from those in official station;
but are rather the result of a series of facts and inferences, entitled, however, in
my judgment at least, to not less weight. :

After these observations, I owe it, more particularly to myself, to state that,
beleiving from the history of our previous negotiations, as to the Oregon question,
that it may now be seftled upon the basis of compromise, and with reference to

- interests which have grown up during the joint occupation of the territory,
without a violation of any duty which a public man owes to the rights and honor
of his country, I would not be unwilling, taking the President’s proposition of the
12t» July as a basis, to urge a final adjustment of the question according to that
proposition, but conceding to the Hudson’s Bay Company a continuance of the
privileges of joint occupation, including the navigation of the Columbia, for &
period of seven or ten years longer; and I hope I may be allowed to add that, I
would be willing to assume the responsibility of assenting to an adjustment by
extending the boundary to the Pacific by the 49t parallel, and the strait of Fuca
with free ports to both nations; or by extending the free navigation of the Columbia .
river for a longer period, provided similar advantages upon the St Laurence
could thereby be secured to the United States.

I beleive that upon one of these grounds, perhaps upon either, an adjustment
may be concluded, and I have a strong conviction, that the mode first indicated
is entirely practicable.

I am, however, constrained at the same time to state, from all that has come
to my knowledge here, that I have no reason to beleive that more favorable
terms, than those I have above adverted to, would under any circumstances be
consented to by this Government.

The answer, of February 26, 1846, to the foregoing despatch was
drafted by Buchanan and, in general, embodied his views (Polk’s
Diary, I, 244-46, 253, February 24 and 25, 1846); opening with a
statement of the reasons for rejecting any arbitration of the Oregon
question (some of which had been omitted, by direction of Polk,
from the note of February 4 to Pakenham; see 2bid., 208-9), which
McLane was authorized to ‘“use as occasion may require’’, the instruc-
tion treated at some length as ‘“three propositions’” the terms outlined
in the despatch of McLane of the previous February 3; two of these
were approved (i.e., approved for submission to the Senate), namely
(taking the parallel of 49° north latitude as the mainland boundary),
the concession to the Hudson’s Bay Company of privileges, including
pavigation of the Columbia River, for a period of years, and the
yieldmg to Great Britain of the southern “cap’’ of Vancouver Island
(but without “free ports to both nations’); but the alternative sugges-
tion of McLane regarding the Columbia, an extension of navigdtion
rights on that river for similar rights on the St. Lawrence, was rejected.
Polk was now ready to submit to the Senate any proposal of the
British Government which he thought not “wholly inconsistent with
the rights and honor of the country’’; it was admitted that the Senate
debates (on the joint resolution for the abrogation of the convention
of August 6, 1827, Document 56) showed the sentiment of that body
to be 1n favor of settlement on the basis of 49° north latitude; the views
in favor of compromise entertained by various Democratic Senators
and “‘by the Whig party ! generally’’ were being urged on Polk at this

1 Of the 56 Senators, 25 were Whigs and 31 were of Polk’s party; but there
were factions in the Democratic majority.
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time (see Polk’s Diary, I, 246-56, February 24-27); and ‘Polk was
well aware that senatorial opinions, even beyond those expressed in
debate, were known to the British Government. Relevant paragraphs
of the instruction of February 26, 1846, follow (D.S., 15 Instructions,
Great Britain, 299-308; Senate Document No. 489, 29th Congress,
1st session, serial 478, pp. 40—44):

As a friend of peace with Great Britain, the President regrets that Lord Aber-
deen should have determined to withdraw his opposition to the preparation of
armaments, ‘‘founded upon the contingency of war with the United States.”
Should a fleet of ‘‘thirty sail of the line, besides steamers and other vessels of
war,” be equipped and appear on our coasts, such a demonstration,! as you well
know, would set this country in a blaze. So far from intimidating the American
People, the idea that it was intended to operate upon their fears, would arouse
the national indignation to such a degree as to render any compromise of the
question altogether hopeless. If Lord Aberdeen be, as I do not doubt he is,
sincerely the friend of peace, he will reconsider his determination.

You strongly express the opinion, notwithstanding the existing. difficulties,
‘“that it would be in my {your] power, without any improper commitment of the
President, to lead to a renewal of the negotiation by this [the British] Govern-
ment, and to the submission, unless another mode would be more desirable,
through its Minister at Washington, of a proposition adopting that directed by
the President on the 12 July last, with some modifications not inconsistent,
according to the sense I {you] entertain of it, with our national honor. Of this

"I [youl should feel quite certain if I [you] could officially know that the proposition
would probably be aceeptable at Washington.”
. The concluding paragraph of my despatch to you, of the 29t ultimo (N° 22)
which you will have received shortly after making this suggestion, is perhaps
sufficient to indicate the course which the President would pursue, in case such -
an offer should be made through the British Minister at Washington.

The President, since the date of his message, has seen no cause to change his

- opinion, either in regard to our title to Oregon or to the manner in which it ought
to be asserted. But the Federal Constitution has made the Senate, to a certain
extent, a codrdinate branch of the treaty-muaking power. Without their advice
and consent, no treaty can be concluded. This power could not ‘be entrusted
to wiser or better hands. Besides; in their legislative character, they constitute
& portion of the war-making, as in their Executive capacity they compose a part
of the treaty making power. They are the representatives of the sovereign States
of this Union, and are regarded as the best index of the opinion of their con-
stituents. A rejection of the British ultimatum might probably lead to war, and
as a branch of the legislative power, it would be incumbent upon them to authorize
the necessary preparations to rander this war successful. nder these considera-
tions, the President, in deference to the Senate, and to the true theory of the
constitutional responsibilities of the different branches of the Government, will
forego his own opinions so far as to submit to that body any proposition which
may be made by the British Government, not, in his judgment, wholly incon-
sistent with the rights and honor of the country. Neither is the fact to be dis-
guised, that, from the speeches and proceedings in the Senate, it is probable that
8 proposition to adjust the Oregon question on the parallel of 49° would receive
their favorable consideration. .

But it is necessary to be more explicit.

In your despatch you have presented three propositions, either of which you
believe the British Government would be willing to make, for the adjustment of
the controversy: and you express ‘‘a strong conviction that the mode first indi-
cated is entirely practicable.”” The first would offer an adjustment of the
question on the basis of the President’s proposition of the 12tk July last; “but

1 No such ‘““demonstration’ had even been hinted at by McLane in his despatch
No. 34, of February 3, 1846, cited above, to which this instruction here refers;
McLane answered that he was ‘““not a little surprised at the interpretation you
have given” (see D.S., 56 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 36, March 17, 1846).
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conceding to the Hudson’s Bay Company a continuance of the privileges of joint
occupation, including the navigation of the Columbia for a period of seven or
ten years longer.” The proposition made by the President to which you refer
was, ‘“‘that the Oregon territory shall be divided between the two countries by
the forty-ninth parallel of north-latitude, from the Rocky Mountains to the
Pacific Ocean; offering at the same time to make free to Great Britain any port
or ports on Vancouver’s Island, south of this parallel, which the British Govern-
ment may desire.” .

The President would feel no hesitation in presenting to the Senate, for their
previous “advice and consent,” this. proposition, modified according to your
su%gestion. .

t is necessary, however, that there should be a clear understanding of what
is meant by “a continuance of the privileges of joint occupation.” If this be
understood as securing to the Hudson’s Bay Company, during that limited
period, no more than the privilege of enj(:iying all their existing establishments,
together with that of hunting, fishing, an tradin% with the Indians, and using
the harbors and rivers south of the parallel of 49°, this would not prevent the
President from submitting such a proposition to the Senate. Of course similar
privileges would be extended to American citizens north of 49°, if there be any
such north of that parallel, which is doubtful. But no eoncession could be made
to this company which would, in the mean time, deprive the United States of the
power to establish a territorial Government over the wholé country south of 49°,
and to make grants of land south of this parallel. The President cannot, how-
ever, anticipate any possible change of circumstances which would induce him
to submit such a proposition, if it should contain a surrender to Great Britain
of the perpetual right to navigate the Columbia. A grant of the free navigation
of the St. Lawrence to the United States would be no equivalent for such a
concession. Indeed this has become comparatively valueless, in consequence
of the construction of the railroads and canals leading to the harbors of New
York and Boston, which have rendered these the great channels of import and
export for the region within the United States watered by the St. Lawrence and
its tributaries. . .

The President is desirous so to adjust the Oregon question as not to lcave open
any source from which might proceed new difficulties and new dangers, again to
threaten the peace of the two countries. If the free navigation of the Columbia
were granted to Great Britain, this would become a perpetual cause of strife and
collision between the citizens and subjects of the two countries. It would be
almost impossible, by any vigilance which could be exerted, to execute their
respective revenue laws and prevent smuggling on either side of the river. Be-
sides, there are several portages around the falls and rapids of this river and its
branches, the use of which would be necessary to the enjoyment of its free navi-
gation. This would introduce the subjects of Great Britain, with their mer-
chandise, into the heart of the country, and thus greatly increase the mischief
beyond what it would be if they were confined to the channel of the river. To
estimate the evils which would attend such a concession, we have but to imagine
what would have been the consequences had the British Government suceceeded
in securing for its subjects the free navigation of the Mississippi from its source
to its outlet in the Gulf of Mexico.

The President would also consent, though with reluctance, to submit to the
Senate the second proposition suggested by you, dividing the territory in dispute
between the two countries, ‘‘by extending the boundary to the Pacific by the
forty-ninth parallel and the Strait of Fuca’’; but without the superadded words
“‘with free ports to both nations.”” Thzse words are indefinite, and he cannot
infer from them the extent of your meaning. In case the first proposition to
which you refer should be made by the British Government, the President would
not object to the terms of his offer of the 12t* July last ““to make free to Great
Britain any port or ports on Vancouver’s [sland south of this parallel, which the
British Government may desire.” If the cap of this island should, however, be
surrendered to Great Britain, as would be the case under the second proposition,
" then he would consider the question in regard to free ports as terminated. 1

need not enlarge to you upon the inconvenience, not to saﬁ impossibility, under
our system of Government, after one or more Sta‘es shall have been established



62 Document 122

in Oregon, (an event not far distant,) of making any of their ports free to Great
Britain or any other nation. Besides, our system of drawbacks secures to other
nations the material advantages of free ports without their inconveniencies.

There is one point which it is necessary to guard, whether the first or the
second proposition should be submitted by the British Government. The Strait
of Fuca is an arm of the sea, and under the public law all nations would possess
the same right to navigate it, throughout its whole extent, as they now have to
the navigation of the British Channel. Still, to prevent future difficulties, this
ought to be clearly and distinctly understood. Itisrendered the more necessary
when we recollect that the Russian Government, not many years ago, asserted a
claim to the exclusive navigation of thé Northern Pacific Ocean, between its
Asiatic and American territories, on the principle that it was ‘“a close sea’’!

From what I have said, {ou will perceive that the third proposition to which
you refer would not meet the approbation of the President, even to the extent
of submitting it to the Senate.

Thus, I have presented a frank and unreserved exposition of the views of the
President on this important subject. To what extent you should communicate
them to Lord Aberdeen is left entirely to your own discretion. The President
relies with implicit confidence on your sound judgment, prudence, and patriotism.

A private letter of Buchanan to McLane of February 26, 1846,
the same date as the fore%)ing instruction, includes these paragraphs
{Moore, Works of James Buchanan, VI, 385):

By my Despatch you will be made distinetly acquainted with the ground
which the President has determined to maintain on the Oregon question; and I
do not perceive, after what has passed, how he could do more than submit a -
British proposition based on the parallel of 49 to the Senate. From all I can
learn, there is not the least doubt but that either of the two propositions specified
in my Despatch would receive the previous sanction of a constitutional majority
of that Body. I say the previous sanction, for reasons which I have not the time
to give you.

that I apprehend is that the B.G. in their offer may insist on the perpetual
free navigation of the Columbia. This would indeed be truly embarrassing;
and all your diplomacy should be exerted to prevent it. The President would
not present such a proposition to the Senate, unless he should greatly change his
mind; and if he should, I do not believe that two thirds of that Body would give
it their sanction.

In his despatch of March 3, 1846 (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great
Britain, No. 35), written after the receipt of the instructions of
-January 29, but of course without knowledge of those of February 26,
McLane, on the basis of his conversation with Lord Aberdeen of
February 25, thus reported even more fully and specifically the .
terms of a possible agreement: :

Nevertheless, deeming it of importance that I should, with the least possible
delay, communicate any information in my power concerning the subject of your
Despateh [instruction of January 29, 1846], I sought and obtained an interview
with Lord Aberdeen on the 25%* of February. Of course no allusion whatever
was made to your Despatch; and, the conversation on my part was altogether
informal, though for that reason, perhaps, less constrained than might otherwise
have been necessary; so that while it was not less calculated to attain your object,
it could not in the remotest manner improperly commit the President.

It is my duty to state that the difficulties in the way of a satisfactory adjust-
ment of the Oregon question do nat diminish; and that, in my opinion, the subject
is not less critical than at the date of my last despatch.

It is very certain that this Government will make no further attempt to renew
the negotiation, until your written answer to Mr Packenham’s second proposal
to arbitrate, is received here, and that, whatever may be attempted afterwards
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will depend very much upon the character of that answer. Lord Aberdeen again
complained of the withdrawal of our proposition by the President, before knowing
whether this Government would approve its rejection by Mr Packenham; and,
considering that step as not only unusual, and inconsistent with the nature of our
previous negotiations, he thought it was to be regarded as indicative of the Presi-
dent’s indisposition to settle the question upon the basis of compromise. He
stated that nothing being left, after the withdrawal of the proposition, on which
to base a further overture, this Government had no alternative, consistent with
" national pride, than to propose arbitration; being ready, if that should be rejected
as on a foriner occasion, or, in termns calculated to encourage a renewal of the
negotiation, to subnit a further proposition for that purpose. He continued to
think it difficult, if not impossible, to regard your answer to Mr Packenham’s
first proposal to arbitrate in that light, especially as the answer had been given
with a knowledge of the disapprobation with which Mr Packenhain’s rejection
of our proposition had been received by his Governmment. Under these circum-
stances, he thought there was a greater necessity of waiting to ascertain upon what
grounds, and in what terms, the second proposal to arbitrate would be refused;
observing that inasmuch, as the answer would be given with a knowledge of the
temper with which the President’s message had been received in this country,
it was not unreasonable to expect that it would be of a correspondent tone. If
your answer be of this character, and such as, in the opinion of this Government,
to encourage a renewal of the negotiation, I have no doubt that Mr Packenhain
will be instructed to subinit a further proposition for an equitable division of the
territory in dispute; and I think it altogether probable that the proposition when
made will be in the nature of an ultimatuin.

I understood Lord Aberdeen to state, however, that, if by your answer no
sufficient encouragement be held out to renew the negotiation on the basis of
compromise, it would not be possible for himn to make a further attempt for that
purpose, at least at Washington. Indeed, he said that, in that case, he thought
it would only remain for hin to consider whether he could escape fromn the
embarrassinent in which he would then be placed, by offering a proposition through
me. To this intimation, I could only reply that as my instructions had not
contemnplated such a crisis, it would be time enough for 1ne, to deterinine upon
my course, when the necessity should actually arise. -

Fromn this statement, the President will have it in his power t6 consider and
decide, whether he will deem it expedient in anticipation to furnish me with
instruct(iions best adapted, in his opinion, to the contingency to which I have
adverted.

It was evident to me that Lord Aberdeen thought a termination of the nego-
tiation upon the rejection of the several propositions to refer, would not be less
favorable to this Government, than if it should follow any new proposal of comn-
promise; and I have no doubt that in this view he will be fully sustained by the
public opinion in England. It may be proper to observe here, that in acquainting
vou with the nature of the interview with Lord Aberdeen, I deem it sufficient to
confine my rewmarks chiefly to the views entertained by this Government, as
being of the greatest importance to be communicated to the President, without
detailing at much length, the observations which I may have felt it my duty
occasionally to make in reply. .

In the course of the conversation the character of the partition contemnplated
by this Governinent, or, most likely to be acceptable to it, was more distinctly
foreshadowed than on previous occasions. It is quite certain, I think that the
proposition made by Mr Gallatin in 1826-7, unless with modifications will neither
be renewed nor assented to, by Great Britain. Lord Aberdeen very distinctly
said that, he would have g right, and deem it only proper to consider the several
propositions made by the negotiators respectively at that time, as yet affording
a basis for further negotiation; and supposing that. neither Government could
honorably accept now, the precise offer it then refused, he should insist that the
respective propositions made on that occasion, should be treated as starting
points; and that both nations should consent to such modifications, as while they
effected an equitable partition would save the honor of each.

On the whole, therefore, I have little or no expectation that, this Government
will offer, or assent to a better partition, than the extension of a line on the 49t*
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arallel to the straits of Fuca, and thence down the middle of the strait to the
f’aciﬁc; and, if the line of the 49tk parallel should intersect the Columbis, accord-
ing to Mr Gallatin’s proposition, at a point from which it is navigable totheocean,
with the free navigation of that river, at least for such period as may be necessary
for the trade of the Hudson’s Bay éompany. They will also, I am quite sure,
expect some arrangements for the protection of the present agricultural settle-
ments of British subjects south of the 49t* degree of latitude, and north of the
Columbia. If the Columbia river be not navigable from the point at which it
would be intersected by the extension of a line along the 49t parallel, I beleive
it quite certain that the navigation of the river would not be insisted upon. Pro-
ceeding upon the supposition which I could neither admit nor deny with positive-
ness, that the river was navigable from that point, Lord Aberdeen appeared to
consider that the right of freely navigating it by British subjects, without limita-
tion, as an essential condition: and when, reminding him of the explicit terms in
which the President-in his Message had declared that he could not concede that
privilege, I expressed the opinion that if, after that declaration he persisted in
treating it as a sine qua non, the question might be deemed at an end, he observed
that, having by the Treaty of Washington [Document 99, Article 3] mutually
conceded the free navigation of the St Johns', it was thought only reasonable that
the same concession should apply to the Columbia, and that, although he was not
then prepared to insist upon it as a sine qua non, he could entertain little expecta-
tion that any arrangement which did not allow to British subjects the free navi-
gation of that river, could be made acceptable to his Government. He was at the
same time more explicit (in reply to an observation from me) in declaring that it
would be impossible, under any circumstances, to treat of the navigation of the
St Laurence river in connection with that of the Columbia.

For myself, I have never considered that, independently of the sugposed point
of honor, there could be any substantial motive on the part of this Government,
for insisting upon a stipulation for the free navigation of the Columbia, for a
longer period than might be necessary for the trade of the Hudson’s Bay Company
with the Indians. Indeed it appears to me, to say nothing of the shallowness,
and other obstructions of the river, that the importance of any conventional
stipulation for the free navigation of it, even during that period, is greatly ex-
aggerated. 1 would never for a moment allow any doubt to be expressed of our
right, according to the soundest principles of natural law, to the free navigation
of the St Laurence; and although Great Britain may not consent by conventional
stipulation, to recognize it, she will never venture practically to deny it, any more
than she would resume the practice of imnressment, without the certainty of war.
As long however, as she persists in retaining the right of control over the St
Laurrence, she would be enabled by that means at any time to counteract any inter-
diction by the United States, of the free navigation of the Columbia, and, it may
be presumed, at no greater hazard than she would now continue to insist upon it,
as an indispensable condition to the settlement of the Oregon question. I confess
I cannot help thinking that this consideration deserves to be seriously weighed by
both Governments, in the importance they may respectively attach to any stipu-
lation for the free navigation of the Columbia. However may this be, I will not
beleive, until it can no longer be doubted, that Great Britain will, at the certain
consequence of war insist upon the navigation of the Columbia, for a longer period
than may be really required for the reasonable accommodation of those rights
of ler subjects, which have grown up during the joint occupancy. To that ex-
tent, she might consider a just protection of such rights as involved in the point
of honor; and I should hope we might make the concession, to a reasonable extent,
witliout any sacrifice of our own rights or honor. Is it probable that, within a
period of ten or fifteen years, it would be an object with the United States, on any
ground whatever, to assert the right of navigating such a river as the Columbia
to the exclusion of the *rade of all other nations?

In connection with this part of the subject, I take leave to suggest that, immedi-
ate steps should be taken, as far as may be practicable, to ascertain the actual
s.ate of the branches of the Columbia river on the 49t® parallel. Without being
able to obtain very accurate information here, I have always been under an
impression that from that point neither branch was navigable, unless for small
canoes, and that, between the 49t% parallel and the ocean, there were some inter-
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vening rapids, which would make it necessary for those attemptin% to use it, to
and from the sea, to occupy parts of our territory as portages. If this should
prove to be so, there would not remain a shadow of claim to the use of the river;
indeed, as I have already remarked, I am quite sure that it would not be insisted
upon.

It was very obvious, from the whole tenor of the conversation in the interview
with Lord Aberdeen, that he had taken up an impression, for reasons which,
perhaps, were not fully disclosed, that independently of the propriety of waiting
to see your answer to Mr Packenham’s last proposal, some further delay, before
attempting to renew the negotiation, would not be disadvantageous; and would
rather promote than defeat a satisfactory adjustment; and my opinion to the
contrary, which I expressed and strongly supported, as well for the reasons stated in
your Despatch, as for others, did not seem to shake his impression. He has
doubtless, sources of information in the United States, upon which it is to be
expected, he will place more or less reliance. I rather think also, that he has
been led to regard it as doubtful, whether the notice to terminate the joint occupa~
tion will be authorized by Congress without material modifications; and he
expects that the measures of commercial relaxation, now in progress bere, will
have a beneficial effect upon public opinion in the United States, and render it
more disposed to preserve the advantages of peace. He took occasion also to
express his confident hope, and indeed, his beleif that, notwithstanding the
rejection of Mr Packenham’s proposals to arbitrate, tyet, rather than take the
responsibility, under all the circumstances of the case, of involving the two nations
in war, our Government would ultimately agree to arbitration, in some form or
other. It was very evident that his confidence upon the point had been encour-
aged by advices from the United States, and that it could hardly fail to exert no
small influence upon his mind. I, therefore, deemed it my duty, in pursuance of
your Despatch, to assure him, that from my knowledge of the sentiments of
the President, and of a miajority of the Senate, & submission of the question to
arbitration, under any circumstances, was altogether hopeless, and ought not
again to be thought of. . ]

It is not improbable, either, although no allusion was made to the subject, that
our present and probable difficulties with Mexico, may serve to recommend further
delay, if in fact, they should not influence the ultimate demands upon the part
of this Government. . .

I must however, repeat the opinion that, whatever may be the result of any
present expectation, and according to any view it may take of the question, this
Government will not be likely to propose, or assent to a basis of partition, different
from that I have already stated in the foregoing part of this Despatch. 1t there be
a disposition on the part of our Government to treat upon that basis, I have great
confidence that the negotiation would result in an amicable settlement of the
question. If, on the contrary, it be their determination to insist upon the whole;
or, in no event, to surrender the Southern fpoint of Vancouver’s Island, and, for
no length of time to allow the navigation of the Columbia, then, it is my duty to
say that, in my opinion an amicable adjustment of the question may be considered
as absolutely hopeless; and, that no time should be lost in placing the country in a
state of preparation for the crisis, that would inevitably follow, and as I believe,
not remotely. )

While in general the terms of ‘possible accord stated in the fore-
going despatch (received in Washington on March 21) were similar
to those set forth in the despatch of February 3 (which the instruction
of February 26 had answered in some detail), the language was more
definite and precise. The conditions of adjustment deemed essential
by tbe British Governinent were now alinost as certainly known at
Washington as if they had been stated in corresponding language in a
diplomatic note. What was open in them was the extent and term
of the right of navigation of the Columbia River; and there was a
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. clear and explicit warning from McLane that if that right was not
" to be yielded to any extent or for any period and if the line of 49°
north was to be insisted on across Vancouver Island to the Pacific, the
result would be war. .
However, no further communication to McLane regarding terms
of settlement was deemed necessary at Washington., The recorded
comment of Polk on the despatch of March 3 1s merely that “the
delay of Congress to act upon the recommendations of my message
on the Oregon question had operated prejudicially in England”
(Polk’s Diary, I, 204, March 21, 1846); and the answering instruction,
_ of March 28, went no further than to refer to the previous instruction
- of February 26, to authorize McLane ‘“to receive and transmit to this
Department any proposition made’’ by Aberdeen, although “in no
event will the President consent to transfer the negotiation to Lon-
don”, and to give some inforination regarding the navigability of the
Columbia River and its branches north of the parallel of 49° (D.S,,
15 Instructions, Great Britain, 308-10, March 28, 1846; Senate
Documeént No. 489, 29th Congress, 1st session, serial 478, pp. 44-45).
Polk remained firm in his insistence that he ‘‘could make no propo-
-sition”’ (Polk’s Diary, I, 313, March 30, 1846), as he said in answer
to Calhoun, who remarked that *a question of etiquette ought not to
revent either from reopening the negotiation by a new proposition”;
gut Polk remained also committed to refer to the Senate for advice
any British proposal which approximated the American offer of the
R/Il'evious July 12; and that he had in mind the terms suggested by
cLane in his latest despatch is shown by his conversation with
Senator Benton of April 9, 1846 (1bid., 324-25): «

Col. Benton introduced the Ore%)n question, submitting & map! which he had
brought with him published by Congress with [the report of] Capt Wilkes’s
exploring Expedition in 1841, on which was marked in dotted lines the parallel of
49°. Col. B. repeated the opinion which he had before expressed to me that our
title was best to the valley of the Columbia & he would fight for it before he would
give it up. He thought the British title best to Fraser’s River. His opinion was
that the basis of 49° was the proper line of settlement. I repeated what I once
before said to him, that if Great Britain offered that line, or if she offered it
retaining to herself the Southern cap of Vancouver’s Island & the temporary
navigation of the Columbia River for a term-of years, that in either case I would
submit the proposition to the Senate in Executive Session and take their advice
before I acted onit. Col. B. said that in either case he would advise its acceptance.
I expressed to him as I have uniformly done to others that the Notice should be
given speedily & regretted the delay. I told Col. B. that I had no expectation
that Great Brittain would make any proposition until Congress passed the Notice;
that as long as she calculated on our divisions she would make no movement &
there would be no prospect of a settlement.

As has been seen, the discussions at London between Aberdeen and
McLane had fixed the essential conditions of a British offer within
rather narrow limits, Public debates on the Oregon question in the

1 “Map of the Oregon Territory by the U.S. Ex. Ex. Charles Wilkes Esqr.
Commander. 1841, which is in the atlas of Wilkes, Narrative of the United
States Exploring Expedition. It will be observed that one line of dashes and
dots upon this mnap follows the parallel of 49° from the eastern edge of the map
to the crest of the Rocky Mountains but not west of that point; a similar line -
follows the parallel of .54°40’ from the crest of the Rocky Mountains to the sea.
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Senate had made it known that the preponderating sentiment in that

body was in favor of an adjustment on the basis of a mainland bound-

ary of 49° north latitude; and as the papers laid before the House of

Lords on April 7, 1846, showed (London Times, April 8, 1846; Blue

Book, 1846, ‘‘Correspondence Relative to the Negotiation of the

Question of Disputed Right to the Oregon Territory, on the North-

west Coast of America; Subsequent to the Treaty of Washington of

August 9, 18427, 68-69, 71; see also D.S., 56 Despatches, Great

Britain, No. 41, April 17, 1846), and as McLane’s espatcfles had

reported, the British Government did not waver in its decisior to

make a fresh proposal if and when an occasion deemed suitable arose.

It had been hoped at London that such an opportunity would be
afforded by the.American answer (February 4, 1846) to the secord

British proposal of arbitration (January 16, 1846; strictly not a
proposal, but a su%gestion of Pakenham later approved by Aberdeen;

D.S., 56 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 41, April 17, 1846); but

because of the wording of that answer (received in London on March -
3) and also because of the Senate debates, the British Government

decided to await the vote of the Senate on the resolution for the

termination of the convention of 1827 before making its offer (:bid.,

especially the postscript of April 18; also No. 36, of March 17, and,
No. 37, of April 3, 1846).

In Washin}glton, however, it could not at the time be certainly
known that the British Government would make a proposal; and the
message of March 24, 1846 (Richardson, IV, 426-28), in response to
a Senate mquiry, recommended an increase of naval and milit
forces by reason of both the Oregon question and relations wit
Mexico; and, while communication with the British Government had
continued by means of the important conversations had at London
between McLane and Aberdeen, Polk was able, with literal accuracy,
to inform the Senate on April 13 (¢bid., 429) that “no correspondence” -
on the Oregon question had taken place ! ‘‘since the date of the last
documents” transmitted to both Houses with the messages of Febru-
ary 7, 1846, namely, those in which arbitration was twice offered and
refused (December 27, 1845, to February 4, 1846; Senate Document
No. 117, 29th Congress, 1st session, serial 473 ; House Document No.
105, same session, serial 483). C

The President was to place the responsibility of decision on the
Senate; the views of the British Government and of the Senate
regardin% an adjustment of the Oregon question were very similar;
but the British Government was awaiting a vote of the Senate, and
the President, willmg to chance a change of administration at
London, was awaiting a proposition from the British Government;
the ‘“‘point of etiquette” delayed any move, while war between the
United States and Mexico was approaching (May 13, 1846; 9 Statutes
at Large, 9-10; the decision of Polk for war was definite four days
earlier; Polk’s Diary, I, 384-87). ' o

1 See Webster’s comment that there might have ‘‘been correspondence between

the De%g.rtme,nt of State and the American Minister in London” (Congressional
Globe, XV, 660, April 13, 1846).
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Navicarion or THE CorLumBia RIVER

As has been said, the one point (of the proposal to be made) still
open at London was the extent of the right of navigation of the

olumbia River; a demand for such a ri%ht, if both permanent and
general, was liable to be rejected by Polk without reference to the

enate; limitations eithier of scope or of time were possible; McLane
was arguing for both; after interviews with Aberdeen on April 28 and
29, he wrote on the subject as follows (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great
Britain, No. 43, May 3, 1846):

His object in desiring to see me appeared to be chiefly to acquaint me with the
receipt of despatches by the New York Packet of the fifth April, and to recur to
the impracticability of an attempt, on his part, to reopen the negotiation for the
partition of the Oregon by a new offer, before he learned the vote cf the Senate
upon the resolutions of notice; and also to repeat his regret that so much delay
should have intervened. . ’

There is no doubt, however, that as soon as he ig informed of the Senate’s
vote he will immediately proceed finally to consider the subject and direct Mr
Pakenham to submit a further proposition upon the part of this Government;
and when in the course of the conversation I intimated the possibility that the
Senate’s resolutions might vary from those of the House of Representatives and-
therefore, require to be reconsidered by that body, he consented, in that case, to
proceed without waiting for the further action of the House. 1 thereupon sug-
gested that, as there could be no doubt that the resolutions had already passed
the Seuate, Mr Pakenham should be immediately instructed to offer in this con-
tingency his Ptoposition. This suggestion, however, did not appear to receive
His Lordship’s approbation; and 1 confess that, under all the circumstances, 1
could think of no other means which I thought it prudent to propose, or in which
I could, with propriety, acquesce in order to effect an earlier proceeding.

The precise terms, in detail, of the new proposition which Mr Pakenham will
be instructed to offer did not transpire during my interview with Lord Aberdeen,
and, I am inclined to believe, have not yet been definitively settled in his own
mind. The demand to the permanent right of freely navigating the Columbia
river, however, was adverted to and the grouunds of the demand, as well as the
objections to its’ allowance were pretty fully considered. It is unnecessary for
me to refer to them in extenso in this place, and 1 will content myself with remark-
ing that, in the end, Lord Aberdeen promised to take the subject into his serious
consideration and consult Sir Robert Peel; he did not conceal his apprehensions,
however, that this might prove a point of great and serious difficulty. I refer to

. this point, at present, mainly to reassure you of my conviction that it is regarded
here as in some degree involving their pride and honor, and therefore more diffi-
cult to be compromised than any other; and that the expectation is entertained,
probably, and naturally, from advices received fromn their Minister at Washing-
ton, that ultimately there will be less hesitation on the part of the Senate in
yielding this point than I have uniformly represented. I do not think I can be
mistaken in this.

Indeed Lord Aberdeen again recurred to the main-position, he has uniformly
maintained, that he had the right to consider the offers in the negotiation of
eighteen hundred and twenty six and eighteen hundred and twenty seven as
subsisting, and as affording the basis or starting points of the present negotiation;
and that beyond what was then offered each party, as a salvo to the honor and
pride of the other, should now be required to make some further concession than
wasformerly proposed. And he referred to the speeches of certain Senators during
the recent discussion at Washington as sustaining the same view.
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Tre BriTisH ProrPosaL, MADE AND ACCEPTED

_The joint resolution for abrogation of the convention of August 6,
1827 (Document 56), as amended by the Senate, passed that body
on April 16, 1846. In its earlier form it had been adopted in the
House of Representatives on February 9. The final vote in both
Houses was on April 23; presidential approval followed on April 27;
and these proceedings were known in London by May 15. A con-
ference between McLane and Aberdeen was at onée had (some time
between May 15 and 18; May 17 was Sunday); McLane reported
thereon ;a,s follows (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 44, May
18, 1846): -

I have now to acquaint you that, after the receipt of your Despatches on the
fifteenth Instant by the ‘‘Caledonia”, T had a lengthened conference with Lord
Aberdeen; on which occasion” the resumption of the negotiation for an amicable
settlement of the Oregon question, and the nature of the proposition he con-
templated submitting for that purpose formed the subject of a full and free
conversation. I have now to state that instructions will be transmitted to Mr
Pakenham by the Steamer of tomorrow, to submit a new and further proposition
on the part of this government, for a partition of the territory in dispute.

.The proposition, most probably, will offer substantially.—

First—To divide the territory by the extension of the line on the parallel of
forty nine to the sea; that is to say, to the arm of the sea called Birch’s Bay,
thence by the Canal de Arro and Straits of Fuca to the Qcean, and confirming -
to the United States, what indeed they would possess without any special con-
firmation, the right freely to use and navigate the Strait throughout its’ extent.

Second—To secure to the British subjects occupying lands, forts, and stations
any where in the region North of the Columbia and South of the forty ninth
paralle], a perpetual title to all their lands and stations of which they may be in
actual occupation; liable, however, in all respects as I understand, to the juris-
diction and sovereignty of the United States as citizens of the United States.
Similar privileges will be offered to be extended to citizens of the United States
who may have settlements North of the forty ninth parallel; though I presume
it is pretty well understood that there are no settlements upon which this nominal
mutuality could operate. I have no means of accurately ascertaining the extent
of the present British settlements between the Columbia and the forty ninth
parallel. They are not believed by Lord Aberdeen to be numerous, however;
consisting, as he supposes, of a few private farms and two or:three forts and
stations. I have already, in & previous despatch taken the liberty to remind

" you, that by their charter the Hudson’s Bay Company are prohibited from acquir-
ing title to lands, and that the occupations to be affected by this reservation have
been made either by the Squatters of that company or by the Puget’s Sound
Land Company for the purpose of evading the prohibition of the Hudsons Bay
Charter. They are in point of fact, also, according to Captain Wilkes account,
cultivated and used chiefly by the persons employed in the service of the former
company, and as auxiliary to their general business of hunting and trapping
rather than with a view, as it has been generally supposed, of colonizing or of
permanent settlement. :

Lastly—The proposition will demand for the Hudson’s Bay company the right
of freely navigating the Columbia river. It will, however, as I .understand dis-
claim the idea of sovereignty or of the right of exercising any jurisdiction or police
whatever on the part of this government or of the Company, and will contem-
plate only the right of navigating the river upon the same footing and according
to the same regulations as may be applicable to the citizens of the United States.
I have already acquainted you that Lord Aberdeen has very positively and
explicitly declined to treat of the navigation of the St Lawrence in connexion with
that of the Columbia; and that even if it were desireable to us to propose to offer
one for the other, he would on no account enter into any negotiation in regard to
the St. Laurence! .
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From the date of a private letter to the President in August, I have seen no
cause to change the opinion that, in any attempt to divide the (5regon territory,
the obligation felt by this government to protect the rights of their subjects which
may have been acquired, or have grown up, during the joint-occupation would
most probably interpose the greatest difficulty in the way of an amicable adjust-
ment. And it is now obvious that the proposed reservation of the right to the
Hudson’s Bay Company of freely navigating the Columbia, and that in favor of
the British occupants North of the river, proceed from this source; although, it is
probable that more or less pride may be felt at giving up now, without what they
may deem an adequate equivalent, what has been hitherto tendered by our
negotiators.

n fact, except in the surrender to the United States of the title of the lands not
occupied by British subjects between the Columbia and the forty-ninth parallel,
and also the surrender of the jurisdiction over the river and the country within
the same limits, I am afraid it may with some plausibility be contended that there
is no very material difference between the present proposition and that offered to
Mr Gallatin by Messs Addington and ﬁuskisson the British Negotiators in
eighteen hundred and twenty seven.!

It is scarcely necessary for me to state that the proposition as now submitted,
has not received my countenance. Although it has been no easy task, under all
the circumstances, to lead to a reopening of the negotiation by any proposition
from this government, and to induce it to adopt the parallel of forty nine as the
basis of & boundary, nevertheless, I hoped it would have been in my power to give
the present proposition a less objectionable shape, and I most deeply lament my
inability to accomplish it. I have, therefore, felt it my duty to discourage any
expectation that it would be accepted by the President, or, if submitted to that
body, approved by the Senate.

I do not think there can be much doubt, however, that an impression has been
produced here, that the Senate would accept the proposition now offered, at least
without any material modification, and that the President would not take the
responsibility of rejecting it without consulting the Senate. If there be any
reasonable ground to entertain such an impression, however erroneous, an offer
less objectionable, in the first instance at least, could hardly be expected.

~ It may be considered certain also, in my opinion, that the offer now to be made
ig not to be submitted as an ultimatum; and is not intended as such; though 1
have reason to know that Mr Pakenham will not be authorized to accept or reject
any modification that may be proposed on our é)art; but that he will, in such case,
be instructed to refer the modification to his Government.

It is not to be disguised that since the President’s Annual Message, and the
public discussion that has subsequently taken place in the Scnate, it will be
difficult if not impossible to conduct the negotiation in its future stages without
reference to the opinion of Senators, or free from speculation as to the degree of
controul they may exercise over theresult. Whatever therefore might be prudent
and regular in the ordinary course of things, I think it of the utmost importance,
upon the present occasion, if the President should think proper to propose any
modification of the offer to be made by Mr Pakenham, that the modification
should be understood as posscssing the concurrence of the co-ordinate branch of
the Treaty power. . '

It is not easy to conjecture, with any certainty, the extent to which this
government might be induced to modify the proposition, even if .they should be
agsured that the Senate no less than the President démanded it. It must not
escape observation that, during the preceding administration of our government,
the extension of the line on the forty ninth parallel to the Strait of Fuca, as now
proposed by Lord Aberdeen, was actually suggested by my immediate predecessor.

1 It is true enough, in a sense, that the ‘“‘material” differences between the
British proposals of 1826 and of 1846 are those which McLane states in this
paragraph by way of exception; but the territorial extent of the ‘‘surrender of
the jurisdiction’’ was great, coming to, say, 44,000 square miles,-or more than half
the present State of Washington, and including the region of i’uget Sound; and
glle ax;ds in that area ‘‘occupied by British subjects’’ were less than 1 percent

ereor. . . i
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[Edward Everett] as one he thought his government might accept; and that in
regard to those Enghish subjects who would be left within American jurisdiction
by adopting that boundary, he considered the provisions of the second article of
Jay’s Treaty [Document 16] as a precedent for a convenient mode of dealing
with them. By the second article of Jay’s Treaty, however, British subjects
would not only be secured in the absolute title to all their lands and effects as
fully as by Lord Aberdeen’s proposition, but would be allowed the option to con-
tinue as British subjects and without any allegiance to the government.of the
United States, which according to Lord Aberdeen’s offer, as I understand it,
they would not possess. In point of fact, therefore, the substantial points of the
present offer, and those which may be expected to be regarded as most objection-
able, are little more than the embodiment of the various offers or suggestions
which at different times have, in some form or other, proceeded from our own
negotiations. )

I have myself always believed, if the extension of the line of boundary on the
forty ninth parallel by the Strait of Fuca to the Sea wonld be acceptable to our
Government, that this demand of a right freely to navigate the Columbia river
could be compromised upon a point of time; by conceding it for such period as
might be necessary for the trade of the Hudson’s Bay Company North or South:
of the forty ninth parallel. Entertaining great confidence in that opinion, and
deeming it only reasonable, I confess that from an early period I have used every
argument and persuasion in my power to reconcile Lord Aberdeen to such a limi-
tation; and although I am quite aware that with a portion of the British public
an importance it by no means deserves' is attached to the navigation of the
Columbia river, and that in others it is undeservedly regarded as a point of pride, -
I have been disappointed by the pertinacity with which it has been at so much
risk insisted upon. Feeling very sure, however, that the present offef is not.
made or intended as an ultimatum, I think it only reasonable to infer an expec-
tation on the part of those who are offering it not only that modifications may be
suggested but that they may be reasonably required. And, therefore, I still
entertain the opinion that, although, from a variety of causes, in part, perhaps
from an expectation that in the United States this point may not be absolutely
insisted upon, and in part from deference to ‘interests and impressions at home,
they could not be induced in the first instance to make an offer with such a
quakification, yet if the adjustment of the question should be found to depend
uFon this point only they would yield the demand to the permanent navigation
of the river, and be content to accept it for such a number of years as would
afford all the substantial advantages to those interests they have particularly
in view that could be reasonably desired. If the only question upon which the
adjustment of the Oregon question depended should be whether the navigation
of the Columbia river should be granted for a period sufficient to subserve all the
purposes of British subjects within the disputed territory, or whether the right
should be extended indefinitely, to a particular class of British subjects I must
believe that no English Statesman, in the face of his denial of a similar privilege
to American citizens in regard to the St. Lawrence, would take the hazard upon
this point alone of disturbing the peace of the world. Indeed, if the same Min-
istry from whom the present offer proceeds should continue masters of their own
proposition, by remaining in office until the qualification I am adverting to would
have to cll)e dealt -with, I should feel entire confidence in the belief I have now
expressed. .

regret to say, however, that I have not the least expectation that a less
reservation than is proposed in favor of the occupants of Land between the
Columbia and the forty ninth parallel would be assented to. I may repeat my
conviction, founded upon all the discussions in which I have been engaged here,
that in making partition of the oregon territory, the protection of those interests
which have grown up during the joint occupation is regarded as an indispensable
obligation on the score of honor, and as impossible to be neglected.. I am quite
sure that it was at one time in contemplation to insist upon the free navigation
of the Columbia river for British subjects and British commerce generally, and
that it has been ultimately confined to the Hudson’s Bay company after great
resistance and in the end most reluctantly. Being so confined, however, it
would be only reasonable to limit the enjoyment of the right to a period beyond
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which the company might have no great object to use the river for the purposes
of their trade. But the interests of the Britigh subjects who have gettled upon
and are occupying lands North [south] of the forty ninth are considered as per-
manent, and entitled, when passing under a new jurisdiction, to have their pos-
session secured. This at least is the view taken of the subject by this govern-
ment, and not at all likely, in my opinion to be changed.

I may add too, that I have not the least reason to euppose it would be possible
to obtain the extension of the forty ninth parallel to the sea, s0 as to give the
southern cape of Vancouver’s Ieland to the %uited States.

The statement in the foregoing despatch of the terms of the forth-
coming British proposal (Whichbbecame the Oregon Treaty) proved
to be substantially accurate; fromn a reading of McLane’s despatch,
one would not think that he had seen the text of the British proposal,
but rather that he had merely heard its terms described; but Aber-
deen states positively that he showed the project to McLane (instruc-
tion to Pakenham of June 29, 1846; Pakenham Papers, F.O. 115:91,
No. 30; Washington Papers, V, 235-36; quoted below). In any
case, it is certain that McLane received no copy of the draft; and
in one respect he erred in describing its terms; the treaty has no
clause of ‘‘nominal mutuality’’ in favor of nonexistent American
settlers north of the line, as McLane thought; but that matter was
one of no consequence, either at the time or later.

That McLane wrote with a map in mind (perhaps with one before
him; possibly, but not probably, one seen at his conference with
Aberdeen) is indicated by his mention of Birch’s Bay (pro%erl Birch
Bay) and of the “Canal de Arro” (properly Haro); probably that
map was one of the two maps of Wilkes of 1841 and 1845, respectively
(the former has been cited; the latter is in part reproduced in Wash-
ington Papers, V, facing p. 11), for thereon ‘“Haro” is ‘“Arro” and
Birch Bay (a small indentation of the mainland coast & few miles
south of 49°) is shown as a body of water extending from Vancouver
Island to the mainland; thus it appears to be an ““arm of the sea”,
as McLane called it (see <bid., 200~1). The loci mentioned are
shown on the map facing page 100.

‘It appears, moreover, that at his conference with Aberdeen, McLane
put forward a suggestion to modify the draft by limiting the right of
navigation ‘‘to a term of years”, to which the British Secretary of
State f)or Foreign Affairs “positively declined to accede’” (ibid.,
235-36).

McLane’s despatch of May 18, 1846, reached Washington on June
3; perhaps Polk was somewhat influenced by the-disapproving comn-
ments of McLane, who not only was critical of the absence of any
express limitation of the term of the right of navigation of the Colum-
bia. River in favor of the Hudson’s Bay Company, but who also
attached undue im&»ortance to the clauses for the protection of
possessory rights and titles (Articles 3 and 4). Polk wrote as follows
(Polk’s Diary, I, 44445, June 3, 1846):

If Mr. McLane is right in the character of the proposition which will be made,
it is certain that I cannot accept it, and it is a matter of doubt in my mind whether
it [will] be such as I ought to submit to the Senate for their previous advice
before acting upon it. If I reject it absolutely and make no other proposition
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the probable result will be war. If I submit it to the Senate and they should
advise its acceptance I should be bound by their advice & yet Ishould dosoreluc-
tantly. I had a conference on the subject [with Mr. Buchanan]. He wasnot
prepared without further reflection, as he said, to give his advice on the subject.

A discussion of the despatch in Cabinet took place tbe next day
(ibid., 447—49), when the policy was considered and objections were
made to the absence of any express term for the right of navigation
of the Columbia. Another meeting of the Cabinet, on.June 6, had
before it the text of the British %ro osal, delivered that day (ibid.,
451-55); different opinions as to the legal effect of Article 2 were put
forward: .

The proposition also contained two reservations, . . . secondly, that the
navigation of the Columbia River shall be free, not to Brittish subjects generally
but to the Hudson’s Bay company and to Brittish subjects trading with that
company. As the Hudson’s Bay company will under its present charter cease
to exist in the year 1859, a question arose whether if the charter of the company
should be extended for an additional term of time this reservation as to the
right to navigate the Columbia would extend beyond the life of the present com-
pany under the existing charter. Mr. Walker and Mr. Marcy expressed the
opinion that the right reserved would be limited to the existence of the company
under the existing charter. Mr. Buchanan expressed a different opinion, and a
discussion of some length on this point arose between Mr. Buchanan and Mr.
Walker. I inclined to the opinion that Mr. Walker was right on the point, but
was Dot clear on the subject and so expressed myself.

The advice of the Cabinet was taken as to ‘ whether tlie proposition
sliould be rejected, or whether I should submit it to the Senate for
their previous advice’; of the Cabinet of six, four advised the latter
course (Robert J. Walker, Secretary of the Treasury; William L.
Marcy, Secretary of War; George Bancroft, Secretary of the Navy;
and Cave Johnson, Postinaster General; the Attorney General,
John Y. Mason, was absent, but had expressed the same view; see
ibid., 448-49); the decision reached was in accord with that advice;
and McLane was so informed in & brief instruction of the same date
transmitting a copy of the proposal (D.S., 15 Instructions, Great
Britain, 312, No. 33, June 6, 1846); but in the discussion in Cabinet
Buchanan did not assent to the counsel of his colleagues present until
Polk had remarked “that the substance of my message would be, if
I submitted the proposition to the Senate, a réiteration of my opin-
ions as expressed in my annual message of the 2d of December last
but in view of the action of iny predecessors and of the debates and

roceedings of Congress at its present Session, I subinitted it to the
genate for their previous advice, accompanied with a distinct state-
ment that if the Senate advised its acceptance with or without
modifications I should conform to their advice; but if they declined
to express an opinion, or by the constitutional majority to give their
advice, I should reject the proposition’ (Polk’s Diary, I, 453-54);
and this was after 1t had been ‘‘agreed that if the proposition was
rejected without subinitting it to the Senate that in t,ﬁe present posi-
tion of the t%uesxtion I could offer no modification of it, or other proposi-
tion, and that if it was rejected and no other proposition made, war
was alinost inevitable”’. "l:he position taken by Buchanan regarding.
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the- British proposal is harshly criticized by Polk as inconsistent;
and there was a ‘‘very painfui7 and unpleasant’’ interview between
Polk and Buchanan (June 8) and another long Cabinet meeting (June
9) before the presidential message sent to the Senate on June 10 was
in its final form (see Polk’s Diary, I, 453-62, passim; in 74 Polk
Papersin the Library of Congress there are threé drafts of the message:
the “first rough draft’’ at pp. 721720, a second draft, later ¢ modified
and copied”, at pp. 7225-28, and the draft ‘‘read in Cabinet’’ on
June 9, at pp. 7221-24; inter se they do not greatly differ; the second
and third drafts are very similar; the language of the message sent
to the Senate was taken or adapted from the draft read; but there-
from were omitted passages on the circumstances and terms of the
proposal submitted and of earlier offers, shortening the message by a
_full inoiety). .

The protocol drawn up when the British draft treaty was presented
to Secretary of State Buchanan, June 6, 1846, reads as follows (D.S.,
23 Notes from the British Legation; Senate Document No. 489,
29th Congress, 1st session,_seriaf47,8, p. 13): '

A conference was held at the Department of State on the 6% June 1846, between
the Hon: Jamnes Buchanan, Secretary of State, the American Plenipotentiary,
and the Right Honorable Richard Pakenham, the British Plenipotentiary, when
the negotiation respecting the Oregon Territory was resumed. The British
Plenipotentiary made a verbal explanation of the motives which had induced
Her Majesty’s Government to instruct him to make another proposition to the
Government of the United States for the solution of these long existing difficulties.
The Secretary of State expressed his satisfaction with the friendly motives which
had actuated the British Government in this endeavor.

Whereupon the British Plenipotentiary submitted to the Secretary of State
the draft of a Convention (marked A) setting forth the terms which he had been
instructed to propose to the Government of the United States for the settlement
of the Oregon question.

JamEs BUCHANAN
R PAKENHAM

Beyond the bare and formal record of the protocol, there is this
account by Pakenhain of his two meetings with Buchanan on June 6,
1846 (despatch No. 68, June 7, 1846; not in Pakenham Papers;
printed in Washington Papers, V, 232-33): ‘ '

Her Majesty’s Government will necessarily be anxious to hear as soon as pos-
sible the result of my first communications with the United States Government,
in %ursuance with your Lordship’s instructions of the 18th of May, on the subject
of Oregon. . T

I accordingly take advantage of the departure of the Great Britain steamship
to acquaint your Lordship that I had yesterday morning a conference, by appoint-
ment, with Mr. Buchanan, when the negotiation for the settlement of the Oregon
Question was formally resumed. ) ) : : ’

As the best explanation which I could offer of the motives which had induced
Her Majesty’s Government to instruct me to make a fresh, and, as your Lord- *
ship hoped, a final, proposition for the solution of these long-existing difficulties,
I réad to Mr. Buchananan extract from your Lordship’s dispatch No. 18, begin- -

_ning with the words, “In this state of affairs, it is & matter of some anxiety and
doubt what steps,” &c., to the end of the dispatch. It seemed to me that there
was nothing in the observations contained in this part of your Lordship’s instruc-
tions wiljxich might not be advantageously made known to the American Gov-
ernment. 2 < f i v
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Your Lordship’s language appeared to make a good deal of impression upon
Mr. Buchanan. After I read to him the extract which I had prepared from the
dispatch, he requested to be allowed to read it over himself, in my presence, with
which request I of course complied. I thought it best not to leave a copy of it
in his hands, having in view the possible, aithough not probable, failure of the nego~
tiation which might render it desirable to deliver to him a copy at length of the
dispatch, with a view to its ultimate publication.

I then laid before him a copy of the draught of a Convention which accompanied
your Lordship’s dispatch No. 19, which Mr. Buchanan said he would immediately
submit to the President for his consideration. A minute of what passed between
us was then drawn up and signed, with the draught of the proposed Convention
formally annexed to it. .

Mr. Buchanan frankly told me that, in his opinion, the only part of the pro-
posed arrangement likely to occasion any serious difficulty, was that relating to
the navigation of the Columbia, for he said that the strongest objeotion existed
‘to granting the perpetual freedom of the navigation of that river. I did not fail
to point out to him the great difference which existed between a perpetusal and
general freedom of pavigation, and the qualified right of navigation contem-
plated jn your Lordship’s proposition. ‘He admitted the force of my observa-
tions in this sense, but I collect, from what fell from him on this point, that
an attempt wiil be made to limit the Broposed concession to the duration to
the existing charter of the Hudson’s Bay Company.

At 4 o'clock yesterday evening I again met Mr. Buchanan, by appointment,
when he told me that the President had come to the determination to submit our
whole proposition to the Senate for their advice, and that it would accordingly
be sent to the Senate at an early day with a Message, which Message might, and
probably would, suggest some modifications of it. What these modifications
might be, Mr. Buchanan said, had not yet been determined; but I iinagine they
will not involve anything essentially hostile to the adoption of the proposed
arrangement,-or which may not be overcome by friendly negotiation and expla-
nation between the two Governments.

As relates to the Senate, my Lord, when we consider the moderate and con-
ciliatory spirit in which the entire question of Oregon has been treated by a large
majority of that body since the opening of the present session of Congress, I
think it may be fairly expected that their advice to the President on the reference
which is about to be made to them will rather favor than impede an early and
satisfactory termination of the Oregon difficulties. .

Ishould add that, in addition to what Mr. Buchanan said about the navigation
of the Columbia, he gave it as his opinion that it would be necessary, and even
advisable, with the view to avoid future misunderstanding, to define, or provide
for the early definition of, the limits of the farms and lands now in the occupation
of the Puget Sound Agricultural Company, and which it is proposed shall be
confirmed to the Association in perpetuity. To such a proviso, if conceived in a
spirit of liberality and fairness, I imagine that Her Majesty’s Government will
have no objection. But upon this point, as well as what relates to the navigation
of the Columbia, I will act with due caution, and, to the best of my humble judg-
ment and ability, in conformity with the spirit and intention of your Lordship’s
instructions, as set forth in your Lordship’s dispatch No. 19. =~ - -

In the foregoin%] report of Pakenham reference is made to two
instructions which he had received (Nos. 18 and 19, of May 18, 1846),
and one of which (No. 18) had been in large part read to and by Bu-
chanan; the texts of these instructions follow (from Pakenham
Papers, F.0. 115 : 91; also in Washington Papers, V, 226-29):

[Instruction No. 18]

In the critical state of the Negotiation for the Settlement of the Oregon Boun-
dary, it has become my duty carefully to review the whole course of our proceed-
ings, and to considér what further steps in the present juncture it may be proper
to take with the view of removing cxisting difficulties, and of promoting, if
possible, an amicable termination of the question.
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I willingly abstain from renewing a discussion, the matter for which is already
exhausted, and from repeating arguments with which you have long been familiar;
but I think it is not too much to assert that, to any observer, looking impartially
at the different stages of this Negotiation, it will appear that the conduct of
Great Britain has throughout been moderate, concihiatory, and just. Can it
truly be said that the Government of the United States have advanced to meet
us in the path of mutual concession?

The terms of the settlement proposed by the British Plenipotentiaries to Mt
Gallatin in the year 1826 were much more advantageous to the United States
than those which had been offered to Mt Rush in the previous negotiation of
1824; and on your own departure from this Country you were authorized still
further to augment these advantageous conditions. The United States, on the
other hand, have not only recently made, through Ms Buchanan, a proposal less
favourable to Great Britain than that formerly offered by Mr Gallatin; but when
this was rejected by you, they withdrew it altogether.

In truth, the pretensions of the United States have gradually increased during
the progress of these Negotiations. Acting in manifest violation of the spirit
of the Conventions of 1818, and 1827, it is now formally and officially asserted
that the right of the United States to the whole Territory in dispute is ‘' clear
and unquestionable”. The principle however of these Conventions plainly
recognized the claimsg of both parties, as indeed was fully admitted by the Ameri-
can Plenipotentiary himself; and it was only on failure of the attempt to effect an
equitable partition of the ferritory, that the joint occupancy was established.

Such pretensions, whatever may have been their effect in the United States,
cannot in any manner invalidate or diminish our own just claims. With respect
to these, we have never varied. We have always maintained that we possessed
the right to establish ourselves in any part of the Country, not previously oceupied;
but we have fully acknowledged in the United States the existence of the same
right; and we have also at all times been ready, by an equitable compromise and
partition, to put an end to a species of oceupation which is but too likely to lead
to disputes and collision. :

Despairing of arriving at any agreement by means of direct negotiation, we
have been urgent in pressing the reference of the whole matter to an Arbitration.
We have been willing to submit, either the abstract title of the two parties, or the
equitable division of the Territory, to the judgement of any Tribunal which
could justly inspire confidence, and which might prove agreeable to the United
States. All this, however, has been cf)eremptorily refused; the progress of the
Negotiation has been entirely arrésted, and in fact it now remains without any
admitted or intelligible basis whatever. .

The United States have recently expressed their determination to put an
end to the Convention which for the last thirty years has regulated the mode of
oceupsation of Oregon by the Subjects of both Countries; but as this power was
reserved to each party by the terms of the Convention, the decision cannot
reasonably be questioned. Neither is there anything necessarily unfriendly in
the act itself; but, as both parties would thus be replaced in their former position,
each retaining all its claims, and asserting all its riéhts, which each would freely
exercise, it is obvious that, in proportion as the Country became settled, local
differences would arise which must speedily lead to the most serious consequences.

In this state of affairs it is matter of some anxiety and doubt what steps, with
a view to an amicable settlement of the question, may be most consistent with the
dignity and the interests of Great Britain. After all the efforts we have made,
and the course we have pursued, we might perhaps most naturally pause, and
leave to the United States the office of renewing a negotiation which had been
interrupted under such circumstances. But Her Majesty’s Government would
feel themselves to be eriminal, if they permitted considerations of diplomatic
punctilio or etiquette to prevent them from making every proper exertion to
avert the danger of calamities which they are unwilling to contemplate, but the
magnitude of which scarcely admits of exaggeration. .

-I think that an opportunity has now arisen when we may reasonably lay aside
those formal considerations by which, under ordinary circumstances, we might
hat\)'e been precluded from making any fresh overture or demonstration on this
subject. ’
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In complying with the recommendation of the President to terminate the Con-
vention under which the Oregon Territory is at present occupied, the Legislature
of the United States have accompanied their decision by Resolutions of a pacifick
and conciliatory character; and have clearly signified to the Executive Eo'vern-
ment their desire that this step should not lead to the rupture of amicable nego-
tiations for the settlement of the question. I can scarcely doubt that the
Government of the United States will be duly influenced by the desire thus un-
equivocally expressed by Congress; and it is in this hope and belief that I now
proceed to instruet you to make another, and, I trust, final, proposition to the
American Secretary of State, for the solution of these long existing difficulties.

I avail myself of this opportunity the more readily, because, although Her
Majesty’s Government have strongly pressed a reference of the whole subject
to arbitration, they are by no means insensible to the inconvenience attending
such a mode of proceeding, and would willingly avoid it if possible. Nothing
indeed, but the apprehension that an amicable settlement by means of direct
negotiation was entirely hopeless, would have led them so decidedly to adopt this
course; and they are still of opinion that, with such a prospect of failure before
them, it would be their duty to adhere as earnestly as ever to this recommenda-
tion. - Nor can they believe that any Christian Government could ultimately
persevere in rejecting a proposal of this nature, whatever might be their objections
to its adoption, and in the face of the civilized world deliberately recur to the
dreadful alternative of War. - )

The Boundary having been fixed by the Convention of 1818 between the pos-
sessions of Great Britain and the United States, and the line of demarcation
having been carried along the 49t parallel of Latitude for a distance. of eight
hundred or a thousand miles through an unfrequented and unknown Country,
from the Lake of the Woods to the Rocky Mountains, it appeared to the Govern-
ment of the United States that it was a natural and reasonable suggestion that
this line should be continued along the same parallel, for about half that distance,
and through a Country as little known or frequented, from the Rocky Mountains
to the Sea. And indeed, with reference to such a Country, the extension of any
line of Boundary already fixed might equally have been suggested, whether it had
been carried along the 49t or any other parallel of Latitude.

On the other hand, however, it may justly be observed that any division of
Territory in which both parties possess equal Rights, ought to proceed on a
principle of mutual convenience, rather than on the adherence to an imaginary
geographical line; and in this respect it must be confessed that the Boundary -
thus proposed would be manifestly defective. It would exclude us from every
commodious and accessible Harbour on the Coast; it would deprive us of ourlong

_established means of water communication with the Interior for the prosecution
of our Trade; and it would interfere with the possessions of British Colonists
resident in a district in which it is believed that scarcely an American Citizen, as
a Settler, has ever set his foot. , _

If, therefore, the 49t parallel of Latitude be adopted as the basis of an agree-
ment, it will be incumbent upon us to obviate these objections, which, I trust in
great measure, may be successfully accomplished.

You will accordingly propose to the American Secretary of State that the line
of demarcation should be continued along the 49t: parallel from the Rocky
Mountains to the Sea Coast; and from thence in a Southerly direction through
the centre of King George’s Sound * and the Straits of Juan de Fuea, to the Pacifick
Ocean; leaving the whole of Vancouver’s Island, with its Ports and Harbours, in
the possession of Great Britain.

You will also stipulate that from the point at which the 49tk parallel of Latitude
shall intersect the principal Northern Branch of the Coluinbia River, called

1 A misnomer for the Gulf of Georgia, now Georgia Strait (see Senate Executive
Document No. 29, 40th Congress, 2d session, serial 1316, p. 64; this same docu-
ment, with the addition of a title page, table of contents, index, and list of errata,
was printed under the title, ‘“The Northwest Boundary. Discussion of the
Water Boundary Question: Geographical Memoir of the Islands-in Dispute:
and History of the Military Occupation of San Juan Island: Accompanied by.

!

Map and Cross-sections of Channels . . .”). .
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Macgillivray’s River in the Maps, the Navigation shall be free and open to the
Hudson’s Bay Company and to the Subjects of Great Britain trading with the
said Company, until its junction with the Columbia; and from thence to the
mouth of said River, with free access into and through the same, British Subjects
with their Goods, Merchandize, and produce, to be dealt with as Citizens of the
United. States; it being always understood, however, that nothing shall interfere
to prevent the American Government from making any Regulations respecting
the Navigation of the River not inconsistent with the terms of the proposed
Convention. - :

In the future appropriation of land, the possessory Rights of all British Settlers
will of course be respected. The Hudson’s Bay Company should be confirmed
in the occupation of Fort Vancouver, and the adjacent Lands of which the Com-

any have been in possession for many years. They would also retain such other
gtations as were necessary for the convenient transit of their Commerce along the
line of the Columbia; but all other Stations or trading Posts, connected with their
present exclusive rights of hunting, and of traffick with the Natives, within the
territory South of the 49t Degree of Latitude, would in all probability forthwith .
be abandoned.

The Puget Sound Agricultural Company have expended considerable Sums of
money in the cultivation and improvement of land on the North of the Columbia
River. They occupy two extensive Farms, on which they possess large stocks of
Cattle and Sheep. These parties would also be entitled to be confirmed in the
quiet enjoyment of their land; but if the situation of the Farms should be of pub-
lick and political importance, and it should be desired by the Govérnment of the
United States, the whole property might be transferred to them at & fair valuation.

I think that these proposals for an adjustment of the whole question at issue
would be honourable and advantageous to both parties. It ean scarcely be-
expected that either of them should now acquiesce in conditions less favourable
than had been previously offered; and it may reasonably be presumed that each
will at the present moment be prepared to make larger concessions than heretofore
for the sake of peace. By this settlement, in addition to the terms proposed to
us by Mr Gallatin in 1826, we should obtain the harbours necessary for our
Commerce; as well as an increased security for our Settlers and their possessions; -
and, in lieu of the detached District, with its single Harbour, offered by the
British Plenipotentiaries on that occasion, the United States would acquire the
whole Coast with its various Harbours, and all the Territory North of the Colum-
bia, as far as the 49t* Degree of Latitude.

I am not disposed to weigh very minutely the precise amount of compensation
or equivalent which may be received by either party in the course of this negotia-
tion, but am content to leave such estimate to be made by a reference to higher
considerations than the mere balance of territorial loss or gain. We have sought
peace in the spirit of peace; and we have acted in the persuasion that it would be
cheaply purchased by both Countries at the expense of any sacrifice which
should pot tarnish the honour, or affect the essential interests of either.

I have now therefore only to instruct-you to inform the American Secretary of
State that you have been authorized, and are prepared, to conclude a-Convention
without delay, founded on the conditions set forth in this Despatch. '

[fnstmction No. 10]

With reference to my Despatch Ne 18, of this date, I transmit to you herewith
the Draft, or project, of a Treaty, such at least in its essential parts as Her
Majesty’s Government are prepared to conclude with the United States for the
final settlement of the Oregon Question. .

That groject may be understood to embody all the conditions which are con-
sidered by us as indispensable. The wording of the Articles may be altered as
may be deemed expedient; but their substance must be preserved; nor ¢an any
essential departure from that substance be admitted on the part of (}reat Britain.

The preamble may be considered as open {o any alteration which may be pro-
posed and which you may think expedient. In the project which I have sent you
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the definition of the Territory adopted in the Convention of 1827 has been adhered
: t% That definition appears to be the most suitable, and open to the least
objection. .

If the United States’ Government should agree to our terms such or nearly
such as they are now proposed, you will dc well to hasten as much as possible
the conclusion of the Treaty, since the present constitution of the Senate appears
to offer a greater chance of the acquiescence of that important Body in those
Conditions than might be presented at any future period.

If, on the other hand, the President should decline to accept those Terms, and
should make any counter proposition essentially at variance with their substance,
you will express regret that you possess no power to admit any such Modification,
and without absolutely rejecting whatever proposal may be submitted on the part
of the United States, you will refer the whole matter to your Government.

In addition to the foregoing instructions of May 18, 1846, and under
the same date, Aberdeen wrote a letter to Pakenham on the subject
of the British proposal; the text of that communication, except for
one immaterial postscript, follows; in respect of the form of the treaty,
though not of tlll)e substance, Pakenham was vested with considerable
discretion; and there is one highly interesting paragraph regarding
the navigation clause of Article 2 (Selections from the Correspondence
of George, Earl of Aberdeen, 1845-48, 218-21; a copy of this volume
- is in the Library of Congress): ' '

Protracted as the debate in the Senate has been, it has at last had a good ter-
mination; and the difference of opinion which followed with the House of Repre-
sentatives, has rather had a benelicial effect than otherwise, in consequence of the
ﬁgmntezsg of the Senate, and the conciliatory character of the resolutions as finally
adopted.

I have already informed you that I only waited for the vote of the Senate in
order to renew our propositions for the settlement of the Oregon question; and
accordingly, by the present packet, I send you full instructions, as well as the
principal articles of a Convention to be laid before the President for his acceptance,
and to which we propose to adhere. .

I am indifferent about the form of the preamble. That which I send appears
to be suitable and proper; but, if the American Goveérnment desire anything
different, you are perfectly at Iiberty to modify it in any manner you may think
right and may find to be expedient.

The language of the three articles may also be varied in any manner which
may be more acceptable, provided the substance be retained. 1t is very possible
that the expressions may be improved, but the conditions themselves will not
admit of any alteration.

Without calling this Convention an wltimatum, it will, in fact, be so as far as
you are concerned; although you will, of course, send home for consideration any
proposition which may be made at variance with these conditions. You will make .
no difficulty, however, in admitting at once other articles which may be proposed,
and which are not in opposition to those now sent to you, if they should appear
to you to he unobjectionable. We do not profess to send you a complete Conven-
tion, but only such articles as, in substance, we consider to be indispensable.

There is only one alteration of importance which you may admit without
reference, and which, to prevent misapprehension, I will now mention to you. In
the article which relates to the Columbia river, it is stipulated that the navigation
shall be free and open to the Hudson’s Bay Company, and to all subjects of Great
Britain trading with the said Company. As the Hudson’s Bay Company are
really the only persons interested in the matter, it has been thought best to name .
them, as in some degree accounting for the concession of the navigation in conse-
quence of their rights of possession and acquired interests in the territory; but if,
for any reasons which lpca.nnot anticipate, the American Government should
prefer to grant the navigation generally to British subjects, without naming the
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Hudson’s Bay Company, you will make no objection. The greater term will
include the less. :

It is our desire and hope that you may be able to conclude this Convention
without delay. I think the American Government must be prepared for the
conditions we have proposed, by the despatches of Mr. McLane on_different
occasions, as I have had much discussion with him, and have no doubt that he will

. do his best to ensure the acceptance of our terms. It seems generally to be appre-
hended with good reason that, if Congress should rise without our having previously
come to any agreement, there is very little hope of any amicable settlement here-
after. Time, therefore, is even of more importance with you than with us; and
we have accordingly been careful to make our proposal as moderate as possible, in
order to facilitate its prompt acceptance. Nevertheless, I think it probable that,
in consequence. of his former declarations, the President will not venture to incur
the responsibility of accepting the Convention; but that the best we can hope is
his referring the whole matter to the Senate. In this case, with the temper which
appears to exist in that body, I should be sanguine in the belief that the requisite
majority of two-thirds may be found.

- It is just possible, notwithstanding Mr. McLane’s assurances of the pacific dis-
position of the President, that he may take upon himself to reject our proposals,
and not to make any reference to the Senate. Where so much is done under the
influence of popular excitement, and with a view to produce some effect in domestic
policy, we can never be quite certain of the principle upon which the President may
ultimately act. Should he follow this course, it will be for you to consider how far
it may be prudent and useful to present a copy of my despatch to Mr. Buchanan,
with a view to its production on a motion being made for that purpose in the
Senate. This, however, I should be inclined to think would only be desirable in
the event of the negociation being suspended altogether. But you will know best
what ought to be done, according to the temper of the Senate and of the public.

There is another consideration which ought not to be entirely laid aside,
although much delicacy will be required in adverting toit. You must be aware,
from your own corrgspondence, from the public press, and from the apparent state
of parties, that the existecnce of the present Government in this country is very
R}ecarious. I have not thought it necessary to conceal this state of things from .

r. McLane, who, of course, will report it to his Government. It will not be at
all necessary for you to touch upon the subject; on the contrary, you should be
perfectly silent on this head; but if Mr. Buchanan or the President should endeav-
our to discover your opinion, you will at once admit the fact, and leave them
to make what use they may think proper of the information so confirmed.

Should we remain in office, I will not venture to say what might be the chance of
any material alteration of our propositions being accepted. It would be extremely

. difficuit for us to acquiesce in any such, should it be attempted; but I think it
would be quite impossible for my successor, even if he were so inclined, to make an
greater concessions than those which I have proposed. A reference to England,
therefore, which, if made to me, would be of very doubtful success, would, if
received by another, be nearly equivalent to a rupture of the negociation. Thigis
a consideration which, in addition to the early termination of the Session of Con-
gress, ought to make the American Government, if really desirous of an amicable
settlement, endeavour to conclude the matter with you, upon the basis of the
i)roposals now sent, rather than incur the risk of a fresh reference to this country.

repeat, however, that I would not have you touch at all upon this subject, unless

.you should be spoken to, with the view of obtaining from you a confirmation of
that which I have no doubt Mr. McLane will report. : :

I should be glad if you would write to me pnvately, and let me know if any
communication of this kind-has taken place between you and the American Gov-
ernment, and whether you think that these considerations may have exercised
any influence upon their final decision. . :

P.S.—It has occurred, as being barely possible, that some state of things may
have arisen in the United States, which, in your judgment, would render it desir-
able for you to withhold our proposals from being made to the Government. I
‘cannot conceive this; but still, if you should be conscientiously convinced that, if
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I possessed a knowledge of the same facts, it would not be my desire that the
proposals should be made, I beg that you will exercise your own diseretion, and
sutipend them accordingly.

" I repeat, that I think 1t in the highest degree improbable that such should be
the case; at the same time, as you may feel reluctant not to comply with precise
instructions, I wish to give you full liberty on the subject.

-Regarding the influence of the then prospective change of adminis-
tration in Great Britain upon the decision of the Government of the
"United States, three further letters are quoted (ibid., 297, 299-301):

[Mr. Pakenham to Lord Aberdeen, June 7, 1846]

It is right that Your Lordship should know that, in the course of our conversa-
" tion yesterday, Mr. Buchanan observed, of course without any allusion on my
part to such a topic, that he should deeply regret the failure of our present efforts
to effect a settlement of the Oregon question, because he had heard, he said, from
Mr. McLane that, in the actual state of pohtics in England, the existence of the
Eresent administration must be considered as precarious; and he was convinced,
e went on to say, that it would not be easy that another Government should be
formed more disposed to act with fairness, moderation, and liberality towards the
United States. ) ‘

For every reason, he said that he should lament the retirement of the Queen’s
confidential advisers,—but more especially with reference to the .question of
Oregon,—should any delay or difficulty occur in the negociation now on foot.
This makes me believe that the President and his Ministers will be anxious not to
lose the favourable opportunity now offered to them, of setting at rest for ever a
question which has been s0 long a sore and an annoyance to both Governnients.

I must add, that the opinion expressed by Mr. Buchanan on the point above
referred to is that which appears to prevail among men of -all parties in the
United States, and to be that most generally inculcated by the public press.

{Mr. Pakenham to Lord Aberdeen, June 13, 1846]
[Extract]

The Oregon question is settled at last, and I for one am heartily glad of it.

The positive impatience shown by Mr. Buchanan, to sign and conclude, con-
vinces me that the fear lest any complication should arise out of the Mexican war
has done a great deal in inducing the American Government to accept Your
Lordship’s proposal without alteration. The bare suggestion of a reference to
'En(fland was sufficient to overcome every difficulty that was talked of. If it
had not been for this circumstance, I am far from being satisfied that the matter
would have-been so promptly and easily settled.

[Lord Aberdeen to Mr. Pakenham, June 30, 1846]
[Extract]

I entertain no doubt that it was not the apprehension of any embarrassment in
consequence of the Mexican War which led to this decision; but that it was entirely
owing to the impending change of the administration in this country, and a desire
to settle the whole affair with us before our departure. - Mr. McLane told me he
bad informed his Government, we should not be in office on the 1st July, and that,
if they desired to bring the negociation with us to a successful conclusion, no time
was to be lost. The conduct of my predecessor and expected successor [Viacount
Palmerston),- with regard to the Ashburton Treaty, had filled Mr, McLane with

126186°~—37——8
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the greatest alarm, which, I presume, was shared by the Government of the United
States. Be the cause of their decision what it may, it is a most fortunate and
happy event.

Whether the Oregon question would have had a different ending if
a Whig administration had come into power at London before the
settlement was reached, can be no more than a matter for speculation;
on the subject of “British Party Politics and the Oregon Treaty”
there is a highly interesting and instructive article l%v Professor
Frederick Merk (American Historical Review, XXXVII, 653-77);
the reasons for the failure of Lord John Russell to form & government
in December 1845 are there given; the hostile attitude of both Lord
John Russell and Viscount Palmerston to an Oregon settlement are
. described, with mention of Russell’s speech in April 1845, following
Polk’s inaugural address; the views of Palmerston continued un-
altered, as shown by his letter of February 2, 1846, to Russell, which -
is there quoted; but the attitude of Russell had earber changed, asis
indicated by his speech of January 12, 1846, at Glasgow, an excerpt
from which 1s given, by his comment on Pakenham in the Commons on
January 23, and by this very significant passage in his letter to Palm-
erston of February 3 (quoted <bid., 658): ‘“My opinion upon the
whole is that we may well and with due regard to our own interests
give up the Columbia river, and I have let Aberdeen know privately
that he will have no opposition from me on that ground.” See also,
by the same author, ‘“British Government Propaganda and the Oregon
Treaty”, in American Historical Review, X1, 38-62.

PossiBLE MoDIFICATIONS

As the British proposal was accepted, its terms were written as the
terms of the treaty; but that proposal had not been presented as an
ultimatum; and McLane reported in his despatch of July 3, 1846, that
some modifications might have been obtained; that despatch also
throws light on the discussions at London of the right of navigation of
the Columbia River (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great Britain, No, 58):

I received on the twenty ninth of June your despatch number thirty four, dated
the thirteenth of the same month; acquainting me with the proceedings and
resolution of the Senate in regard to the British proposition for the partition of the
territory of Oregon.

I communicated the substance of your Despatch to Lord Aberdeen, in the course
of the morning of the same day; and I may now assert with even greater confidence
(if not with absolute certainty) than I did in my despatch of the eighteenth of
Mae', that if the President and Senate had proposed, as a modification of the
British proposition, to limit the right of navigating the Columbia river to a term
of years it would have been conceded before Ministers announced [on June 29;
Hansard, LXXXVII, 1039-41] their resignation to the two houses of Parliament.
I think it is equally certain that the proposed variations of the articles of the
Convention from the statement.in my Despatch of the eighteenth of May, re-
ferred to in your Despatch! of the sixti; of June, might also have been reconciled
without difficulty; and, indeed, Lord Aberdeen thought one of them, that relating
to the omission to secure the possessions of our citizens North of the forty ninth
parallel, would be rectified by Mr Pakenham himself, without reference to his
government.

1 As to this ‘““Despatch”, see below.
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It is quite obvious, however, that in my previous conversations with Lord
Aberdeen, I.had overrated the difficuity which a demand to the permanent
navigation of the Columbia river would interpose; and that Mt Pakenham was
better informed of the opinions and practicabilities at Washington than I was.
Lord Aberdeen is of course better satisfied that he relied less upon my assurances
-than upon those received from other quarters; though, for myself, I rather think
the settlement is one with which both nations may be satisfied. And I will
moreover confess that, but for the nature of your several communications, I
should have regarded, and did regard, the stipulation as it stands much more
desirable even fgor us, than a concession of the free navigation of the river for a
long term of years to British subjects and British commerce generally,

Lord Aberdeen was not disposed, however, to assent to the meaning the Senate
desire to affix to the article as it stands relative to the navigation of the Columbia
river; though he said it would remain a question of construction to be considered
and decided when the occasion for it might arise. I still believe the question is
not regarded here, as one of great importance. I deem it my duty, at the same
time, to state that in the course of the discussions here in relation to that article
of the convention the duration of the Charter of the Hudson’s bay company was
not particularly adverted to. o

The right freely to navigate the river was first demanded indefinitely and for
British subjects and British commerce generally, as it had been offered in eighteen
hundred and twenty six-seven. It was mainly urged on the ground that having -
been offered before 1t would be derogatory on the part of Great Britain to yield it
now, and that it was necessary as affording only proper protection to those rights
which had grown up during the g;)int-occupancy. I endeavoured to effect a
compromise of the point by conceding the navigation for such period ouly as it
would be absolutely needed for the proper enjoyment of those rights which had
so grown up: and I had reason to believe at one time that it had been determined
‘to make the proposition with that limitation. - Subsequently, however, it became
apparent that a change for some reason had taken place, and I did not doubt
that information from Washington had been received here which made it difficult -
if not impossible that the British Ministry should in the first instance offer to
accept the navigation of the river for a limited period. In this posture of the
affair, I suggested and earnestly pressed, without, however, committing myself
to its’ acceptance or approval, that the right of navigating the river should be
confined to the purposes and trade of the Hudson’s Bay Company, for which it
had been said it was chiefiy intended, and this suggestion, after some discussion
and after a reconsideration of the subject by the Cabinet, was adopted. My
object in urging this restriction was twofold; first by restricting the privilege
to a particular Company, and denying it to British subjects and British Commerce

enerally, I supposed if we insisted upon confining it to a term of years, it would
%e more difficult for this government to risk a rupture in favor of a rigflt 80 con-
fined to a particular trade and a particular class of subjects; and, secondly, that °
as the operations of the Hudson’s Bay Company would be of temporary duration
the privilege would in point of fact be of no long continuance 4

In the foregoing despatch McLane refers to ‘‘the proposed varia.
tions of the articles . . . referred to in your [Buchanan’s] Despatct
of the sixth of June”’, which he thinks “it 1s equally certain . . .
might also have been reconciled without difficulty”; to understand’
this, one must have in mind that the ““Despatch’ of June 6, 1846, iz’
not the instruction No. 33 of that date (cited above), which officially
informed McLane of the decision reached that day to submit the
British proposal to the Senate, but is Buchanan’s private letter of
June 6, 1846, wherein Buchanan wrote as follows (Moore, Works of
James Buchanan, VII, 3—4): -

I have but little time to scribble you a private letter before the closing of the
Mail to go by the Great Britain. '
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The President has determined to submit Lord Aberdeen’s projet to the Senate.
He has no alternative as you know between this & its absolute rejection.

The proviso to the first article would seem to render it questionable whether
both parties would have the right to navigate the Strait of Fuca, as an arm of
the Sea, north of the parallel of 49°; neither does it provide that the line shall
pass through the Canal de Arro, as stated in your Despatch. This would probably
be the fair construction. '

The articles relating to the possessions of British occupants South of 49° is
vague & indefinite; & in order to prevent disputes between the two Governments
hereafter as to the extent of these possessions, it would seem to be a prudent
precaution to provide some means of ascertaining the rights of these occupants
respectively. There is no reciprocal provision in the treaty for American settlers
North of 49°. There may be none there; but yet such a provision would give
the Convention a fairer appearance.

The right of the Hudson’s Bay Company to the navigation of the Columbia
presents the important difficulty. It is considered doubtful by the President
and several members of the Cabinet whether under the terms of the projet this
right would not expire upon the termination of the existing charter of that
Company in 1859. :

The President’s message will re-iterate the opinions expressed in his annual
message in favor of our title to 54°40; but in consideration of & in deference to
the contrary opinions expressed by the Senate, his Constitutional advisers, he
submits the projet to them for their previous advice. He may probably suggest
some modifications, C ’

What the Senate may do in the premises is uncertain. There undoubtedly
is in that Body a Constitutional majority in favor of settling the question on the
paralle! of 49 to the Straits of Fuca. The question of the perpetual navigation .
of the Columbia is & ought to be the point of difficulty. Should the Senate
modify this article so as to limit the right to the termination of the existing
charter of the Hudson’s Bay Company, I can scarcely suppose that this modifica~
tion would be rejected by the British Government. *

Thus, according to Mecl.ane, there were four modifications of the

treaty which might have been obtained; three of them were the ‘‘pro-
"posed variations” of the Buchanan letter just quoted, namely: (a) a

more specific description of the water boundary, so as to mention
Haro Strait; (b) a statement of the right to navigate the Strait of
Fuea (i.e., the waters connecting therewith) north of 49°; and (¢) a
-reci}ilrocal provision for American settlers north of the boundary.

The first of those three ‘‘variations”, if made, would have been of
real importance; for, while the line- would be just as it now is, there
would have been no controversy for a quarter of a century over the
San Juan water boundary and no reference of the question to arbitra~
tion (see Washington Papers, V, passim); during that arbitration
mention was made of Buchanan’s letter of June 6, 1846, but its text
was Dot in evidence (ibid., 205; a copy of the letter was before Secre-
tary of State: Cass when he wrote. to George M. Dallas, Minister at
London, on October 20, 1859, that therein Buchanan ‘‘expressly
mentions the Canal de Haro as the channel intended by the treaty’’;
see D.S., 17 Instructions, Great Britain, 229, 243; Senate Executive
Document No. 29, 40th Congress, 2d session, serial 1316, pp. 231, 236).

McLane also says, almost ‘‘with absolute certainty”, that if the
President and Senate had proposed a limitation of a term of years of
the right of navigation of the Columbia (Article 2), it would have been
conceded -at once; his mention of the ‘“meaning” attributed by the

“Senate to Article 2 refers to the following paragraphs in the instruc-
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tion of June 13, 1846, written after ‘the first resolution of advice of
the Senate of June 12 but before the final resolution of advice and
consent of June 18 (D.S., 15 Instructions, Great Britain, 312-13):

I have learned from the best sources that the Senate gave this advice under
the conviction that, by the true construction of the second article of the projet,
the right of the Hudson’s Bay Company to navigate the Columbia would expire
with the termination of their present license to trade with the Indians, &c., on
the Northwest Coast of America, on the 30t* May, 1859. In conversation with
Mr, Pakenham to-day, I communicated this fact to him, and requested him to
state it in his despatch to Lord Aberdeen.

The treaty will be signed and sent to the Senate on Monday next [June 15]:
and it is more than probable that they will, in some form or other, place upon
their records their understanding of its true construction in this particular.

It had been proposed in the Senate during the proceedings of June
11 and 12 to add a proviso to Article 2 of the draft treaty to the effect
that the right of navigation thereby secured should be expressly
limited in time so as to expire either by 1859 or (as the motion was.
finally drafted) by 1863; but an amendment in that sense to the Senate
resolution of advice had been negatived by 10 yeas to 31 nays (see
Executive Journal, VII, 88, 89); according to the view expressed by
Buchanan, this was for the reason that such a proviso was deemed
unnecessary. .

Pakenham, in a conversation with Buchanan on June I3, 1846,
explicitly refused to assent to the suggested interpretation (Washing-
ton Papers, V, 234-35, despatch No. 77, of June 13,.1846; the two
final paragraphs there printed do not appear in Pakenham Papers,
F.0. 5:449, which contain only an ‘‘extract’” from that despatch;
but the entire despatch is in Selections from the Correspondence of
George, Earl of Aberdeen,- 1845-48, 298-99); Aberdeen had been
equaﬁy clear in his conference with McLane on June 29, as reported
by the latter in his despatch of July 3 (quoted above); and ‘added to
this is the instruction of June 29 to Pakenham, which follows (from
‘P;akenham Papers, F.O. 115:91, No. 30; also in Washington Papers,

, 235-36): S ‘

Her Majesty’s Government have received this day with the greatest satisfac-
tion your Despatch No 77 of the 13t instant, in which you announce the accept-
ance by the Senate of the Draft of Treaty for the settlement of the Oregon Ques-
tion which was conveyed to you in my Despatch No 19 of the 18tk of May, and also
the intention of the President to proceed forthwith to the completion of the pro-
posed Convention, .

In your Despatch you state that Mr Buchanan had observed to you that the
privilege of navigating the Columbia River which, by the second Article of the
Convention is secured to the Hudson’s Bay Company and to British Subjects
trading with the same, was understood by the Senate to be limited to the duration
of the License under which the Company now carry on their operations in the
Country West of the Rocky Mountains; to which observation.you very properly
replied that the Article proposed by Her Majesty’s Government spoke for itself..

othing in fact can well be clearer than the language of that Article. In draw-:
ing it up, I had not the smallest intention of restrictin% the British right to navi-
gate the Columbia in the manner supposed, nor can I comprehend how such a
supposition could have been entertained by the Senate, for I have reason to know
that Mr MeLane fully and faithfully reported to his Government all that passed
between. himself and me respecting the navigation of the Columbia. In every.
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conversation that we held on the subject of the proposed Treaty, I not only de-
clared to Mr McLane that we must insist on the permanent right being secured to
us to navigate the Columbia, but I even shewed him the project of the Treaty
and on his expressing an apprehension that the provision contained in the second
Article would not be accepted, unless the right of navigation were limited to a term
of years, I positively declined to accede to this suggestion.

I think it right to state these facts, in order to obviate any misapprehensions
which might possibly hereafter be raised on the construction of the 24 Article of
the Oregon Treaty.

JoLy 1t 1846

P.S. Since writing this Despatch, I have held a conversation with Mr M<Lane,
in which he has freely and fully confirmed all that I have stated above with refer-
ence to his own understanding of the intent of the 24 Article of the Oregon Treaty.

Thus Aberdeen ingisted that his proposal did not and was not in-
tended to include any limitation of time in Article 2 and that lis
understanding in that respect was well known to McLane. It is
not in the least inconsistent with such insistence thiat-Aberdeen would
according to McLane, liave conceded such a time limitation if it had
been put forward by the President and Senate in response to thie Brit-
ish proposal.

Tae Joint REsoLuTioN oF ArriL 27, 1846

Article 2 of the convention of August 6, 1827 (Document 56), reads
as follows: ' :

It shall be competent, however, to either of the Contracting Parties, in case
either should think fit, at any time after the Twentieth of October 1828, on giving
due notice of Twelve Months to the other Contracting Party, to annul and
abrogate this Convention: and it shall, in such case, be accordingly entirely
annulled and abrogated, after the expiration -of the said term of notice.

Abrogation of that convention of August 6, 1827, became & neces-
sary part of the Oregon policy of Polk after the negotiations for a
settlement of the Oregon question had been interrupted by thie with-
drawal (on August 30, 1845) of the American proposal; congressional
authority for the giving of the requisite notice was deemed necessary
by Polk and his advisers (but there was dissent at the time; see the
minority report of the House Committee on Foreign Affairs in Con-
gressional Globe, XV, 138-39, January 5, 1846; for other subsequent
views on the point, see Crandall, Treaties, Their Making and Enforce-
ment, 2d ed., 458-62); and such authorization was requested in the
a{)mua)l presidential message of December 2, 1845 (quoted in part
above). .

The ensuing debates in Congress were naturally not limited in
scope to the 1827 convention and its abrogation; they extended to the
Oregon question and to the Oregon poli%y of the United States in their
widest sense; the congressional proceedings were of great, perhaps
controlling, influence 1n the settlement reaclied ; they were public and
reports of them were sent to London by every mail; they were pro-
longed, as thie proposed resolution pended in the Senate for more than
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two months and the date of final enactment was nearly five months
later than the presidential request; the attitude of the National
Legislature counted, of necessity, both with the British Foreign Office
and with the American Executive; and from an early stage there was
no doubt that a large majority in the Senate favored agreement on
the Oregon question on the basis of the line of 49°; moreover, the atti-
tude of the British Government was sufficiently well known to tbe
Senate to be there a factor of importance; that attitude had not been
as fully disclosed as would have been the case had McLane’s des-
‘patches been communicated; but press reports from Englan® the
discussions in Parliament, and doubtless also senatorial conversa-
tions in Washington with Buchanan and Pakenham had given the
substance of the Oregon policy of Great Britain at the time.

Pakenham wads in touch with various Senators. He reported to
Aberdeen on December 29, 1845, that Senator William S. Archer, of
Virginia, with William Wilson Corcoran, prominent banker of Wash-
ington, had urged him to propose the 49th parallel as a boundary,
together with provision that the whole of Vancouver Island should
%0 to Great Britain and that the right of free navigation of the Colum-

ia should be conceded, at least for a term of years; and he stated that

they had assured him such an offer would be sent to the Senate, where .
it would be approved (Pakenham Papers, F.O. 5:430, despatch
No. 138, and confidential despatch, unnumbered). By the same
time he had learned from Senator Benton, of Missouri, that the latter
would favor such a settlement (ibid.). On February 26, 1846, he
reported that the disposition of the Senate ‘‘is becoming every day
more pacifick” and that Calhoun and Webster had both told him
only a few members of the Senate would vote against ‘‘an accommoda-
tion . . . on the principle of equitable partition and compromise’’
(zbid., F.0. 5:446, despatch No. 19, and confidential despatch,
unnumbered). He was consulted by certain- Senators, unnamed,
regarding a suggested resolution expressing the sense of the Senate in
favor of the resumption of negotiations on the basis proposed by
Gallatm in 1826; he advised Aberdeen that ‘‘until something in this
way shall have taken place . . . no further proposition should be
made on the part of England’ (ibid.); and he pointed out that even
the most moderate members of the Senate would insist on the 49th
parallel as the basis of any arrangement, so that ‘‘the advocates of a
peaceful settlement of the question are now universally designated as
49. Men, in contradistinction to those who go for the whole of
Oregon even at the risk of War, and are called 54.40 men” (ibid.,
F.0. 5 : 447, despatch No. 34, March 29, 1846).

Certainly Polk was disappointed both with the delay in Congress
(Polk’s Diary, I, 338, 348, April 18 and 23, 1846) and with the form
of the resolution as finally passed (:bid., 341, April 20, 1846):

I would have preferred a naked notice; that next to that I preferred the House
Resolutions; but it being now ascertained by repeated votes in the Senate that
neithler could be had, I decidedly preferred the Senate form of notice to no notice-
at all.
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At the same time Aberdeen was waiting for the passage of the
resolution by the Senate as an opening for ghe meaking of the British
proposal (see McLane’s despatches of April 17 and May 3, 1846, both
cited above and the latter quoted in part) and was naturally pfeased
with the conciliatory wording of the preamble of the resolution in its
final form (in his instruction No. 18 to Pakenhain, of May 18, 1846,
quoted above, see the paragraph beginning, ‘“‘In complying with the
recommendation’’).
The Qregon debates of 1846, during the first session of the Twenty-
ninth Congress, are in Congressional Globe, XV, and appendix,
assim; one speech of Senator Lewis Cass, of Michigan, is in b,
VI, aﬁpendix, 26-31. The joint resolution for ‘notice’’ originated
in the House of Representatives and as there passed on February 9,
1846, was as follows (1bid., XV, 350):

JOINT RESOLUTION of notice to Great Britain to “annull and abrogate’”
the convention between Great Britain and the United States, of the sixth of
August, eighteen hundred and twenty-seven, relative to the country ‘“on the
northwest coast of America, westward of the Stony mountains,” commonly
called Oregon. :

Resolved by the Senate and House of Represeniatives of the United States of America
tn Congress assembled, That the President of the United States cause notice to be
given to the Government of Great Britain, that the convention between the
United States of America and Great Britain, concerning the territory on the
northwest coast of America west of the Stony or Rocky mountains, of the sixth
day of August eighteen hundred and twenty-seven, signed at London, shall be
annulled and abrogated twelve months after giving said notice. -

Resolved, That nothing herein contained is intended to interfere with the right
‘and discretion of the proper authorities of the two contracting parties to renew or

ursue negotiations for an amicable settlement of the controversy respecting the
gon territory.

In the Senate, where the vote on third reading was 40 yeas to 14
nays (ibid., 683, April 16, 1846), the form of the resolution was
eatly changed; its 'mtro(iuctory passages were framed in friendly
anguage, and its clause for the notice was authorizing and not
“mandatory (for the Senate form, see 1bid., 691); following amendinents
by the House to the .Senate form (ibid., 691-92), which the Senate
refused (ibid., 693), and a conference, the resolution was finally
passed, in very nearly the Senate form, on Agril 23 (ibvd., 716-17,
720-21), and becamne law on April 27, 1846. It reads as follows 9
Statutes at Ldrge, 109-10; collated here with the original):

Joint Resolution concerning the Oregon Territory.

Whereas, by the convention concluded the twentieth day of October, eighteen
hundred and eighteen, between the United States of America and the King of the
United Kingdom of CGreat Britain and Ireland, for the period of ten years, and
afterwards indefimitely extended and continued in force by another convention
of the same Xarties, concluded the sixth day of August in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and twenty-seven, it was agreed that any country
that may be claimed by either party on the northwest coast of America westward
of the Stony or Rocky Mountains, now commonly called the Oregon territory,
should, together with its harbors, bays, and creeks, and the navigation of all
rivers within the same, be ‘“‘free and open’’ to the vessels, citizens, and subjects
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of the two powers, but without prejudice to any claim which either of the parties
might have to any part of said country; and with this further provision, in the
second article of the said convention of the sixth of August, eighteen hundred and
twenty-seven, that either party might abrogate and annul said convention on
giving due notice of twelve months to the other contracting party—

nd Whereas it has now become desirable that the respective claims of the
United States and Great Britain should be definitely settled, and that said ter-
ritory may no longer than need be remain subject to the evil consequences of the
divided allegiance of its American and British population, and of the confusion and
conflict of national jurisdictions, dangerous to the cherished peace and good
understanding of the two countries:

With a view therefore that steps be taken for the abrogation of the said con-
vention of the sixth of August, eighteen hundred and twenty-seven, in the mode
prescribed in its second article, and that the attention of the governments of both
countries may be the more earnestly directed to the adoption of all proper
measures for a speedy and amicable adjustment of the differences and disputes in
regard to the said territory:

Resolved, by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United Statés of
America in Congress assembled, That the President of the United States be, and
he is hereby authorized, at his discretion, to give to the government of Great
Britain the notice required by the second article of the said convention of the
sixth of August, eighteen hundred and twenty-seven, for the abrogation of the
same.

Joun W Davis
Speaker of the House of Representatives,
G. M. DaLLas.
President of the Senale.
Approved April 27t 1846;
James K. PoLx

Webster thus spoke his view of the part played by the Senate (The
Writings and Speeches of Daniel Webster, 1V, 20-21, December 2,
1846):

Now, Gentlemen, the remarkable characteristic of the settlement of this
Oregon question by treaty is this. In the general operation of government,
treaties are negotiated by the President and ratified by the Senate; but here is
the reverse,—here is a treaty negotiated by the Senate, and only agreed to by
the President. In August, 1845, all effort of the administration to settle the
Oregon question by negotiation had come to an end; and I am not aware that,
from that day to the absolute signature of the treaty, the administration, or its
agents at home, or its agents abroad, did the least thing upon earth to advance
the negotiation towards settlement in any shape one single step; and if it had
stood where they left it, it would have remained unsettled at this moment. But
it was settled. The discussions in Congress, the discussions on the other side of
the water, the general sense of the community, all protested against the iniquity
of two of the greatest nations of modern times rushing into war and shedding
Christian blood in such a controversy. All enforced the conviction, that it was
a ggllegtion to be settled by an equitable and fair consideration, and it was thus
settled.

.No one, perhaps, was more intimately in touch with the progress of
events at Washington in 184546 (outside of the interchanges between
the President anf his advisers) than was the British Plenipotentiary;
and while naturally to be thought perhaps biased and not impartial,
his portrayal of the effect of the Senate attitude on the administration
policy (written after publication of the instructions of Buchanan) is
worthy of quotation (despatch No. 106, August 13, 1846; not in
Pakenhan: Papers; Washington Papers, V, 236-37):
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The injunction of secrecy having been removed by a resolution of the Senate,
I have the honor herewith to transmit three numbers of the Union, official news-
paper, containing, in an authentic form, (Union of 7th August,) the papers rela-
tive to the conclusion of the Oregon negotiation which I had the honor to transmit
in an unauthorized form with my disxif,rtch No. 100, and also (Unions of 8th and
10th August) two Messages from the President to the Senate, the first communi-
cating for approval the Treaty signed here on the 15th of June, the second com-
municating documents not before communicated to the Senate relative to the
Oregon Territory, in answer to a resolution of the Senate of the 17th June last.

Among the papers thus made public, the one which I should most particularly
recommend to your Lordship’s attention, is a dispatch from Mr, Buchanan to
Mr. MacLane, dated the 12th of July, 1845, (Union of 8th August,) setting forth
the terms on which the President was willing, at that time, to settle the Oregon
question, but evidently with little or no expectation that those terms would be
accepted by Great Britain, I might almost say with an expectation scareely con-
cealed that they would be rejected, when, to use Mr. Buchanan’s own words, the
President would “be relieved from the embarrassment in which he has been
involved by the acts, offers, and declarations of his predecessors,” and be justified
in going to war for the whole territori. .

Theremarkable thingin thisdispatchis the confidence which it betraysthat,in the
course which the President had made up his mind to follow with reference to the Or-
egon question, he would receive the countenance and support of the Senate and the
country, even to the extremity of a war with England. . The result has shown
that, in this expectation, he did not do justice either to the wisdom and integrity
of the Senate, or to the intelligence and good sense of the American people.

Within a few days after the opening of the late session of Congress it became
evident that Mr. Polk’s policy respecting Oregon was viewed with no favor by
a large majority of the Senate, nor was the war cry raised by the more ardent
partisans of the Administration responded to in any part of the country.

In process of time this conclusion forced itself on the mind of the President
and his advisers, and hence your Lordship will find in the ulterior dispatches of
Mr. Buchanan to Mr. MacLane a far more moderate and subdued tone, until at
last they exhibit a positive and conciliatory desire to settle the question by coni-
promise, the title of the United States to ‘‘the whole of Oregon” having appar-
ently been forgotten.

If further proof were wanted of the anxiety of this Government to be extri-
cated from the mistaken position in which they had placed themselves, it would
be found in the alacrity in which the terms last proposed by Her Majesty’s
Governmert for the settlement of the controversy were accepted.

Sufficient time has now elapsed since the proniulgation of the Treaty to enable
us to judge of the light in which the transaction has been viewed throughout the
country, and it is gratifying to say that it has been everywhere received with
satisfaction and applause. )

No evidence whatever of a contrary feeling has come within my observation,
except it be among the disappointed advocates of a war policy, who had staked
their political fortune upon the adoption of extreme measures, and even in these

uarters, I am bound in truth to say that the irritation is rather against the
%resident and his ministers for having, as they say, deceived and betrayed them,
than from any express condemnation of the Treaty itself.

Tae NoTICE OF ABROGATION

In Polk’s Diary (I, 353-54) is the following eﬁtry for Saturday,
April 25, 1846:

The Cabinet held a regular meeting to-day; all the members present. I
brought before the Cabinet the subject of the Joint Resolution of Congress author-
izing me ‘‘in my discretion” to give to the Government of Great Brittain notice
to abrogate the Convention of the 6th of August, 1827, concerning the Oregon
Territory. I stated that I had determined to give the notice without delay, and
that in my Judgment it was proper to give it to the Brittish Government in
England and not to the Brittish Plenopotentiary here. In this the Cabinet were
agreed. Mr. Buchanan had suggested to me on yesterday that the notice should
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be given to the Earl of Aberdeen, Her Brittanic Majesty’s Minister for Foreign
affairs. To this I had objected upon the ground that as the Executive Chief
Magistrate of the U.S. I could hold no communication with a subordinate minister
of the Government of Great Brittain, but that any communication from the Presi-
dent must be addressed directly to the Sovereign of that country. In this the
Cabinet were agreed, Mr. Buchanan having yielded his suggestion made to me on
yesterday. It was agreed that Mr. Buchanan should prepare the form of notice,
to be subinitted to the Cabinet at their next meeting so as to be in time to be
transmitted to Mr. McLane at London by the Steamer of the 1st proximo, to be by
him delivered to the constituted authorities of the Government of Great Brittain.

- Polk was quite right in saying that the President of the United
States properly communicates formally only with the sovereign or
chief of state of another country; but {e was mistaken in supposing
that the notice of abrogation was required to be signed by the Presi-
dent. The authorization of Congress naturally and as a matter of
course named the President (and not any subordinate) as empowered
to act; but it was no more necessary for the President to sign the
notice himself. than it was for him to proceed to London to dehver
it; a note directed by the President to be written and delivered by
McLane to Aberdeen would have served every purpose; such a course
would have been in accord with later practice; but this was the first
occasion in our history of the abrogation of a treaty of the United
States by notice from this Government; so there was at the time no
American precedent as a guide.

Pursuant to the views of the President, the instrument of notice
was in solemn and elaborate form, under the Great Seal, signed by
the President, countersigned by the Secretary of State, and addressed
to Queen Victoria, as follows (D.S., 1 Communications to Foreign
Sovereigns and States, 337-39; Senate Document No. 489, 29th
Congress, 1st session, serial 478, pp. 47—48; the form: prepared by
Buchanan was longer; sec Polk’s Diary, I, 360, April 27, 1846):

To Her Majesty VicToria,
Queen of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, &c., &c., &e.

Whereas the Congress of the United States have adopted a ‘‘Joint Resolution
concerning the Oregon Territory, of which the following is a copy:

[Here follows the fext of the joint resolution]

Now, therefore, after a careful consideration of the premises, I, James K..
Polk, President of the United States, in the exercise of the authority and discre-
tion vested in me by the said ‘““Joint Resolution concerning the Oregon Terri-
tory”, and in pursuance of the second article of the Convention of the sixth of
August, eighteen hundred and twenty-seven, therein mentioned, do hereby, in
behalf of the United States, give notice to Her Majesty the Queen of the United
Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, that at the end of twelve months from
and after the delivery of these presents, by the Envoy Extraordinary and Minister
Plenipotentiary of the United States at London, to Her Britannic Majesty, or to
Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, the said Con-
vention shall be entirely annulled and abrogated.

In testimony whereof, 1 have caused the seal of the United States
~ to be hereunto affixed. Given under my hand at Washington, this

(L.S.) twenty-eighth day of April, A.D. 1846, and of the Independence of

the said States the seventieth. . :

By the President:
James BucHANAN,
Secretary of State.

James K. PoLrk.
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The instruction to McLane transmitting the instrument of notice
was of the same date, April 28, 1846; Polk had a hand in its drafting
(abid., 1, 360-61); its material paragraphs follow (D.S., 15 Instruc-
tions, Great Britain, 292-94; Senate Document No. 489, 29th Con-
gress, 1st session, serial 478, p. 46):

I herewith transmit a notice for the abrogation of the Convention of the 6t?
August, 1827, between Great Britain and the United States, in accordance with
the terms prescribed in its second article. This paper you will deliver to Her
Britannic Majesty in person, or to Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State
for Foreign Affairs, after you shall have ascertained which of these modes of
presenting it will be most in accordance with Her Majesty’s wishes. A duplicate
of the same ig transmitted, to be placed on file in the archives.of your Legation.

As the abrogation of this Convention is an act of an important and solemn
character, the delivery of the notice ought to be attested with all due formality.
The mode is left entirely to your own discretion; but I would suggest that it
might be made the subject of a protocol in triplicate, one copy of which should
remain with the British Government, another with the Legation in London,
and the third be transmitted to this Department.

In the remarks which you may have occasion to make on the delivery of the
notice, the language of the preamble to the ‘‘joint resolution concerning the
Oregon Territory’” must necessarily be your guide. It is true that the President
would have preferred a naked resolution, authorizing him to give the notice;
and he believes that if such a resolution had been adopted by Congress during
the month of December last, the controversy might have been adjusted both more
speedily and upon better terms for the United States. He was content, never-
theless, with the resolution as it originally passed the House of Representatives:
and in the form finally adopted he considers it preferable to a failure of the
measure. However, C{)ngress have spoken their will upon the subject in their
joint resolution, and to this it is his and your duty to conform.

Ugon_a, careful review of my despatch to you (N¢ 23,) of the 26t* February last
the President finds nothing to change. It will still continue to be the guide of
your conduct. In that despatch, I have distinctly declared that ¢ the President
bas at all times been prepared to receive and to treat with the utmost respect any
proposal for a compromise [of the Oregon question] which might emanate from the
British Government. Whilst he has not deemed it proper to invite such a pro-
posal, he has ever manifested an anxious desire to preserve amicable relations with
Great Britain.” These sentiments of the President you may communicate to
Lord Aberdeen on delivering the notice.

In the present state of the negotiation, it is clear that, ‘“in the adoption of all
proper measures for a speedy and amicable adjustment of the differences and
disputes in regard to said territory”’, the first proposal ought to proceed from the
British Government. It is deemed unnecessary to enforce so plain a proposition
by arguments as these will readily occur to your own mind, should this become a
question, which, however, cannot be anticipated.

The foregoimg instruction, with its enclosures, was received at
London on May 15, 1846, “late in the day”. McLane naturally
found it impossible to follow the suggestion that the notice be delivered
to Queen Victoria ‘‘in person’’ or to have the delivery ‘“made the
subject of a protocol in triplicate’’; and before any action by McLane
was feasible the British proposal for adjustment of the Oregon ques-
tion had been formulated (May 18) and forwarded to Washington by
the packet of May 19, so that the later paragraphs of the instruction
became superfluous.

McLane’s despatch of May 24 gives an account of his interview with
Aberdeen on May 20 and of the procedure adopted; the text of that
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despatch and of its enclosures, the note of McLane to Aberdeen of
May 20 (delivered May 21) and the reply .of the iatter of May 22,
follow (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great Britain, No. 48, and enclosures;
only the note of Aberdeen is printed in Senate Document No. 489,
29th Congress, 1st session, serial 478, pp. 49-50; that note is here
collated with the original, enclosure to despatch No. 49, May 27,
1846): '

I wrote on the eighteenth Instant, acknowledging the receipt of your Despatch,
Number twenty sevén, dated the twenty eighth of of April, in which you trans-
mitted the notice from the President abrogating the convention of August eighteen
hundred and twenty seven between Great Britain and the United States, and
instructing me as to the mode of delivering it. At the same time I informed you
that I intended on the day following, the nineteenth, to proceed in the execution
of your instructions.

I did not obtain an interview with Lord Aberdeen, however, until the twentieth
Instant. On that occasion I showed bim the notice in the form in which it had
been transmitted to me and acquainted him with such parts of your Despatch as
would best explain the wishes of the President, and, as I thought, might without
impropriety be communicated.

It will be observed, that as the notice was to be delivered to Her Majesty, or to
the Principal Secretary of State for Foreign affairs, according to Her Majesty’s
wishes, neither that, nor the suggestion in your letter of making the delivery the
subject of a protocol in triplicate could be determined without the concurrence of
Her Majesty’s government.

Of course, it would have been more agreeable to me, without any reference to
regularity, to have conformed in all respects to the suggestions in your Despatch.
Lord Aberdeen, however, was quite explicit not only in requiring that the notice
should be delivered to the Principal Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, but, in
his objection to making the delivery the subject of a Protocol in triplicate

He said that, according to common usage, in cases of terininating a treaty by
notice fromn one of the contracting parties to the other, the notification from the
government dissolvingFthe treaty was made through the regular Functionary of
communication with Foreign Governments of the other contracting Party; he
referred particularly to a recent case! of a proceeding by the Government of
Brazil to terminate the Treaty with Great Britain.by notice for that purpose,
in which, although it became a question whether the casus feederis had arisen,
the same course, in deference to common precedent, was pursued; and he insisted
upon the adoption of the same ceremony upon the present occasion. Other-
wise he apprehended that, if called upon, he would find it difficult to give a
satisfactory explanation of the departure from the accustomed form.

Being entirely satisfied that the mode of delivering the notice thus indicated
would be in every respect valid and authentic, with or without consent, I confess
that the preference given to it by this government appeared to me rather to
recommend than discourage its’ adoption.

It was finally understood under these circumstances, that I should communi-
cate the notice in a note to the Principal Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs,
referring to my having previously acquainted him with the transmission of the
notice from my Government, and with the special instructions and suggestions
accompanying it; that I should also refer to the objections he had made to the
adoption of the mode I had suggested under your instructions, and to the pref-

1 The “‘recent case’’ concerned the slave trade convention between Brazil and
Great Britain of July 28, 1817, with an additional article thereto of September
11, 1817 (British and Foreign State Papers, IV, 85-116); another relevant con-
vention is that of November 23, 1826 (ibid., XIV, 609-12), especially the first
article thereof; for the correspondence of 1845, see ibid., XXXIV, 688-90, 692
98, 502-3, 527, 537. . '
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erence he had ultimately given to the established form in similar cases, and that,
conforming to that.custom and his preference of it, I should ask an acknowledge-
ment of the receipt of my note and of the notice for the purpose for which it had
been given. .

Accordingly, on the same day of the interview I prepared my communication
enclosing the Notice as transmitted to me, and the following day delivered both -
at the Foreign Office: on the twenty second I received from the Earl of Aberdeen
his reply of the same date in which he acknowledges on the part of Her Majesty’s
Government the receipt of the said notice, and declares that, in conformity with
its’ tenor, Her Majesty’s Government will consider the Convention of the sixth
of August eighteen hundred and twenty seven abrogated accordingly from the
twenty first of May eighteen hundred and forty seven.

I hereto annex copies of the whole; and by the first safe private opportunity
will transmit the original of the Earl of Aberdeen’s reply, to be filed in the archives
of the Department. - The notice, in duplicate, transmitted from the department,
is filed in_the archives of this Legation, and a full record of the correspondence
with the Earl of Aberdeen carefully made. o

It would seem to me that the nature of Lord Aberdeen’s answer, if nothing
else, would render the mode of delivering the notice as satisfactory as any that
could have been suggested; and I have to express the hope that the President
will take the same view of it.

[Mr. McLane to Lord Aberdeen)

The undersigned, Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary of the
United States of America, has already had the honor to acquaint the Earl of
Aberdeen, Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State for Foreign affairs, that
the Undersigned has received from his government & notice from the President
of the United States, given in pursuance of a joint resolution of both Houses of
Congress, for the abrogation of the Convention of the sixth of August eighteen
hundred and twenty seven between Great Britain and the United States, in
accordance with the terms preseribed in it’s second article; which notice ad-
dressed to Her Majesty, and signed by the President; countersigned by the
Secretary of State and sealed with the seal of the United States, is in the follow-
ing wor

[Here follows the notice in full]

The Undersigned has also stated to the Earl of Aberdeen that he has been
especially instructed to deliver the notice in the foregoing form to Her Britannic

ajesty in person, or to Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State for Foreign
Affairs, after the Undersigned shall have ascertained which of these modes will
be most in accordance with Her Majesty’s wishes. -

The undersigned has also acquainted the Earl of Aberdeen with the sugges-
tion of the Secretary of State of the United States that the delivery of the notice
might be made the subject of a Protocol in Triplicate, one copy of which should
remain with the British Government, another with the Legation of the United
States at London, and the third be transmitted to the Department of State at
Wagshington:

And the undersigned having been informed by the Earl of Aberdeen, in an-
swer to these communications, that the delivery of the notice to Her Britannic
Majesty in person would be irregular; and that in conformity with the usage
in such cases, the notice should be delivered to Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary
of State for Foreign affairs, by note addressed to him by the undersigned for
that purpose, and not in the mode suggested by the Secretary of State of the
United States;

The undersigned therefore, conforming to the mode preferred by His Lordship,
as the most regular and most in conformity with the usage in such cases, has the
honor to enclose to the Earl of Aberdeen, Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of
State for Foreign affairs, the said notice from the President of the United States.
for the abrogation of the convention aforesaid, in the form in which it has been
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transmitted to the undersigned from His Government; and to request that the
Earl of Aberdeen will acknowledge the receipt of this note, and the delivery of
the notice for the purpose for which it is delivered.
The undersigned takes the opportunity to renew to the Earl of Aberdeen the
assurance of his distinguished consideration.
: (signed) Louis MeLaANE
38 HArRLEY STREET CAVENDISH SQUARE
20 May 1846.

{Lord Aberdeen to Mr. McLane|

The Undersigned, Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State for Foreign
Affairs, has had the honour to receive the Note of Mt M¢Lane, Envoy Extraor-
dinary and Minister Plenipotentiary of the United States of America, dated the
20t», and delivered in on the 21%, instant, inclosing a Document dated the 28t
day of April, signed by the President of the United States of America, and
countersigned bg the Secretary of State, in which, after reciting a joint resolution
concerning the Oregon Territory which has been adopted by the Congress of the
United States, the President, in conformity with the terms of that resolution,
%‘ives to Her Britannick Majesty’s Government the notice required by the second

rticle of the Convention of the 6t of August 1827 between Great Britain and
the United States, for the abrogation of the same.

The Undersigned acknowledges accordingly, on the part of Her Majesty’s
Government, the receipt of the said notice, and declares that, in conformity
with its tenour, Her Majesty’s Government will consider the Convention of the
. 6% of August 1827 abrogated accordingly from the 21t day of May 1847.

The Undersigned has the honour to renew to Mt Me¢Lane the assurances of his
high consideration.

ABE#DEEN
ForeigN QrricE, May 22. 1846.
Louis M°*LanNe Esq. '

However, by the entry into force of the Oregon Treaty on July 17,
1846, with 1ts definitive boundary clauses, the convention of August
6, 1827, was superseded and the ‘‘joint occupation’ of the Oregon
country was legally at an end; the abrogation of the convention of
1827 was thus rendered of no future importence. '

There was destined, however, to be another ‘‘joint occupation”’,
military in character, of a very small area of the Oregon country;
during the controversy over the water boundary local friction devel-
oped on San Juan Island (of about fifty square miles, lying east of
Haro Strait), -where the Hudson’s Bay Company had established a
station and where there were living ‘‘twenty-five Americans, with
their families”’ (Senate Executive Document No. 29, 40th Congress,
2d session, serial 1316, p. 148); this resulted in the so-called ‘‘pig
war’’ of 1859 (the sole casualty being one pig), and was followed by
an arrangement for the stationing on San Juan Island of small
detachments (seemingly not more ﬁmn 100 strong) of United States
infantry and of British marines; papers regarding the occupation are in
1bid., 143-270; see also British and Foreign State Papers, L, 796801,
and LV, 743-90; the joint military occupation of gan Juan Island
continued until November 1872 (Washington Papers,V,270-71). For
the geographical position of the island, see the map facing page 100.
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TaE ExcHANGE oF RATIFICATIONS

The United States instrument of ratification of the Oregon Treaty
was sent to London by General Robert Armstrong, consul at Liver-
pool, as bearer of despatches (D.S., 15 Instructions, Great Britain,
314-15, June 22, 1846); the instruction to McLane was of the same
date (ibid., 315-16), and he was furnished with the usual full power
@O JSu,l 3 Credences, 178, June 20, 1846). The papers reached London
on July 11. '

In the meantime, on July 6, 1846, the Government of Sir Robert

Peel had been succeeded by that of Lord John Russell, with Viscount .

Palmerston as Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs; and it was with

the latter that McLane exchanged the ratifications on July 17. The -
notes leading up to the appointment for the purpose are quoted as :

of some procedural interest (D.S., 56 Despatches, Great Britain, No.
65, July 17, 1846, enclosures; the latter of the two is an original):

[Mr. McLane to Lord Palmerston)

The Undersigned, Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary of the
United States of America, has the honor to acquaint Lord Viscount Palmerston,
Her Majesty’s Principal éecreta,r.y of State for Foreign Affairs, that the Treaty
concluded on the fifteenth ultimo between the United States and Great Britain
for the adjustment of the Oregon question has been ratified by the President on
the part of the United States; and that the Undersigned has received the Presi-
%/(Iant’s ratification in order that it may be exchanged against that of Her Britannie

ajesty. . .

The %ndersigned has also the honor to acquaint Lord Palmerston that he has
been authorized by special power from the President to exchange the ratifications
of the Treaty with such person as may be duly empowered for that purpose on
the part of Her Majesty’s government.

The treaty as concluded, and ratified by the President appearing to be in all
respects identical with the projet submitted on the part of Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment, the ratification on the part of Her Majesty may be anticipated as not likely
to occasion any hesitation; and the undersigned has been instructed to express
a desire on the'part of the President that he should be able before the adjourn-
ment of Congress to acquaint that Body with the final consummation of an act
which, he cherishes the hope, may be regarded as establishing the foundation of
a cordial and lasting amity between the two countries. The undersigned. has
the honor to state also that in order to comply with the President’s wishes, it
will be necessary that the undersigned should be enabled, by a previous exchange
of the ratifications, to transmit the ratification on the part of Her Majesty to

his government by a Special Messenger whom he proposes to despatch from Lon- .
don fur that purpose on the eighteenth Instant; and he has the honor therefore, *

to request that Lord Viscount Palmerston would be ?leased to take such steps as
may appear to him to be proper for the completion of the requisite ceremonials in
seagon for that purpose.
The Undersigned takes the occasion to renew to Lord Viscount Palmerston the
assurance of his distinguished consideration.
(Signed) Lovuis M¢LANE

38 HARLEY STREET July 13 1846

[Lord Palmerston to Mr. McLane]

Lord Palmerston presents his Compliments to Mr M<Lane, and will be hap{)y
to have the honour of receiving him at the Foreign Office on Friday next [July 17]

at Three O’Clock, for the purpose of exchanging the Ratifications of the Treaty



" Great Britain : 1846 a 97

for tHe settlement of the Oregon Boundary. It will be necessary to collate the
respective Ratifications previously to their being exchanged; and if Mr MsLane
should not wish to do this himself, he will perhaps have the goodness to send the
Secretary of his Legation to the Foreign Office for the purpose, with the
President’s Ratification, half an hour before the time fixed for the exchange.

Formian Orrice July 15. 1846

ArTicLES 3 AND 4

The act of September 27, 1850, “to create the Office of Surveyor-
General of the Public Lands in Oregon, and to provide for the Survey,
and to make Donations to Settlers of the said Public Lands” (9
Statutes at Large, 496-500), contained, in sections 4 and 11, provisions
regarding treaty rights to lands in the Territory of Oregon; that
territory then included “‘all that part of the Terntory of the United
States which lies west of the summit of the Rock ountains, north
of the forty-second. degree of north latitude’ (ibid., 323-31, act of
August 14, 1848).

gl‘;der the treaty with Great Britain signed at Washington July 1,
1863, -the possessory rights of the Hudson’s Bay Cownpany and the
property of the Puget’s Sound Agricultural Company referred to in
Articles 3 and 4 of the Oregon Treaty were, pursuant to the award of
September 10, 1869, acquired by the United States for the respective
sums of $450,000 and $200,000. - An account of the claims of the two
companies and of the proceedings had is in Moore, International
Arbitrations, I, 237-70; see also the papers of the ‘British and Ameri-
can Joint Commission for the Final Settlement of the Claims of the
Hudson’s Bay -and Puget’s Sound Agricultural Companies’’, printed
in 1865-69 in fourteen volumes, including an index.

The arbitral decision of the German Emperor regarding the water
boundarg (referred to below) was dated October 21, 1872; there was
approved on June 20, 1874, “An act to ascertain the possessory
rights of the Hudson’s Bay Company and other British subjects within
the limits which were the the subject of the award of His Majesty
the Emperor of Germany under tile treaty of Washington of May
eight, eighteen hundred and seventy-one, and for other purposes”,
providing in part as follows (18 Statutes at Large, pt. 3, 129-30):

That a commissioner be appointed by the President of the United States, to
make, and report to the Secretary of the Interior, a list of all British subjeets
who, on the fifteenth day of June, eighteen hundred and forty-six, were in the
occupation of land, lawfully acquired, within the limits which were the subject
of the award of His Majesty the Emperor of Germany, together with a description
of the land actually occupied by each at said date; and said commissioner shall
proceed to the vicinity of the land in question, and there receive proof of the
occupancy of such land and of the mode by which such occupancy was acquired,
after first giving reasonable notice as to the said matters to be s0 reported by
him. Such proof shall consist of oral testimony, under oath and such documen-
tary proofs as the said occupants may present. The testimony of all witnesses
shall be reduced to writing and all documentary proof offered by the parties
and received by the commissioner shall be attached to the deposition of the
party offering such proofs, which testimony and proofs shall be submitted by
said commissioner with his report, and such report shall be subject to review

125186°—37——9
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.by the Secretary of the Interior, whose action thereon shall be final. For the

purposes of this act, the said commissioner shall have authority to subpcena
witnesses and to administer oaths and take testimony.

Sec. 3. That all British subjects whose claims shall be approved by the Secre-
tary, as provided in section one of this act, shall be allowed to purchase from
the United States the land so designated at sny time within one year from such
approval, at the ordinary minimum price per acre where the lands are situated
outside railroad limits, and at double minimum price where the lands are within
railroad limits.

The statute cited had been recommended by the Secretary of the
Interior (Columbus Delano) following representations made by the
British Minister, Sir Edward Thornton (see the annual report of
the former dated October 31, 1873, in House_Executive Document
No. 1, pt. 5, 43d Congress, 1st session, serial 1601, pp. xiii-xiv; see
also the notes of December 4, 1873, in D.S., 16 Notes to the British
.Legation, 271-72, and 96 Notes from the British Legation). :

On September 23 (or 24), 1874, Hazard Stevens was appointed
Commissioner under the statute; his mission was duly performed,
but no claims were presented; the following is from the annual report
of the Secretary of the Interior (Zachariash Chandler) of October 31,
1875 (House IExecutive Document No. 1, pt. 5, 44th Congress,
1st session, serial 1680, p. iv; see also the annual report dated October
31, 1874, in House Executive Document No. 1, pt. 5, 43d Congress,
2d session, serial 1639, p. xvii):

The commissioner appointed by you, under the act of 20th June, 1874, to
-make and report to this Department a list of all British subjects who, on the
15th of June, 1846, were in the occupation of land, lawfully acquired, within the
limits of the award of His Majesty the Emperor of Germany, together with a
description of the land actually occupied by each person at said date, satisfac-
torily performed his duties. He reported that, after due notice given by publi-
cation for a period of more than thirty days, in & .newspaper having extensive
circulation on the islands in question, and by posting conspicuously the notice
in all the posi-offices in the archipelago, he proceeded in person to Victoria,
British Columbia, where he was informed by the chief factor of the Hudson Bay
Company that said company would present no claim under said act. He then
proceeded to San Juan and Lopez, but no British subject presented any claim
under the act. You accordingly; on the 3d of August last, issued a proclamation
terminating the withdrawal made by your previous proclamation of 4th February,
1873, which was issued in order to protect the rights of British subjects under
the treaty of 15th June, 1846. Said termination took effect on the 30th ultimo,
and the lands are now open to disposal as other public lands, except such as have
been reserved by your orders for military and light-house purposes.

The two proclamations mentioned in the report of the Secretary
of the Interior are so entitled; but in substance and wording, aside
from the titles, they are Executive orders; neither is under seal and
each is countersigned by the Commissioner of the General Land
‘Office. The originals have not been found; printed copies are in the
files of the Department of the Interior and the texts which follow are
from photostats thereof in the archives of the Department of State:
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No. 777.
By the President of the United States.
PROCLAMATION.

. Whereas, by the award of the Emperor of Germany, under date of October 21,
1872, certain territory heretofore held by tjo‘int occupation of Great Britain:
and the United States, including the island of San Juan and other islands, in the
district of lands subject to sale at Olympia, Washington Territory, is decided to
belong to the jurisdiction of the United States; and

Whereas, it appears that there are- many subjects of Great Britain now in
occupancy of portions of the said territory, whose rights and possessory titles are
claimed to be protected by the provisions of the Treaty with Great Britain, made
at Washington June 15, 1846, and by certain arrangements for the joint occupa-
tion of said territory existing betwéen the Government of the United States and
the Government of Her Britannic Majesty;

Now, therefore, it is hereby ordered that all tracts or parcels of land included
in the said award be withheld from sale or disposal of any nature, under pre-
emption, homestead, or other laws of the United States, until after the claims
of the occupants above mentioned shall have been adjusted and publi¢ notice
thereof given. .

Given under my hand, at the City of Washington, this fourth day of February,

A.D. 1873. .
U. 8. GranT,
President of the United States. .
By the President:
WiLris DruMMOND,
-Commassioner of the General Land Office.

(No. 808.)

By the President of the United States.
PROCLAMATION.

Whereas, by proclamation of the President of the United States of the 4th day
of February, 1873, it was ordered that all tracts or parcels of land included in the
award of the Emperor of Germany under date of October 21, 1872, deciding cer-
tain territory formerly held by joint occupation of Great Britain and the United
States, including the island of San Juan and other islands in the district
of lands subject to sale at Olympia, Washington Territory, to belong to the
jurisdiction of the United States, should be withheld from sale or disposal of any
nature under preemption, homestead, or other laws of the United States, until
after the claims of parties whose rights and possessory titles in said territory
were claimed to be protected by the provisions of the Treaty with Great Britain
made at Washington June 15, 1846, and by certain arrangements for the joing
occupation of said territory existing between the Government of the United
States and the Government of Her Britannic Majesty, should have been ad-
justed and public notice thereof given; and, whereas, pursuant to the Act of Con-
gress of June 20, 1874, a Commissioner was duly appointed and proceeded to the
vicinity of the lands in question, gave reasonable notice of his readiness to receive
Eroof in support of such claims, and none were presented; Now, therefore, it is

ereby ordered that from and after the 30th day of October, 1875, the withdrawal
of all tracts or parcels of lands from sale or disposal under the proclamation
. aforesaid shall cease and determine, and said lands thereafter be open to disposal
as other public lands of the United States. . . :

Given under my hand, at the City of Washington, this Third day of August,

A.D. 1875.
U. S. GranT,
President of the United States.
By the. President: :
S. S. BURDETT, )
Commissioner of the General Land Office.
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Tue Bounpary as Now DEMARCATED

The boundary between the United States and Canada from the
. summit of the Rocky Mountains to the Pacific Ocean is to be consid-
ered in two portions, the land boundary and the water boundary.

The land boundary, running eastward from Georgia Strait (Point
Roberts) to the summit of the Rocky Mountains, was first demarcated
between 1857 and 1862; on the part of the United States specific
provision for that demarcation was made by the act of August 11,
1856 (11 Statutes at Large, 42). By that original demarcation the
boundary was, as now, located by a series of straight lines running
‘between monuments, and not following the curve of the parallel.
For an account of that first demarcation, sce Baker, Survey of the
Northwestern Boundary of the United States, 1857-1861; also Klotz,
“The History of the Forty-ninth Parallel Survey West of the Rocky
Mountains” (in Geographical Review, ITI, 382-87). The forthcom-
ing report of the International Boundary Commission on the boundary

. from the Gulf of Georgia to the northwesternmost point of the Lake
of the Woods will include a history of the first demarcation of this
portion of the boundary.

A protocol approving and adopting the seven maps of the original
demarcation, certified and authenticated by the Commissioners of
the two Governments, was signed at Washington on February 24,
1870.

The existing land boundary is shown by the present maps of the
International r?Boundary Comunission entitled “International Bound-
ary from the Gulf of Georgia to the Northwesternmost Point, of the
Lake of the Woods”. The series comprises fifty-nine maps (sheets
1 to 59, inclusive) on a scale of 1:62,500, and there are also an index
sheet and a profile sheet. The line eastward from Point Roberts to
the summit of the Rocky Mountains is shown on sheets 1 to 19, in-
clusive; the summit of the Rocky Mountains appears on sheet 19.
The charts are signed by the Commissioners of the United States and
of His Britannic Majesty pursuant to Articles 6 and 7 of the treaty
signed at Washington April 11, 1908. Sheets 1 to 19 were published
in 1913. :

The originals of those maps are on file in the Office of the United
States Section of the International Boundary Commission; copies are
obtainable from that office; the original maps will be submitted to
the two Governments when the final report of the Commission on
tliat portion of the boundary is presented.

The water boundary, ‘westward from Point Roberts along the 49th
parallel and continuing thence through Georgia Strait and through
the Straits of Haro and Juan'de Fuca to the Pacific Ocean, a distance
of 150 miles, was thé subject of an extended diplomatic controversy,

~the history of which is treated in Moore, International Arbitrations, 1,
196-236, with numerous citations (see the map facing this page; also
Paulhin, op. cif., plate 96 C and pp. 71-72). - .

Prolonged, discyssions led to no agreement between the two Govern-

ments prior to the convention for the-submission of the dispute to
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the arbitration of the President of the Swiss Confederation, which
was signed at London on January 14, 1869, by Reverdy Johnson and
Lord Ciarendon as the respective Plenipotentiaries of the United
States and Great Britain (Foreign Relations, 1868, pt. 1, 404-5); but
that convention failed to go into force, as it was ‘‘not favorably
regarded by the Senate’” (Moore, op. cif., 224). ]

y the provisions of Articles 34-42 of the Treaty of Washington
of May 8, 1871, the question as to whether the line should be drawn
southerly through Rosario Strait, which was the contention of the
British Government, or through Haro Strait (Canal de Haro), as
claimed by the United States, was submitted to the German Emperor
for decision (see Washington Papers, V, passim). The decision of the
German Emperor that the line should be drawn through Haro
Strait was rendered on October 21, 1872; and a protocol describing
the line, accompanied by signed charts on which the same was drawn,
was signed at Washington on March 10, 1873 (see Moore, op. ¢it.,
9226-35).

The line of the water boundary was reestablished pursuant to the
treaty with Great Britain signed at Washington April 11, 1908; the
elaborate report of the International Boundary Commission was
published in Washington in 1921 (Joint Report upon the Survey
and Demarcation of the Boundary between the United States and
Canada from the Western Terminus of the Land Boundary along the
Forty-ninth Parallel, on the West Side of Point Roberts, through
Georgia, Haro, and Juan de Fuca Straits, to the Pacific Ocean); with
that report is a copy of the Joint Chart of the International Boundary
between United States and Canada from the Forty-ninth Parallel
to the Pacific Ocean; the chart is on a scale of 1:200,000; the original
report and two identic original charts, signed by the Commissioners of
‘the United States and of His Britannic Majesty, are in the archives
of the Department of State; the detailed description of the bound
is at pages 37—41 of the report, which includes historical and geographi-
cal appendices; from its introduction (p. 7) the following general
statement of the line is excerpted:

the line as now reestablished consists of twelve straight line courses, the ends of
which are fixed by reference marks on the shore. It has a total length of 150
statute (130% nautical) miles. Beginning at the western terminus of the land
boundary along the forty-ninth parallel on the west side of Point Roberts (a
peninsula extending south from .the mouth of the Fraser River, B.C.), the line
runs westward to the middle of Georgia Strait; thence southeastward through
Georgia Strait to a point off Saturna Island; thence southward between Saturna
and Patos Island, through Haro Strait, to Middle Bank Shoal; thence south-
westward, then northwestward through Juan de Fuca Strait to the terminus at
the Pacific Ocean. - S
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